

# **LEGAL REVIEW Situation of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States**





A project implemented by UNICEF and co-funded by the European Union and UNICEF

Written by: Awaz Raoof, Jastine Barrett, Professor Dame Carolyn Hamilton, Rosalie Lord, Ramyah Harrichandiran and Giulia Manccini Pinheiro

This research was managed and commissioned by United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) Regional Office for East Asia and Pacific (EAPRO), with support from the European Union in the context of the cross-regional programme *Protecting Children in the Context of Migration in Southeast, South and Central Asia 2018-2023* to Coram International at Coram Children's Legal Centre (CCLC). It supplements the UNICEF regional report *Situation of children affected by migration in ASEAN Member States*.

Co-funded by the European Union. This publication was made possible through the financial support of the European Commission. The contents of this background case-study are the sole responsibility of Coram International and can in no way be taken to reflect the views of the European Union and UNICEF. The European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office 19 Phra Athit Road Bangkok 10200 Thailand © UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office April 2023 www.unicef.org/eap/

Suggested Citation: United Nations Children Fund, East Asia and Pacific - Situation Analysis of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States: Legal Review

Cover photo: © UNICEF/UNI45818/Robert Few. A toddler sits on her mother's lap during a check-up at health centre in the Baan Mai Nai Soi refugee camp in Mae Hong Son Province near the Myanmar border.

# Table of contents

Tabl	e of contents2
Acro	nyms3
1	Introduction4
2	Immigration Processes and Decision-Making6
2.1	'Best interests' principle
2.2	Best interests assessments and determinations9
3	Migration Control and Immigration Detention11
3.1	Criminal or administrative liability for migration activities or status11
3.1.1	Immigration offences – general11
3.1.2	Immigration - liability of children18
3.1.3	Trafficking exemptions
3.2	Immigration Detention24
3.3	Alternative Measures to Detention
4	Child protection
4.1	Integration in the child protection system
4.2	Identification and referrals44
4.3	Unaccompanied or separated children affected by migration50
4.4	Non-refoulement and return to country of origin54
4.4 5	Non-refoulement and return to country of origin
5	Asylum
5 6 6.1	Asylum
5 6 6.1 6.1.1	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62
5 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62
5 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Act of trafficking63
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Act of trafficking63B Means of trafficking65
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Act of trafficking63B Means of trafficking65Element of exploitation (purpose)65
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Act of trafficking63B Means of trafficking65Element of exploitation (purpose)65Extraterritorial application68
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Overview62Act of trafficking63Means of trafficking65Element of exploitation (purpose)65Extraterritorial application6864 Attempts and secondary liability69
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Overview62Act of trafficking63Means of trafficking65Element of exploitation (purpose)65Extraterritorial application68Attempts and secondary liability69Penalties for child trafficking69
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7 7 8	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview62Act of trafficking63B Means of trafficking63B Means of trafficking65E Element of exploitation (purpose)65E Extraterritorial application686 Attempts and secondary liability69Nationality and Statelessness73
5 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7 7 8 Anne	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Overview622 Act of trafficking638 Means of trafficking639 Means of trafficking656 Element of exploitation (purpose)656 Extraterritorial application686 Attempts and secondary liability697 Penalties for child trafficking738 Irth registration82
5 6 6.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7 7 8 Anno Anno	Asylum59Child trafficking62Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking62Qoerview62Qoerview62Reans of trafficking63B Means of trafficking65B Element of exploitation (purpose)65B Extraterritorial application68B Attempts and secondary liability69V Penalties for child trafficking63B The registration82ex 1: Conceptual Framework87

# Acronyms

ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
CRC Committee	Committee on the Rights of the Child
CMW Committee	Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families
DCY	Department of Children and Youth, Thailand
ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross
К	Myanmar currency, Kyat
Lao PDR	Lao People's Democratic Republic
MOU	Bilateral agreements and memoranda of understanding
Ρ	Currency of the Philippines, Pesos
Rp	Indonesian currency, Rupiah
ТНВ	Thai currency, Baht
UNHCR	Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNICEF EAPRO	UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office
VND	Vietnamese currency, Dong

## 1 Introduction

This report contains the findings of a comparative legal review undertaken as part of the consultancy with UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office (EAPRO) on the situation of children affected by migration in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) region. This legal review was undertaken as part of, and is annexed to, a report on the situational analysis of children affected by migration in the ASEAN region. The findings, conclusions and recommendations of this legal review were used to inform that report.

The legal review consists of a comparative review and analysis of bilateral agreements and memoranda of understanding (MOUs) related to the protection of children affected by migration between two or more of the 10 ASEAN Member States and a review of national laws related to the protection of children affected by migration in each of the ASEAN Member States (Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Viet Nam), against international child protection standards. The conceptual framework and questions developed for the legal review are enclosed in Annex 1: Conceptual Framework.

Three MOUs have been reviewed for the purposes of the report:

- a Memorandum of Understanding between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic on Cooperation to Combat Trafficking in Persons signed on 12 July 2017 ('Lao PDR-Thailand Trafficking MOU');
- a Memorandum of Understanding between the Royal Thai Government and the Government of Lao PDR on Employment Cooperation signed on 18 October 2002 ('Lao PDR-Thailand Employment Cooperation MOU'); and
- a Memorandum of Understanding between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar on Strengthening the Cooperation to Protect Children Affected by Migration, a draft of which was agreed by the respective governments during high level discussions on 20 February 2020 but has not yet been adopted by the States as at the time of writing ('final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU').

The legal review covers legislation provided by or confirmed to be in force by UNICEF country offices in eight of the ten ASEAN Member States: Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam) up to 31 December 2022. In addition, unofficial translations of laws have, in some instances, been relied upon and the research and analysis completed by researchers not registered to practice in the jurisdictions to which the laws relate. While the authors have endeavoured to verify the contemporaneity and accuracy of the laws when developing and finalizing this report, it is possible that the laws have undergone amendments which are not reflected in this report. As UNICEF does not have country offices in Brunei Darussalam or Singapore, the authors relied on legislation published via the respective Government's official websites<sup>1</sup> and were unable to verify the analysis of those laws with local experts. A full list of the legislation reviewed for this legal review is enclosed in Annex 2: Documents Reviewed. This report does not contain legal advice and should not be relied upon as such.

This legal review covers primary legislation only, except where secondary legislation, policy documents and case law were expressly noted by UNICEF country offices and where such legislation/policy/case law was considered by the relevant UNICEF country office to be especially pertinent to the research questions. As such, it is possible that amendments or additions have been made to the primary legislation through secondary legislation that have not been captured in this review. With regard to Malaysia, the legal review covers federal laws only. Further, references to gaps in the legislative framework as compared to international standards are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Attorney General's Chambers, Prime Minister's Office, Brunei Darussalam, <<u>www.agc.gov.bn/AGC%20Site%20Pages/Laws%20of%20Brunei.aspx</u>>, accessed 7 November 2022; Singapore Statutes Online,<<u>www.sso.agc.gov.sg/Index></u>, accessed 7 November 2022.

based solely on the review of the legislation listed in Annex 2: Documents Reviewed. Additionally, this report provides the status of laws as at the date of the review and does not consider transitional provisions.

References to a law include any subsequent amendments to that law as set out in Annex 2: Documents Reviewed. For example, where references are made to Thailand's 'Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act', this includes the original 2008 Act and amendments made to the Act in 2015, 2017 and 2019.

The report uses a colour coding system to indicate the degree of concordance between international standards and the national laws that have been reviewed in each State. The categories of the coding system are as follows:

- Green denotes legal frameworks that are largely compliant with international standards and which require little or no law reform.
- Yellow denotes legal frameworks that are partially compliant with international standards and the need to review, replace or supplement laws.
- **Red** denotes legal frameworks that are not compliant with international standards and which require significant reform or development of new laws in order to comply with international standards.

## 2 Immigration Processes and Decision-Making

	Best interests to be primary consideration in immigration processes <sup>2</sup>	Requirement for best interests assessments and determinations
Brunei		
Darussalam		
Cambodia		
Indonesia		
Lao PDR		
Malaysia		
Myanmar		
Philippines		
Singapore		
Thailand		
Viet Nam		

### 2.1 'Best interests' principle

# Does the law require the best interests of the child to be a primary consideration in immigration processes and decision-making?

Article 3(1) of the Convention on the Rights of the Child requires the best interests of the child to be a primary consideration in all actions concerning children. Paragraph 1 of the ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration confirms the application of this principle in migration-related policies and practices. In the context of migration, the best interests of the child must be taken fully into consideration in immigration law, planning, implementation and assessment of migration policies and decision-making on individual cases, including in granting or refusing applications on entry to or residence in a country and in migration enforcement.<sup>3</sup>

In the preamble of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** on children affected by migration (which has yet to be adopted), the parties acknowledge that the best interests of the child shall be 'a primary consideration' in all policies and practices designed to protect children affected by migration. The best interests of the child must also guide the development of standard operating procedures on the management of cases and repatriation of children affected by migration (under Article 17) and be part of a formal process in the application of procedures relating to unaccompanied or separated children (see Part Error! Reference source not found. below).

Other than for the Philippines,<sup>4</sup> there are no specific provisions in the immigration laws of any of the ASEAN Member States requiring the best interests of the child to be a primary consideration in immigration processes and decision-making. The best interests principle is, however, contained in the child protection laws of **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Myanmar**, **Singapore**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam**. In **Brunei Darussalam**, Article

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A State has been marked 'green' where there is an overarching obligation to take the best interests of the child into consideration when dealing with children and 'yellow' where there is reference to the best interests principle in specific circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Joint general comment No. 3 (2017) of the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families and No. 22 (2017) of the Committee on the Rights of the Child on the general principles regarding the human rights of children in the context of international migration (CRC GC No. 22 (2017)), CMW/C/GC/3-CRC/C/GC/22, 16 November 2017, para 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular 024 on Strengthening the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination 2022.

2(4) of the Children and Young Persons Act requires the best interests of the child (defined under the Act as persons aged 0-13) or young person (defined under the Act as persons aged 14-17) to be 'the paramount consideration' in any question regarding the welfare of the child or young person in the interpretation and application of the Act, which broadly concerns child protection procedures and the child justice process. However, the best interests provision does not apply to matters which fall outside of the Act,<sup>5</sup> which includes migration processes. Article 2 of **Indonesia**'s Law on Child Protection provides that child protection (defined under the Law as all acts designed to guarantee and protect children and their rights) shall be based on the guiding principles contained in the CRC including the best interests of the child (as well respect for the opinions of the child, non-discrimination and the right to life and development). Article 4 of **Lao PDR's** Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children provides that the best interests of the child shall be 'the deciding factor in making decisions' about the child (including in the conduct of criminal proceedings against the child).

In **Myanmar**, the law enshrines the 'right to enjoy the best interests of the child.'<sup>6</sup> Further, one of the objectives of Myanmar's Child Rights Law 2019 includes the implementation of the rights contained in the CRC,<sup>7</sup> which includes the 'best interests' principle. Several of the law's provisions also refer to the promotion of the child's best interests.<sup>8</sup> Although these provisions do not explicitly refer to the best interests of the child being a 'primary consideration', the 'best interests of the child' is defined in the law to include 'actions prioritized towards the best interests of the child in managing the child's affairs or adjudicating juvenile justice',<sup>9</sup> indicating that the child's best interests are given some priority. Only Article 60 explicitly refers to the best interest of a child being a 'paramount' consideration, but is limited to the treatment of children who are displaced or affected by or associated with armed conflict. Further, the 'best interests of the child' is limited to the enjoyment of child rights contained in the Constitution of Myanmar, many of which are limited to Myanmar nationals, and Child Rights Law, curtailing its scope.

Article I, Section II of the **Philippines**' Special Protection of Children Against Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination Act provides that the best interests of children shall be the paramount consideration in all actions concerning them, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities, and legislative bodies. Despite this, the Immigration Law of 1940 provides that unaccompanied children who are under fifteen years of age, and who do not claim asylum and are not refugees, are to be considered as aliens who are to be excluded from entry into the Philippines, unless they are coming to join parents.<sup>10</sup> While there is no express requirement to consider the best interests of these children in the Immigration Act 1940, the Commissioner of Immigration has discretion to admit the child.<sup>11</sup> However, Rule 9 of Department of Justice Circular 024 issued in 2022 on Strengthening the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination, and for other purposes, provides that the best interests of the child shall the primary consideration in all actions concerning children, including those who are unaccompanied and separated.

Section 4 of **Singapore's** Children and Young Person's Act 1993 requires that the best interests and welfare of the child (defined in the Act as persons under 14 years of age) or young person (defined as persons from 14 to 18 years of age) are 'the first and paramount consideration [...] in all matters relating to the administration or application of [the] Act.'<sup>12</sup> The best interests principle is referenced 14 more times in the Act in the context

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 2(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 19(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 4(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For example, Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Sections 4 and 19(b) and in the context of alternative care in Chapter IX.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Child Rights Law 2019, Section 3(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Philippines, Immigration Law of 1940, Section 29(12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Philippines, Immigration Law of 1940, Section 29(12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 4(b).

of decision-making in care proceedings<sup>13</sup> and justice proceedings,<sup>14</sup> though this would not apply to migration processes and decision-making outside these contexts. Article 22 of **Thailand's** Child Protection Act 2003 requires that, in any treatment of the child, the best interests of the child shall be given 'primary importance.' Article 5 of **Viet Nam's** Child Law 2016 sets out the general principles underlying the approach to children's rights which include the obligation to ensure children's best interests when making decisions concerning children.

Whilst **Malaysia's** Child Act 2001 does not contain any overarching best interests provisions, it nevertheless references the best interests of the child in a number of provisions including, for example, the requirement of a court to treat the best interests of the child as the 'paramount consideration' when considering an order relating to a child in need of care and protection or protection and rehabilitation.<sup>15</sup>

A number of child justice laws also contain the obligation to act in the best interests of the child, which could be relevant where children are prosecuted for immigration crimes (as defined under the State's respective laws). Cambodia's Law on Juvenile Justice outlines that the objectives of the Law are to safeguard the rights and best interests of minors and stipulates that the best interests of the minor must be taken into consideration 'primarily' in any actions taken against a minor.<sup>16</sup> Article 18 of Indonesia's Law on Juvenile Justice System provides that, in juvenile cases, the relevant law enforcement and judicial authorities shall have regard to the best interests of the child and 'strive to ensure a familial atmosphere.' Article 5 of Lao PDR's Law on Juvenile Criminal Procedures refers to the protection of the rights and best interests of children when dealing with juvenile cases, confirming that such cases will be resolved in compliance with international law. As noted further above, in addition to general provisions concerning the best interests of the child, Myanmar's Child Rights Law defines 'best interests of the child' to include 'actions prioritised towards the best interests of the child in managing the child's affairs or adjudicating of juvenile justice'.<sup>17</sup> The law also mentions the child's best interests in other provisions relating to aspects of child justice, such as diversion.<sup>18</sup> Section 2(b) of the Philippines' Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act<sup>19</sup> prescribes policies that the State shall observe at all times, including protecting the best interests of the child through measures that will ensure the observance of international standards of child protection, especially those to which the Philippines is a party.<sup>20</sup>

Whilst not primary legislation, and only relevant to asylum-seekers, Article 13 of **Cambodia**'s Sub-decree on Refugee Status 2009 provides that, 'where necessary' the Ministry of Social Affairs, Veterans and Youth Rehabilitation will provide a representative or legal guardian to asylum-seekers who are minors and that this representative will work on behalf of and 'for the best interest' of the applicant. However, there is no express reference to the best interests of the child being a primary consideration.

In **Thailand**, a Memorandum of Understanding on The Determination of Measures and Approaches Alternative to Detention of Children in Immigration Detention Centres of 2019 ('MOU on Alternatives to Detention') confirms that decisions and actions affecting a child shall always take into account the child's best interests and views.<sup>21</sup> The standard operating procedures under this MOU confirm that the child's best interests shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Sections 11(4)(a), 15(3)(c), 54(2), 54(13), 54(17), 55(4)(d), 56(9)-(10), 58(1)(d), 58(2)(b), 59(5)(b), 59(15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 47(9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Sections 30 and 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Cambodia, Law on Juvenile Justice 2016, Articles 1 and 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 3(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 3(n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This Act cover the different stages involving children at risk and children in conflict with the law from prevention to rehabilitation and reintegration (Section 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The Philippines, Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act 2006, Section 2(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Thailand, Memorandum of Understanding on The Determination of Measures and Approaches Alternative to Detention of Children in Immigration Detention Centres of 2019, para 4.2.

be a primary consideration and that 'the child's opinion shall be heard and be considered for any decisionmaking process that [a]ffects the child.'<sup>22</sup>

Guidelines and action plans relating to human trafficking in Cambodia, Lao PDR, Malaysia and the Philippines also reference the best interests principle. In Cambodia, the Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking requires that the best interests of the child must be 'the prime concern' in suspected trafficking cases.<sup>23</sup> Although this Agreement precedes the Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation, which takes precedence in the event of an inconsistency between its provisions and the guidelines,<sup>24</sup> there are no equivalent provisions in the Law which may be interpreted as overriding the best interests requirement in the guidelines. In Lao PDR, the best interests of the victim must be prioritised in decisions relating to the protection, assistance and referral of victims, with the consent and participation of the victim in the process.<sup>25</sup> As one of its activities for strengthening the Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, Malaysia's National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2021-2025 provides for a review of the Act and the standard operating procedures of enforcement agencies and protection agencies in order that the best interests of the child are given primary consideration when responding to child victims of trafficking.<sup>26</sup> The **Philippines**' Rules and Regulations Implementing the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003 also address best interests, with, Section 3(viii) providing that in all actions concerning children, their best interests of the child shall be the paramount consideration.

### 2.2 Best interests assessments and determinations

Does the law require a 'best interests assessment' and 'best interests determination' to be undertaken as part of, or to inform, decisions affecting migrant children?

In order to implement the best interests principle in migration-related procedures or decisions that could affect children, best interests assessments and determination procedures should be undertaken systematically as part of, or to inform, migration-related and other decisions that affect migrant children.<sup>27</sup>

Under Article 12 of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** (which has yet to be adopted), the parties agree to conduct a best interests determination when implementing procedures concerning the identification, referral, care and family reunification of unaccompanied or separated children, 'taking into account the right to family life and family unity.'

With the exception of **Thailand**, there were no express provisions found in the laws of any of the ASEAN Member States requiring a best interests assessment or best interests determination to be undertaken as part of the decision-making process with regard to migrant children. **Thailand's** Child Protection Act requires a best interests determination to be conducted in any treatment of the child (and would thus include migrant children and children affected by migration more broadly) and cross refers to the application of guidelines. The Guidelines in Ministerial Regulations relating to the Child Protection Act provide an extensive list of factors that must be considered when determining whether an act is in the bests of the child. These include protecting the child against violence, harm and exploitation and also providing the opportunity for the child to participate in decisions that affect the child.<sup>28</sup> Rule 9 of the Philippines' Department Circular 024 on Strengthening the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Thailand, Memorandum of Understanding on The Determination of Measures and Approaches Alternative to Detention of Children in Immigration Detention Centres of 2019, para 4.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Cambodia, The Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008, Article 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Lao PDR, Guidelines on the Protection and Referral of Trafficking Victims, Principle 3, Part II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Malaysia, National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2021-2025, p. 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CRC GC No. 22 (2017), para 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Ministerial Regulation to set up guidelines for determining if an act is in the best interests of the child or unfairly discriminatory to the child 2006.

Situation Analysis of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States: Legal Review

Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination, and for other purposes, which provides that the best interests of the child shall the primary consideration in all actions concerning children, including those who are unaccompanied and separated, goes some way to meeting this requirement by implying the requirement to undertake a best interests assessment and determination during migration processes.

#### **Recommendations:**

It is recommended that:

- Provisions are introduced into immigration laws which expressly provide that the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration in immigration processes and decision-making [all ASEAN Member States apart from the Philippines];
- An overarching provision is introduced in child protection laws requiring the best interests of the child to be a primary consideration in <u>all</u> actions concerning children [Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Malaysia, Myanmar and Singapore].
- Consideration is given to including provision for best interests assessments and determinations (in line with international standards and best practice) in immigration laws and ensuring that such assessments and determinations are integrated into all stages of the immigration process [all ASEAN Member States except Thailand].

# 3 Migration Control and Immigration Detention

	No criminalisation or administrative liability of children for irregular entry/stay or migration status	Prohibition on liability for trafficking victims	Prohibition on child immigration detention	Provision alternatives immigration detention	for to
Brunei					
Darussalam					
Cambodia					
Indonesia					
Lao PDR					
Malaysia					
Myanmar					
Philippines					
Singapore					
Thailand					
Viet Nam					

### 3.1 Criminal or administrative liability for migration activities or status

To what extent does the law subject children to criminal or administrative liability for migration-related activities or due to the child or their parent's migration status (or lack thereof)?

International standards prohibit the criminalisation of a child or the imposition of punitive measures based on the child or parent's migration status.<sup>29</sup> Both the Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC Committee) and the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (CMW Committee) have emphasised that children should not be criminalised or subjected to punitive measures, such as detention, because of their parents' immigration status and that irregular entry and stay do not constitute crimes per se against persons, property or national security.<sup>30</sup> Both Committees note that criminalizing irregular entry and stay exceeds the legitimate interest of States parties to control and regulate migration and leads to arbitrary detention.<sup>31</sup> In relation to trafficking specifically, the ASEAN Convention against Trafficking in Persons stipulates that a State party shall, 'subject to its domestic laws, rules, regulations and policies, and in appropriate cases, consider not holding victims of trafficking in persons criminally or administratively liable, for unlawful acts committed by them, if such acts are directly related to the acts of trafficking'.<sup>32</sup>

#### 3.1.1 Immigration offences – general

In terms of bilateral agreements between the ASEAN Member States, the **Lao PDR-Thailand Employment Cooperation MOU** provides that both Lao PDR and Thailand will take action to realise the effective deportation and return of migrant workers who are remaining in the State illegally after the expiry of their work permit.<sup>33</sup> The parties also agree to prevent and intervene in illegal border crossing, illegal employment services and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Joint general comment No. 4 (2017) of the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families and No. 23 (2017) of the Committee on the Rights of the Child on State obligations regarding the human rights of children in the context of international migration in countries of origin, transit, destination and return (CRC GC No. 23 (2017)), CMW/C/GC/4-CRC/C/GC/23, 16 November 2017, para 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> ASEAN Convention against Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children 2015, Article 14(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Lao PDR-Thailand Employment Cooperation MOU 2002, Article 1.2.

illegal employment of migrant workers, as well as share information with regard to, among other things, undocumented entry, unlawful employment and unlawful labour practices.<sup>34</sup>

In terms of the national legal framework, all ASEAN Member States except Lao PDR criminalise entry without valid travel documentation (passport and visa where required). A summary of the legislative provisions is provided in Table 1.

#### Table 1: Criminalisation of Irregular Entry

Brunei Darussalam: Sections 5, 6, 8, 9(4), 26, 32, 36, 46(4) and 55(3A), 56, 58 and 58A, Immigration Act 2014

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: fine and duration of imprisonment varies depending on the type and circumstances of irregular entry. For entry without possession of a valid entry permit, pass or residence permit, imprisonment between 3 months and 2 years and, for certain males,<sup>35</sup> whipping with not less than 3 strokes cumulatively or, for persons not punishable with whipping, a fine not exceeding BND 6000; and deportation

Cambodia: Articles 29 and 35, Immigration Law 1994

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Imprisonment for three to six months and deportation

Indonesia: Articles 75, 113 and 119, Law on Immigration 2011

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Fine of up to Rp 100 million or Rp 500 million and/or imprisonment for up to one year or five years (depending on crime); deportation

Lao PDR: Articles 56, 70 and 72-74, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2015

Is irregular entry a crime: No, they are administrative offences (the criminal law does not contain any crimes relating to illegal entry or stay)

Punishment: Education measures; fine; deportation

Malaysia: Sections 5, 6, 32 and 57, Immigration Act 1959/63; Sections 2 and 5(1), Passports Act 1966

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Imprisonment for up to five years and/or fine of up to RM 10,000 plus 'whipping of not more than six strokes'; deportation

**Myanmar:** Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Articles 3 and 7; Law Amending the Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Article 2

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Imprisonment of six months to five years or fine of a minimum of K. 1500, or both; and deportation.

Philippines: Section 45, Immigration Act 1940

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Imprisonment for up to two years, a fine and deportation.

Singapore: Sections 5A, 6, 9, 11, 24, 25, 25A, 26, 57 Immigration Act 1959

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: fines ranging from \$1,000 to \$10,000; imprisonment for up to five years; caning (except for women, men over 50 years of age and men subject to a non-commuted death sentence); and deportation.

Thailand: Sections 22, 54 and 62, Immigration Act 1979

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes

Punishment: Imprisonment for up to two years and fine up to THB 20,000; deportation

**Viet Nam:** Articles 37 and 347, Criminal Code 2015; Article 20, Law on Foreigner' Entry into, Exit from, Transit through and Residence in Viet Nam 2014; Articles 4(6) and 35, Law on Entry and Exit of Vietnamese Citizens;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Lao PDR-Thailand Employment Cooperation MOU 2002, Articles 1.4 and 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Whipping is prohibited for females, males sentenced to death and males whom the Court considers to be more than 50 years of age; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Section 258.

Article 18, Decree on 'Administrative Penalties for Violations against Regulations on Social Safety, Security, Order; Social Evils, Fire Prevention and Firefighting; Rescue; Domestic Violence Prevention and Control'; Articles 24(1)(b), 39(6)-(7) and 119, Law on Handling Administrative Offences 2012

Is irregular entry a crime: Yes; it is also an administrative offence

Administrative punishment: Warning or a fine from VND 300,000 to 40 million depending on the specifics of the offence; expulsion (where the offence is committed by a 'foreigner'); custody pending expulsion Criminal punishment: Imprisonment of six months to three years or fine of VND 5-50 million; deportation

With the exception of Lao PDR, entry without valid travel documentation (passport and visa where required) is criminalised and which can be punished by imprisonment. Although Lao PDR does not criminalise irregular entry, it nevertheless imposes administrative sanctions such as fines and deportation. In **Viet Nam**, irregular entry is also an administrative offence. The immigration laws in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **the Philippines**, **Singapore**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** contain detailed provisions on immigration offences.

In Brunei Darussalam, the Immigration Act criminalises the following acts, which are punishable with a fine of BND 2000, imprisonment for six months and deportation:<sup>36</sup> failure to enter Brunei Darussalam through an authorised landing place, airport or point of entry is an offence, unless there is reasonable cause or the person is compelled to do so by accident;<sup>37</sup> arrival at a place other than an authorised landing place or airport and failing to appear before the nearest Senior Immigration Officer or failing to leave the country when asked according to the Officer's instructions;<sup>38</sup> entry into the country of persons who are, in the opinion of the Controller of Immigration, non-citizens, fall under any category of 'prohibited immigrants' listed in Section 8(2) of the Immigration Act (which are defined broadly)<sup>39</sup> and who do not have a valid pass;<sup>40</sup> (re-)entry or stay in the country by non-citizens who are subject to an order of the Minister of Home Affairs prohibiting their entry in the interests of public security or 'by reason of any economic, industrial, social, educational or other conditions';<sup>41</sup> and entry or attempted entry without the consent of the Controller of Immigration or entry with consent but not in compliance with the conditions set by the Controller of Immigration, after having been repatriated from Brunei Darussalam at the cost of the government.<sup>42</sup> Non-citizens of Brunei Darussalam entering and remaining in the state without a valid entry permit, residence permit or valid pass (or without having their name endorsed on an entry permit of a family member) are subject to imprisonment for a term between three months and two years; for certain males,<sup>43</sup> whipping with not less than three strokes cumulatively or, for persons not punishable with whipping, a fine not exceeding BND 6000; and removal.<sup>44</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Sections 5, 8, 26, 32, 58 and 58A; note that compounding is possible for offences under Section 5(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 5(1) and (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Includes, among others, persons who are unable to show that they have a means of supporting themselves of their dependants, have definite employment awaiting them or who are likely to become a pauper or charge on the public; prostitutes; vagrants or habitual beggars; persons entering the country illegally; persons who have been repatriated from another country for any reason whatsoever and, for related reasons, is deemed by the Controller of Immigration, to be an 'undesirable immigrant'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 8. This offence may even be applied to persons with an entry permit, subject to appeal, pending which the person may be detained in an immigration depot; Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 8(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 9(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 46(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Whipping is prohibited for females, males sentenced to death and males whom the Court considers to be more than 50 years of age; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Section 258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Sections 6, 12 and 32; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Section 258. See also Section 15 for offences relating to remaining in Brunei Darussalam following the cancellation or expiry of an entry permit or pass.

Situation Analysis of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States: Legal Review

Persons who have been removed from or lawfully sent out of the country or, in respect of non-citizens, removed from or lawfully sent out of the Commonwealth, and enter or reside in Brunei Darussalam without written permission from the Controller of Immigration commit an offence punishable with a fine of BND 6000, imprisonment between one and three years and removal.<sup>45</sup> Stay in Brunei Darussalam following the cancellation of an entry permit or expiry of a pass is punishable by up to two years imprisonment, for certain males,<sup>46</sup> whipping with not less than three strokes cumulatively or, for persons not punishable with whipping, a fine not exceeding BND 6000 (subject to compounding), depending on the duration of unlawful stay, and removal.<sup>47</sup> The Immigration Law further criminalises related acts, such as attempting to,<sup>48</sup> or abetting a person to,<sup>49</sup> enter Brunei Darussalam illegally.<sup>50</sup> The Minister (undefined in the Act but understood to be the Minister of Home Affairs) may by order exempt, absolutely or conditionally, any person or class of persons from all or any of the provisions of the Immigration Act,<sup>51</sup> including those relating to offences of illegal entry or stay. Brunei Darussalam has no legislation specifically relating to asylum seekers or refugees such that they too would fall under these immigration provisions.

In **Indonesia**, anyone entering or exiting Indonesia without undergoing immigration clearance at an immigration checkpoint is guilty of an offence and can be punished by up to one year of imprisonment and/or a fine of one hundred million Indonesian Rupiah.<sup>52</sup> Entering or residing in Indonesia without valid immigration documents is subject to up to five years' imprisonment and a fine of up to five hundred million Indonesian Rupiah.<sup>53</sup> Administrative action, including deportation, can also be taken.<sup>54</sup>

**Lao PDR's** Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management provides for educational measures to be taken against individuals who commit minor breaches of the immigration law (for example 'dirty' travel documents); fines (specified in separate regulations) for more serious crimes, such as entry with invalid travel documents, failure to enter via official border checkpoints, overstaying permitted duration and unauthorised work; civil measures involving compensation of losses by those whose breaches result in the loss of life or damage to the health or property of others (including the government); and criminal sanctions pursuant to the Penal Law.<sup>55</sup> No immigration offences are specified in the Penal Law, however, with the exception of the encouragement of unlawful migration or immigration. The Law on Immigration and Foreign Management also provides for deportation of aliens, foreigners and stateless people in certain circumstances, including following release from penalties, having illegally entered the country or having used invalid travel documents.<sup>56</sup>

Failure to enter or leave **Malaysia** through an authorised landing place, airport or point of entry is an offence.<sup>57</sup> Anyone entering or leaving Malaysia must produce a passport (and valid visa on entry in the case of a non-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Whipping is prohibited for females, males sentenced to death and males whom the Court considers to be more than 50 years of age; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Section 258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Sections 15, 33 and 58A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Punishable by a fine of up to BND 4000, imprisonment for between three months and 2 years (it is not clear whether whipping is also a punishment); Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 55(1)(l)(i).
<sup>49</sup> Punishable by imprisonment for a term of between two and seven years and, for certain males, whipping with not less than three strokes cumulatively or, for persons not punishable with whipping, a fine not exceeding BND 6000; Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 55(1)(l)(ii); Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Section 258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 55(1).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 54.
 <sup>52</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 113.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 115.
 <sup>53</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 119.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 119
 <sup>54</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2015, Articles 70 and 72-74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2015, Article 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Section 5(1).

citizen), with failure to comply by non-citizens being liable to removal from Malaysia.<sup>58</sup> Section 6 of the Immigration Act provides that any non-citizen who enters Malaysia without a valid entry permit (or is otherwise exempt under Section 55)<sup>59</sup> shall be guilty of an offence, punishable with a fine of up to 10,000 Ringgit and/or imprisonment of up to five years and, particularly concerningly, whipping of not more than six strokes. 'Prohibited immigrants' who enter Malaysia are also guilty of an offence. Section 8 of the Immigration Act deals with 'prohibited immigrants' and sets out the categories of non-citizens who fall within this definition. These include: 'any person who is unable to show that he has the means of supporting himself and his dependents (if any)...' (Section 8(3)(a)); 'any person who ... is not in possession of [valid travel] documents or is in possession of forged or altered travel documents ... ' (Section 8(3)(m)); any person whose pass or permit has been cancelled; and 'the family and dependants of a prohibited immigrant' (Section 8(3)(n)). Children who enter Malaysia without a valid pass or whose parents fall within any of these categories are thus considered 'prohibited immigrants.' It is also an offence for a person (and any dependent child) whose pass or permit is cancelled under Article 9 of the Immigration Act to remain in Malaysia. Remaining in Malaysia beyond the expiry date or following cancellation of an entry permit or certificate of status is punishable by a fine of not less than 10,000 Ringgit and/or imprisonment of up to five years. Illegal immigrants convicted of an offence under Section 5, 6, 8 or 9 are liable to be removed from Malaysia under Section 32 of the Immigration Act. The Immigration Act also contains special rules regarding East Malaysia.<sup>60</sup> These include restrictions on Malaysian citizens' right of entry into East Malaysia and the requirement for internal travel documents. Breach of this requirement is an offence. This could have an impact on children affected by internal migration.

Pursuant to the **Myanmar's** Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act, foreigners can only enter Myanmar if they have an immigration permit issued by an authorised body, a valid passport endorsed by or on behalf of the President, or valid passport and visa.<sup>61</sup> Myanmar citizens can only enter with a valid Myanmar passport or certificate issued in lieu of the valid passport by the appropriate body.<sup>62</sup> Foreigners can only enter through prescribed seaports, airports and land stations.<sup>63</sup> Foreigners contravening a provision of the Act may be deported, pending which the individual may be detained in such manner as the President of the Union may direct.<sup>64</sup> A person who enters illegally or overstays their permit, or attempts to do so, are punishable with imprisonment of six months to five years, or with a minimum fine of a of K.1500, or both.<sup>65</sup> Persons assisting or attempting to assist any person to enter Myanmar illegally or knowing that a foreigner is remaining in Myanmar in violation of the Act and wilfully assists or attempts to assist him to remain in Myanmar, are punishable with imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years and/or a fine.<sup>66</sup> Carriers who knowingly bring, or attempt to bring, unauthorised persons into Myanmar are also punishable with imprisonment of between six months to five years, or a fine of a minimum of K. 1500 for every such person brought or attempted to be brought into Myanmar, or both.<sup>67</sup> Further, whoever makes a false statement to be given an immigration permit or tampers with the relevant documents is punishable with a maximum imprisonment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Malaysia, Passports Act 1966, Sections 2 and 5(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Section 55 grants the Minister the power to exempt any person or class of persons from all or any of the provisions of the Act. It would thus be within the power of the Immigration Minister to legalise the status of asylum-seekers/refugees and not to detain, for example, children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Part VII.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 3(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 3(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 6(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Sections 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 13(1); Myanmar, Law Amending the Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 13(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 13(2); Myanmar, Law Amending the Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 2.

term of two years and/or a fine.<sup>68</sup> The law criminalises various other related offences, set out mainly in section 13 of the Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act.

Section 45 of the **Philippines'** Immigration Act sets out the circumstances in which the penal provisions will apply. Aliens who enter into the Philippines without inspection and admission by immigration officials or who obtain entry by wilful, false, or misleading representation, including fraudulently claiming to be a citizen of the Philippines or evading any requirement of the immigration laws, shall be fined and imprisoned for up to two years and deported. There is no exception in the law for children. Aliens who overstay their permission to remain in their visa (tourist or other categories) or who commit a criminal offence or anti-social behaviour within the terms of section 37 of the Immigration Act are also liable to arrest and deportation.<sup>69</sup>

The **Singaporean** immigration legislation stipulates a range of penalties for offences relating to illegal entry, stay and departure. Sections 26 to 26 of the Immigration Act set the punishment for entering Singapore by sea,<sup>70</sup> air,<sup>71</sup> train<sup>72</sup> or land<sup>73</sup> without appearing before an immigration officer and following the procedures set out in those sections, at imprisonment for up to 12 months and/or at a fine of up to SGD\$4,000.<sup>74</sup> Entering or departing Singapore without the prescribed immigration documentation (a passport and visa where required) carries a punishment of six months' imprisonment and/or a fine of up to SGD\$1,000.75 'Entry' is explicitly defined in the interpretation section as including a non-citizen child's birth in Singapore,<sup>76</sup> though Section 6A provides that a 'special pass' will be granted to such a child to authorise him or her to remain legally in the country for 42 days.<sup>77</sup> The child's parent/s are responsible for making an application to renew the special pass<sup>78</sup> and will be committing a criminal offence if the child remains in Singapore upon its expiry.<sup>79</sup> Non-citizens who enter or attempt to enter the country without a lawful entry permit are liable to punishment of at least six months imprisonment and three strokes of caning (or a fine of up to SGD\$6,000 in lieu of caning for women, men over 50 years old and men with a non-commuted death sentence).<sup>80</sup> Non-citizens who depart Singapore without a completed embarkation form are liable to a fine of up to SGD\$2,000 and/or imprisonment for a period not exceeding six months.<sup>81</sup> There is a rebuttable presumption against a person found within the waters of one of Singapore's ports<sup>82</sup> that the person is attempting to enter unlawfully if that person either: fails to produce the requisite entry documents; has 'no visible means of subsistence'; or has 'taken precautions to conceal his or her identity or presence from any police officer or immigration officer.'<sup>83</sup> Remaining in Singapore for more than 24 hours after (i) expiry of a person's citizenship, without applying for a permit to remain<sup>84</sup> or (ii) being notified that a person's application for a permit to remain in Singapore has been rejected are offences punishable by a fine of SGD\$4,000 and/or imprisonment for at least six months.<sup>85</sup> Where a person remains in Singapore for more than 90 days after (i) or (ii) (above), punishment increases to imprisonment for up to six months and 3 strokes of caning (or a SGD\$6,000 fine for those exempt from caning by way of the Criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 13(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> The Philippines, Commonwealth Act No. 613, Immigration Act 1940, Section 37(a),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 25A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Sections 24, 25, 25A and 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 5A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 2 "entry" (ca).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6A(1),(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6A(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6A(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6(3)(a); Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 325(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6(3)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> As defined by Singapore, Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore Act 1996, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 6(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 11A(6)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 11A(6)(a).

Procedure Code).<sup>86</sup> Where an order has been made by the Minister for Immigration to prohibit or limit the entry of a particular person or class of person, and that order is violated by an individual entering or remaining in Singapore, the punishment is two to four years' imprisonment and a fine of up to SGD\$6,000.<sup>87</sup> If, however, the person violating such an order has previously been convicted of an offence that holds a three year minimum term custodial sentence, and the person uses falsified documents to enter Singapore in circumvention of the Minister's order, the punishment increases to two to five years' imprisonment, a fine of up to SGD\$10,000 and caning.<sup>88</sup> Attempts to enter Singapore unlawfully are criminalised under section 57 and punishable with a custodial sentence of up to two years and a SGD\$4,000 fine.<sup>89</sup> Section 8 sets out a list of persons who are classed as 'prohibited immigrants' and are as such precluded from entering Singapore, including people infected with HIV<sup>90</sup> or other contagious diseases<sup>91</sup>; prostitutes or those who have ever lived on the proceeds of prostitution<sup>92</sup>; and 'vagrants and habitual beggars.'<sup>93</sup> Section 56 grants the Minister the power to make an order to exempt any person or class of person from any of the provisions of the Act,<sup>94</sup> which could theoretically be used to protect children affected by migration. Finally, any person found to be a 'prohibited immigrant' is liable to removal from Singapore subject to the provisions set out in Sections 31 to 36 of the Immigration Act (see section 3.2 for more detail).

Judicial corporal punishment, especially when inflicted on children, is incompatible with international human rights standards<sup>95</sup> and has been abolished for this reason in most countries. **Singapore** has been criticised for the continued use of caning as a criminal sanction, particularly during Universal Periodic Review (UPR) cycles. During the first UPR cycle, several governments, including the United Kingdom, Czech Republic, France and Djibouti submitted recommendations to the Singaporean government to abolish corporal punishment, particularly for immigration offences.<sup>96</sup> Calls to outlaw corporal punishment, including caning, were echoed in the most recent UPR cycle in 2021.<sup>97</sup>

The **Thai** Immigration Act 1979 requires persons entering or leaving Thailand to pass through immigration check points or other specified areas.<sup>98</sup> Failure to do so is punishable by imprisonment of up to two years and a fine not exceeding 20,000 Baht.<sup>99</sup> Section 12(1) of the Act prohibits entry into Thailand for any alien (defined as someone without Thai nationality) who does not have valid travel documentation (including a passport and/or visa (unless exempt)).<sup>100</sup> Such persons, or those who enter in accordance with the Act but stay beyond the permitted time, or whose permission is revoked, are subject to imprisonment of up to two years and/or a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 325(1) (exempt persons are women, men over 50 years old and men who have received a death sentence that has not been commuted); Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 11A(6)(b).
<sup>87</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 9(1)-(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 9(6). It is noted that certain persons are exempt from caning (women, men over 50 years old and men who have received a death sentence that has not been commuted); children are not exempt. Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 325(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 8(3)(ba).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 8(3)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 8(3)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 8(3)(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Particularly the prohibition of torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading punishment enshrined in the UN International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) Article 7, ICCPR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review: Singapore, A/HRC/18/11, 11 July 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> United Nations General Assembly, Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review: Singapore, A/HRC/48/16, 22 July 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Section 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Section 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Section 12 lists a number of other circumstances that preclude entry into Thailand, such as having insufficient means to support a living.

fine not exceeding 20,000 Baht<sup>101</sup> and deportation.<sup>102</sup> Any alien who cannot show evidence of lawful entry under Section 12(1) or does not have a residence certificate or identity certificate under the law on alien registration is presumed to have entered Thailand illegally and is subject to arrest and detention.<sup>103</sup>

In **Viet Nam**, the law provides for a series of administrative offences relating to entry, exit, transit, residence and travel which are punishable with a warning and/or fine from VND 300,000 to 40 million, depending on the specifics of the offence.<sup>104</sup> 'Foreigners' may be deported.<sup>105</sup> Pending deportation, the individual may be held in custody.<sup>106</sup> Article 347 of the Penal Code also criminalises illegal entry to, exit from or stay in Viet Nam. The crime is punishable with a fine from 5 million to 50 million VND or six months to three years' imprisonment and expulsion.<sup>107</sup> The law contains provisions on when and how the authorities must handle the matter as an administrative or criminal matter.<sup>108</sup>

**Cambodia, Indonesia** and the **Philippines** exclude asylum-seekers and refugees from prosecution for immigration offences. **Indonesia**'s Presidential Regulation 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees recognises the role of UNHCR in processing refugee status determinations. Foreigners (including children) who claim refugee status on arrival into Indonesia will thus be processed pursuant to the Presidential Regulation rather than being charged with immigration offences. Department Circular 024 issued in 2022 in the **Philippines** stipulates as a basic principle that the refugee and stateless status determination procedures shall be governed by the principle of non-detention and the preservation of family unity. An applicant for refugee status shall not be penalised on account of illegal entry or presence in the country, provided they present themselves to the authorities and/or show good cause of their illegal entry and presence.<sup>109</sup> Whilst **Cambodia**'s Immigration Law does not explicitly refer to asylum-seekers/refugees, it provides that criminal sanctions and deportation will be imposed for unlawful entry except where Cambodia must comply with international treaties to which it is party.<sup>110</sup> This would include asylum-seekers and refugees under the 1951 Refugee Convention and Refugee Status Protocol 1967.<sup>111</sup>

#### 3.1.2 Immigration - liability of children

The criminal or administrative liability of children for immigration-related offences is subject to the general criminal or administrative laws of the relevant jurisdiction or child justice laws where these are in place. In summary, in all ASEAN Member States except Lao PDR, children may be held criminally liable for immigration offences, although the minimum age of criminal responsibility differs. Of the nine ASEAN Member States which have migration offences, **Brunei Darussalam** has the lowest minimum age of criminal responsibility of seven

<sup>107</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Articles 347 and 37.

<sup>110</sup> Cambodia, Law on Immigration 1994, Articles 29 and 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Section 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup>Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Sections 22 and 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Sections 58 and 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Administrative Penalties for Violations against Regulations on Social Safety, Security, Order; Social Evils, Fire Prevention and Firefighting; Rescue; Domestic Violence Prevention and Control 2021, Article 18; Law on Foreigner' Entry into, Exit from, Transit through and Residence in Viet Nam 2014, Article 18; Law on Entry and Exit of Vietnamese Citizens 2019, Articles 4(6) and 35; Law on Handling Administrative Violations 2012, Articles 24(1)(b) and 39(6)-(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Administrative Penalties for Violations against Regulations on Social Safety, Security, Order; Social Evils, Fire Prevention and Firefighting; Rescue; Domestic Violence Prevention and Control 2021, Articles 2(d) and 18(8)(b); Law on Handling Administrative Violations 2012, Article 39(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup>Viet Nam, Law on Handling Administrative Violations 2012, Article 119(1) and (7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Administrative Penalties for Violations against Regulations on Social Safety, Security, Order; Social Evils, Fire Prevention and Firefighting; Rescue; Domestic Violence Prevention and Control 2021, Article 6; Law on Handling Administrative Violations 2012, Articles 62 to 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> The Philippines, Department Circular No. 024 Strengthening the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination and for other Purposes 2022, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Cambodia became party to these instruments on 15 Oct 1992 with no reservations.

years,<sup>112</sup> followed by **Malaysia**,<sup>113</sup> **Myanmar**<sup>114</sup> and **Singapore** in which the minimum age of criminal responsibility is 10 years of age, though certain provisions in Singapore's national laws are contradictory and suggest that children under the age of 10 may be held criminally responsible in certain circumstances.<sup>115</sup> The highest minimum age of criminal responsibility across these nine ASEAN Member States is in the **Philippines**, at 15 years. However, children aged seven to 12 years in **Brunei Darussalam**, and 10 to 12 years in **Malaysia**, **Myanmar** and **Singapore**, may be found to lack sufficient maturity and understanding to judge the nature and consequence of their conduct.<sup>116</sup> The relevant provisions are explained in more detail below.

In **Brunei Darussalam**, the Juvenile Court or other court handling the case has the power to impose alternative measures to the sanctions outlined in the Immigration Act on children alleged, accused or found guilty of an immigration offence. These alternative measures include, among other things, 'discharging the offender' with or without him/her entering into a bond for good behaviour or to comply with any such conditions as may be imposed; committing the child to the care of a relative or other fit person for a period specified by the court; or subject to the provisions of any other law, placing the child under probation for between six months and three years.<sup>117</sup> The consideration and use of these alternative measures are not compulsory, though the court is required to make the best interests of the child the paramount consideration when applying these provisions in respect of any question relating to the welfare of the child.<sup>118</sup>

In Singapore, sections 6(a) and 82 of the Penal Code provide for a minimum age of criminal responsibility of 10 years, subject to an exception for children aged 10 to (and excluding) 12 who have not attained sufficient maturity of understanding to judge of the nature and consequence of their conduct on that occasion.<sup>119</sup> However, contradictory provisions are provided in the Criminal Procedure Code, which provides that 'juveniles,' defined in the Act as persons from the age of 7 to (and excluding) 16 years,<sup>120</sup> who are convicted of an offence punishable by imprisonment and/or a fine may be dealt with in accordance with the Children and Young Persons Act 1993.<sup>121</sup> Similarly, child justice provisions in the Children and Young Persons Act apply to children (defined as a person under 14 years of age) or young person (defined for the purposes of child justice provisions as a person aged 14 to 15 years,<sup>122</sup> without setting a minimum age of criminal responsibility. Though it would appear that the minimum age of 10 would apply, the contradicting provisions across the Penal Code, Criminal Procedure Code and Children and Young Persons Act create some ambiguity with potentially significant repercussions for children born in Singapore without citizenship. As is noted in section 3.1.1 above, birth in Singapore without citizenship constitutes 'entry' for the purposes of immigration legislation, though children are automatically granted a pass permitting them to remain in Singapore legally for 42 days after birth.<sup>123</sup> Whilst the Immigration Act is silent on whether children would be criminalised for remaining in the country upon expiry of the special pass (in contrast to criminal liability of the child's parent/s, which is expressly set out), this appears to be a risk given contradicting provisions relating to the minimum age of criminal responsibility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 2(1); Brunei Darussalam, Penal Code No. 16 of 1951 as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Chapter 22, Section 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Malaysia, Penal Code 1976, Section 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, section 78(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Singapore, Penal Code 1871, Revised Edition 2020, Chapter 2, Section 6(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Malaysia, Penal Code 1976, Section 78; Brunei Darussalam, Penal Code No. 16 of 1951 as amended, Revised Edition 2016, Chapter 22, Section 83; Singapore, Penal Code 1871, Chapter 2, Section 6(a); Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, section 78(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 51(1) and 91; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, Revised Edition 2016, Chapter 7, Section 262.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 2(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Singapore, Penal Code 1871, Revised Edition 2020, sections 6(a), 82 and 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Definitions Section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 323.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> For the purposes of sections 35, 36(1), 37, 38, 39, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 49, 50, 60(1), 79, 80 or 81 of the Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 6A.

Situation Analysis of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States: Legal Review

In January 2022, the Parliament of **Thailand** adopted amendments to the Penal Code to increase the minimum age of criminal responsibility from 10 to 12.<sup>124</sup> Section 74 of the Criminal Code provides that children aged between 12 and 15 (i.e. children in conflict with the law aged 12, 13 and 14) must not be punished, but can be rebuked and warned; ordered back into the care and supervision of the parents, guardian or other person residing with the child with stipulations for a period not exceeding three years and an order for the parents/guardian/other person to pay a fine up to 10 thousand Baht; placing the child under probation with conditions while in the care of the parents/guardian/other person residing with the child reaches 18 years of age.<sup>125</sup> Where the child is placed with an organisation for their care, training or instruction, and where the organisation agrees, the court may issue an order for the organisation to, among other things, supervise, train and teach the child, determine where the child should live, set up the child for work and deliver child welfare protections according to the law.<sup>126</sup> For those aged 15 to 18, the court can impose a reduced sentence or adopt one of the measures specified in Section 74.<sup>127</sup>

In **Cambodia**, a child under the age of 14 cannot be held criminally or administratively<sup>128</sup> liable. Article 7 of the Law on Juvenile Justice and Article 39 of the Penal Code provide that the age of criminal liability is 18, although a court may impose criminal responsibility on minors aged 14 and above if warranted by the circumstances of the offence or the personality of the minor. A child under 14 is referred to his or her designated representative except when in need of care and protection, in which case he or she is referred to the department of social affairs (Article 14, Law on Juvenile Justice). Article 39 of the Penal Code provides that minors who have committed an offence are subject to measures of surveillance, education, protection and assistance (see Section 3.3 below).

The **Indonesian** Juvenile Justice System Law provides for a minimum age of criminal responsibility of 12 years.<sup>129</sup> However, measures may be taken by an investigator, probation officer or social worker in respect of a child under 12 who has committed or is suspected of committing a criminal act. These include returning the child to his or her parents or guardian or placing the child in a social welfare centre or other institution for education, guidance or counselling.<sup>130</sup> Children in conflict with the law from the age of 14 who are convicted by the court may be sanctioned or subject to particular 'measures' while children in conflict with the law aged 12 or 13 may only be subject to *tindakan*, i.e. particular 'treatment' or 'measures'.<sup>131</sup> Measures include returning the child in a 'mental hospital', 'treatment in a social welfare institution, requiring the child to participate in formal education and/or training run by a State or private institution, revocation of the juvenile's driving licence and/or repairing any damage caused by the offence.<sup>132</sup> The court is also empowered not to hand down a criminal verdict or subject the child to a certain measure on the basis of justice and humanity, after considering the degree of crime, the child's personal state or wellbeing at the time he/she committed the crime.<sup>133</sup>

In **Myanmar**, the minimum age of criminal responsibility is 10 years of age, although children between 10 and 12 who have not attained sufficient maturity of understanding to judge the nature and consequences of their conduct on that occasion, are also not regarded as committing a crime.<sup>134</sup> Children in conflict with the law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Act to Amend the Penal Code (No. 29) B.E. 2522, Section 3, which amends Section 73 of the Penal Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Thailand, Penal Code 1956, Section 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Thailand, Penal Code 1956, Section 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Thailand, Penal Code 1956, Section 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Cambodia, Chapter 16 (Tort) of Book 5, Civil Code 2008, Article 745 (Lack of competence to assume liability)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 78.

must be handled in accordance with the Child Rights Law. When arresting a child for an offence, the police officer must not keep the child in police custody, must send the child to the juvenile court if the child has not already been diverted and, if it is not possible to send the child to a juvenile court promptly, release the child upon signing a bond pledging good conduct.<sup>135</sup> Diversion is defined as a programme aimed toward ethical correction and reintegrating of children into society for the best interests of a child charged without sentencing the child for the alleged crime and before prosecuting the child in the juvenile court or during the trial in the juvenile court.<sup>136</sup> Diversion is not available for children suspected of a crime punishable by imprisonment of 7 years or above, the death penalty, life imprisonment or imprisonment for an unlimited number of years,<sup>137</sup> such that diversion would be available for the immigration offences listed in Part 3.1.1 above. However, if there is sufficient evidence that the child's character has deteriorated beyond reformation or that the child is a delinquent beyond control, or the child has committed a previous offence punishable by imprisonment of three years or above, the child is not eligible for diversion.<sup>138</sup> Diversion measures include issuing the child in conflict with the law with a warning.<sup>139</sup> Children tried in the juvenile court may be subject to alternative sentences, detailed in Part 3.3.

Article 12 of Viet Nam's Criminal Code 2015 sets the age of criminal responsibility for specified 'very serious' or 'extremely serious' criminal offences at 14 and for other criminal offences at 16. As immigration offences are punishable by a maximum of three years, they fall within the category of less serious crimes<sup>140</sup> and thus a child under the age of 16 cannot be held criminally responsible for this crime. For children over this age, criminal prosecutions can only be initiated if necessary, taking account of the child's record, the danger to society of the alleged offence and the requirements of crime prevention.<sup>141</sup> As regards administrative sanctions, children aged 14 to 16 can be administratively sanctioned for intentional violations (and receive a warning), whereas those aged 16 or over can be administratively sanctioned for all administrative violations.<sup>142</sup> Foreign individuals who commit administrative violations within Vietnamese territory are sanctioned according to Vietnamese law but cannot be subject to 'administrative handling measures' (which include educational measures).<sup>143</sup> However, less serious crimes (which would include immigration offences) committed by those under 18 do not appear to come within the provision for administrative handling measures in any event.<sup>144</sup> Children aged 16 and 17 who commit an administrative immigration offence are punishable with a warning and/or fine, depending on the specifics of the offence, though the fine cannot exceed half of that applicable to adults and may be imposed on the parents or guardians if the child does not have the money to pay.<sup>145</sup> The police, border guards and coast guards have authority to impose warnings/cautions and fines under Articles 39 to 41 of the Law on Handling of Administrative Violations. Children who have committed an administrative violation which must be sanctioned by a warning and who voluntary report and honestly repent their violation, may instead be given a verbal reminder on the spot.<sup>146</sup>

According to section 6 of the **Philippines**' Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act of 2006, any child aged fifteen years or under at the time of the commission of the offence shall be exempt from criminal liability. A child between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 3(n).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 72(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 72(b)-(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup>Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 75(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Article 9(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Article 91(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Handling of Administrative Violations, Articles 5(1)(a), 22, 134.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Handling of Administrative Violations 2012, Article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Handling of Administrative Violations 2012, Part 3, Chapter 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Handling of Administrative Violations, Article 134(3). Article 135 of the Law on Handling of Administrative Violations provides that sanctions for minors include: warnings; fines; and confiscating material evidence and/or means of administrative violations. It does not refer to expulsion. It is therefore interpreted that the sanction of expulsion cannot be applied to under 18s.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Handling Administrative Violations, Articles 138 to 140.

Situation Analysis of Children Affected by Migration in ASEAN Member States: Legal Review

15 and 18 years old shall likewise be exempt from criminal liability, unless they have acted with 'discernment', in which case, the child shall be subjected to the appropriate proceedings. A child in conflict with the law shall be subject to an intervention programme under the custody of their parents or guardians.<sup>147</sup>

In **Lao PDR**, as outlined above, although irregular entry is not a criminal offence, the law nevertheless requires administrative sanctions for breaches of migration law. Children are subject to the same administrative legal regime as adults with there being no minimum age of *administrative* responsibility in the law. Potential sanctions for children therefore include the education<sup>148</sup> and warning of individuals for minor breaches of migration law such as improper stay or 'dirty' travel documents;<sup>149</sup> civil measures such as compensation for the loss of life, health or property of others caused by the breach; fines, the rate of which is required to be specified in regulations;<sup>150</sup> and deportation.<sup>151</sup>

#### 3.1.3 Trafficking exemptions

With the exception of **Viet Nam** and **Singapore**, the anti-trafficking laws or related guidelines in the ASEAN Member States expressly grant immunity from criminal prosecution to victims of trafficking.<sup>152</sup> Some of the provisions are fairly general in scope: for example **Lao PDR's** anti-trafficking law stipulates that victims of trafficking are exempt from criminal liability and cannot be detained for illegal immigration;<sup>153</sup> **Indonesia's** law provides that a trafficking victim who commits a crime under coercion shall not be liable to criminal charges;<sup>154</sup> the **Philippines** Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act<sup>155</sup> recognizes trafficked persons as victims, and as such, shall not be penalized for unlawful acts committed as a direct result of, or as an incident or in relation to being trafficked, or in obedience to an order of the trafficker.<sup>156</sup>

**Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar** and **Thailand's** laws are more detailed. Section 47 of **Brunei Darussalam**'s Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019 provides that a trafficked person shall not be liable to criminal prosecution for illegal entry or unlawful residence in Brunei Darussalam, or for procuring or possessing any fraudulent travel or identity documents which the trafficked person obtained or with which the trafficked person was supplied for the purposes of entering Brunei Darussalam, where such acts are the direct consequence of an alleged or actual offence of people trafficking.

Section 25 of **Malaysia**'s Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007 specifies that a trafficked person will have immunity from criminal prosecution in respect of illegal entry, unlawful residence or the procurement or possession of fraudulent travel or identity documents obtained for the purpose of entering the receiving or transit country. Further, Section 54(1) provides for the release of trafficked persons who are citizens or permanent residents of Malaysia or who are foreign nationals who have 'valid documents'

<sup>148</sup> This term is undefined in the law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> The Philippines, Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act of 2006, Section 6 and 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2014, Article 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2014, Article 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2014, Article 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Note that the **Lao PDR-Thailand Trafficking MOU** 2002, Article 17, on trafficking provides that trafficking victims must not be subjected to further victimisation or trauma in legal proceedings, but it is not clear whether this relates to criminal proceedings against the suspect only.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016, Article 39; Law on Development and Protection of Women 2004, Article 25 also provides that victims of trafficking cannot be prosecuted for illegal immigration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Indonesia, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 18. Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 86 also provides that victims of trafficking (and people smuggling) are not subject to immigration administrative sanctions, although they can be placed in an immigration detention centre or other accommodation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act No 9208, (2003) as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act No 9208, (2003), as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012, Section 17.

and are employed, upon revocation or expiry of a protection order. For foreign nationals without valid documents or who are not employed, the law requires that they are released to an immigration officer to be returned to their country of origin in accordance with immigration laws, though it is understood that the immunity from criminal prosecution would continue to apply. Further, the immigration officer is required to take 'all necessary steps' to facilitate the return of the trafficked person to the country of origin 'without unnecessary delay' and 'with due regard for his safety.' Safety measures which may be taken include obtaining a court order to place the trafficked person in a place of refuge for a further period that the Magistrate deems fit if the person is in need of further care and protection or for managing the person's repatriation.<sup>157</sup>

Article 16 of **Myanmar's** Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law states that no action shall be taken against a trafficked victim *for their involvement in the trafficking*, whether it was consented to or not; for illegal entry into, passing through, leaving for, illegally residing in or working in a *foreign country*; or for acquiring or possessing any fraudulent travel documents. However, this exemption does not appear to extend to protecting the victim from prosecution for illegal entry or stay in Myanmar (as opposed to in a foreign country). Indeed, Article 17 states that when a trafficked victim is found guilty of a crime that was committed as a consequence of their trafficking, the prosecuting bodies must seek the approval of the Central Body for the Suppression of Trafficking in Persons to be able to take an action against the trafficked victim, which further reinforces the absence of a blanket exemption from prosecution for the victim for offences arising as a result of the victim's trafficking.

Pursuant to Section 41 of **Thailand's** Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act, criminal proceedings cannot be initiated against victims of trafficking in respect of the following offences: entering, leaving, or residing in Thailand unlawfully, giving false information to an official, forging or using a forged travel document, prostitution or working unlawfully.

In **Cambodia**, the Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking provide that victims of cross-border trafficking, particularly women or children, 'shall not be considered an offender under the Immigration Law'.<sup>158</sup> Although the Guidelines precede the 2008 Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation, which takes precedence over the Guidelines in the event of an inconsistency, there is nothing in the Law which appears to conflict with this provision in the Guidelines, such that it should continue to apply.

Neither **Singapore** nor **Viet Nam's** anti-trafficking legislation contain any explicit protection from prosecution for trafficking victims and thus, technically, such victims could be prosecuted for crimes committed as a direct result of their trafficking. However, given the support available to trafficking victims under Article 32 of the Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking in **Viet Nam** and Section 19 of the Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014 in **Singapore**, criminal sanctions may be unlikely in practice. In particular, the Singaporean anti-trafficking law contains a provision on the 'Protection of Informers,' which prohibits 'complaints' about one of the trafficking offences listed in Part 2 of the Act from being admitted as evidence in any criminal or civil proceedings.<sup>159</sup> Whilst, arguably, this could be relied upon to protect victims who make a complaint or testify against their traffickers from prosecution, the protection offered by the provision is narrow. It would only be useful in circumstances where the victim's statement and/or testimony is the only evidence of the victim's 'illegal' activity, which is unlikely to be the case given the victim's presence in Singapore is evidence of irregular entry and stay in and of itself. Further, the Singaporean Women's Charter 1961 provides that female victims of trafficking can be detained in a 'place of safety' during the course of criminal proceedings against their alleged trafficker<sup>160</sup> and can be arrested for absconding from that place, <sup>161</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007 (as amended), Section 54(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Article 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 169(2).

indicating that victims criminal law enforcement measures are applied against victims who may, as a result, be treated in much the same way as an offender.

### 3.2 Immigration Detention

#### Does the law permit immigration detention of children? Does the law prohibit it?

Under Article 37(b) of the CRC, children must not be deprived of their liberty unlawfully or arbitrarily, and detention must be used only as a measure of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time. All ASEAN Member States are party to the CRC and are therefore bound by this provision, except that two ASEAN Member States have issued reservations in respect of Article 37: Malaysia reserves the position to apply Article 37 only in conformity with its Constitution and national laws and policies; Singapore reserves the position that Article 37 does not prohibit the application of any prevailing measures prescribed by law for maintaining law and order, or measures and restrictions which are prescribed by law and which are necessary in the interests of national security, public safety, public order, the protection of public health or the protection of the rights and freedoms of others (see Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States). In the context of migration, the CRC Committee and CMW Committee have affirmed that children should never be detained for reasons related to their or their parents' migration status, that such detention contravenes the principle of the best interests of the child, and that child immigration detention should be prohibited by law.<sup>162</sup> Relating to separated and unaccompanied children in cross border contexts, the CRC Committee similarly emphasises that detention cannot be justified solely on the basis of the child being separated or unaccompanied, or on their migratory or residence status, or lack thereof.<sup>163</sup> In light of the serious and disproportionate impact that COVID-19 was having on migrants and their families, in 2020, the CMW Committee and UN Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants called upon States to immediately release families with children and unaccompanied and separated children from immigration detention facilities to non-custodial and community-based alternatives with full access to rights and services, including healthcare.<sup>164</sup>

None of the ASEAN Member States expressly prohibit the immigration detention of children. There are, however, restrictions placed on the detention of children in the ASEAN Member States: these are either found in the immigration laws or in child protection or juvenile justice laws. In many cases – particularly where juvenile justice laws are concerned – the provisions are relevant to the detention of a child suspected to have committed a criminal offence. However, many of the restrictions on detention outlined below will not be applicable to cases where children are held in immigration detention as an administrative measure.

#### Immigration laws

Immigration instruments in **Indonesia** and **Thailand** contain provisions specifically relating to the detention of children, whilst those of **Brunei Darussalam**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **the Philippines**<sup>165</sup> and **Singapore** make no distinction between children and adults when addressing detention. In **Cambodia** and **Viet Nam**,<sup>166</sup> the immigration legislation reviewed did not contain any provisions on detention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Committee on the Rights of the Child, General comment No. 6 (2005), Treatment of unaccompanied and separated children outside their country of origin, CRC/GC/2005/6, 1 September 2005 (CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> UN Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families and UN Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, Joint Guidance Note on the Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Human Rights of Migrants, 26 May 2020, para. 11, <<u>https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/2021-12/CMWSPMJointGuidanceNoteCOVID-19Migrants.pdf</u>>, accessed 5 October 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular 024 of 2022, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Although the Law on Handling of Administrative Violations in Viet Nam permits the custody of persons to prevent or ensure the handling of an administrative offence, it only applies to administrative offences where there is a need to

The Indonesian Law on Immigration permits the detention of foreign nationals in an immigration detention facility where they have been refused entry into Indonesia and are awaiting removal,<sup>167</sup> or they are residing in Indonesia without a valid permit or lawful travel document, are subject to immigration administrative action or awaiting deportation.<sup>168</sup> Where the person is a minor, the immigration officer may detain the minor in 'other places' (which includes 'accommodation which are easily controlled by Immigration officers' 169). The law is silent as to whether such 'other places' are open or closed institutions. A specific immigration regulation stipulates that asylum-seekers and refugees living in Indonesia shall be placed in an immigration detention facility, immigration detention centre or 'other location' where approved by immigration authorities.<sup>170</sup> Child asylum-seekers/refugees (along with people in other specified situations) are those who can be placed in a location other than an immigration detention facility/centre.<sup>171</sup> However, 'Circular Note of the Directorate General of Immigration, Ministry of Law and Human Rights on Restoring the Function of Immigration Detention Centres' MIUM 01.01.2827 signed in July 2018, reportedly provides that people seeking asylum and refugees are exempt from immigration detention despite having entered the country irregularly,<sup>172</sup> though this Circular was not available to the authors for review. Whilst trafficking victims are not subject to immigration administrative action, they can still be placed in an immigration detention centre or other accommodation pending their immediate return to their country of origin, although they receive 'special treatment' which differs from other detainees.<sup>173</sup>

In **Thailand**, the Immigration Act, which makes no distinction between adults and children, permits the detention of 'aliens' (which covers all migrants) 'at any place' for inspection and consideration of whether or not the alien is forbidden from entering the country.<sup>174</sup> This power can be exercised only in so far as it is necessary in the circumstances with an initial time limit of 48 hours, extendable to seven days.<sup>175</sup> An alien can also be detained for as long as necessary pending deportation. Power is granted, however, to the Immigration Minister (with Cabinet approval) under Section 17 of the Immigration Act to permit any alien or group of aliens to stay in Thailand under certain conditions or to exempt them from provisions of the Act. The authorities would thus be able to release children from immigration detention or exempt children (or any group of refugees/asylum-seekers) from the detention provisions, though this is a discretionary power. However, it is reported that Article 17 has been used in practice to exempt and enable individuals and groups to remain in Thailand.<sup>176</sup> Thailand's MOU on Alternatives to Detention stipulates that children shall not be detained 'except in necessary and unavoidable circumstances, whereby they may be detained at the Immigration Detention Centres, as the last resort and for the shortest possible duration'. It further provides that reception centres of the Ministry of Social Development and Human Security, or privately-run reception centres shall be the last resort and used for the shortest possible duration.<sup>177</sup> There are also specific provisions on the custody of

<sup>&#</sup>x27;prevent, stop immediately acts causing public disturbance, causing injury to other persons' (Articles 119(1) and 122), which is unlikely to apply to immigration offences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 83. Individuals can be detained for up to 10 years (Article 85).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011 (elucidation).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Indonesia, Regulation of the Director General of Immigration No. IMI-0352.GR.02.07 (2016) on the Handling of Illegal Migrant Claiming to be Asylum-Seeker or Refugee 2016, Article 4(1) and (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Indonesia, Regulation of the Director General of Immigration No. IMI-0352.GR.02.07 (2016) on the Handling of Illegal Migrant Claiming to be Asylum-Seeker or Refugee 2016, Article 4(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region, Annex: Country profiles, May 2022, p. 23; News Republica, *Para Pencari Suaka tak Lagi Huni Rudenim Sejak 2018* (Bahasa), 4 July 2019,<<u>https://news.republika.co.id/berita/nasional/umum/19/07/04/pu4g8f414-para-pencari-suaka-tak-lagi-huni-rudenim-sejak-2018</u>, accessed 22 March 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Articles 86 to 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Sections 19 and 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Section 20. Further extensions to detention can be granted by the court, which also has the power to make an order the individual's provisional release.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region- Annex: Country profiles, May 2022, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Thailand, MOU on Alternatives to Detention 2019, para. 4.

trafficked persons under the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act. Pursuant to Section 29, a trafficked person can be held temporarily in custody where this is necessary for the protection of the person for no longer than 24 hours (or seven days by court order). The person must be detained in an 'appropriate place', which shall not be a detention cell or prison, and this right must be exercised in accordance with human rights principles.

It is reported that Thailand is developing a 'National Screening Mechanism,' which would include screening of individuals with 'protection claims' and grant a 'protected person status' to eligible applicants.<sup>178</sup> However, according to these reports, the protections afforded to persons with protected status are unclear, including whether this would include protection from immigration detention.<sup>179</sup> In February 2023, the State of Council reviewed and approved the Operation Guide for the National Screening Mechanism to come into force in August or September 2023.

Immigration legislation in Brunei Darussalam, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines and Singapore all allow for immigration detention, but include some, albeit limited, safeguards. In Brunei Darussalam, various offences relating to illegal entry or stay are punishable with imprisonment (see Part 3.1.1). Where a person is deemed to be a 'prohibited immigrant', the Controller of Immigration may also prohibit the person from disembarking or detain the person at an immigration depot or other place designated by the Controller, 'until an opportunity arises' to return the person to his place of embarkation or country of birth or citizenship.<sup>180</sup> Further, persons appealing to the Minister of Home Affairs against a refusal of entry on the grounds of being a 'prohibited immigrant' (including persons with an entry permit) must be detained in an immigration depot unless released on a pass, with or without conditions, issued by the Controller of Immigration at his/her discretion.<sup>181</sup> Where a Senior Immigration Officer 'is in doubt' over the right of a person to enter the country, he/she may direct the person to an immigration depot, where that person must stay until he/she is permitted to leave by the officer or Controller of Immigration, up to a maximum of seven days, subject to such longer period as the Controller of Immigration may order.<sup>182</sup> The Immigration Act also permits the arrest without warrant and detention of any person reasonably believed to be a person liable to be removed from Brunei Darussalam under any provision of the Immigration Act.<sup>183</sup> The individual may be detained in any prison, police station or immigration depot for a maximum period of 14 days pending a decision of whether or not a removal should be made.<sup>184</sup> Similarly, a person ordered to be removed from Brunei Darussalam may lawfully be detained in custody for such period as may be necessary to make arrangements for their removal.<sup>185</sup> The place of detention may be any prison, police station, immigration depot or other place appointed for that purpose by the Controller of Immigration or, pending an appeal against the order, a suitable vessel or aircraft within the limits of Brunei Darussalam.<sup>186</sup> However, the Controller of Immigration has the power to release the individual pending determination of an appeal against the order for removal, on such conditions as the Controller deems fit.<sup>187</sup> Further, as noted in Part 3.1.1, the Minister may by order exempt, absolutely or conditionally, any person or class of persons from all or any of the provisions of the Immigration Act,<sup>188</sup> which would include the provisions on detention.

The Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management of the **Lao PDR** permits the detention of persons breaching immigration law 'in case of necessity' and for a maximum of 48 hours for investigation.<sup>189</sup> **Malaysian** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region, May 2022, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region, May 2022, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 8(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 34(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 34(2) and (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 34(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2014, Article 54.

immigration law permits custody in an immigration depot whilst investigations are conducted into a person's right to enter Malaysia and also permits the detention of persons who have entered or remained in Malaysia unlawfully, pending their removal from the country.<sup>190</sup> Pending removal, the person may be detained in an immigration depot, vessel, aircraft, or other place designated by the Director General.<sup>191</sup> In line with protections in Article 5 of the Malaysian Constitution, Section 51(5)(b) of the Immigration Act provides that a non-citizen who is arrested or detained under the Act shall within 14 days be brought before the Magistrate who shall make an order for detention for as long as deemed necessary for investigation or for effecting removal from Malaysia. No distinction is made in the Immigration Act between children and adults. However, the Immigration Act provides the Director General of Immigration with the discretion to order the conditional release of a person from an immigration depot where there are investigations into the right to enter<sup>192</sup> or pending a person's appeal against an order for removal.<sup>193</sup> The Minister of Home Affairs also has the power to exempt any person(s) from any or all of the provisions of the Immigration Act under Section 55. The Minister of Home Affairs would thus have the power to release children from immigration detention or exempt children (or any group of refugees/asylum-seekers) from the detention provisions. However, the discretionary powers in Malaysia are reportedly rarely used in practice.<sup>194</sup>

In **Myanmar**, as outlined in Part 3.1.1, persons who commit an immigration offence may be punished with imprisonment and/or are subject to deportation, pending which the individual may be detained. However, the foreigner may be granted bail pending deportation upon such terms and conditions as the President may prescribe.<sup>195</sup> Any foreigner who has been brought into Myanmar illegally must be detained by the carrier, who shall, if required at any time by any immigration official not below the rank of Assistant Immigration Officer, remove the foreigner from Myanmar.<sup>196</sup> Generally, however, the President has the power to exempt any person or classes of persons from any or all the provisions of the immigration law, with or without conditions,<sup>197</sup> which could be used to exempt children from immigration detention.

As noted above, the **Philippines'** Department Circular No. 024<sup>198</sup> provides that, as a basic principle, a person shall not be detained on account of being an applicant for refugee status or as a refugee or a stateless person. However, this does not override the Philippines Immigration Act, which allows for the detention of aliens for the purpose of determining whether the person belongs to any class excluded by the immigration laws.<sup>199</sup> There is no exemption of children from detention in the Immigration Act.

In **Singapore**, 'any person who is reasonably believed to be liable to removal from Singapore' may be arrested and detained for up to 14 days pending a decision as to whether a removal order should be issued in respect of that person.<sup>200</sup> Should a removal order be made, the person may be detained in any prison, police station or immigration depot for as long as is necessary for arrangements to be made for their removal from Singapore. There are no time limits on detention pending removal.<sup>201</sup> A person who appeals against an order for removal can be released pending the result of the appeal at the discretion of the Controller of Immigration.<sup>202</sup> However, there is an obligation placed on 'prohibited immigrants' to reimburse the

<sup>200</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Sections 27, 31 and 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act, Sections 27, 31 and 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Section 27 (1)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Section 34(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region- Annex: Country profiles, May 2022, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Myanmar, Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 7(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Myanmar, Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Myanmar, Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, Section 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Strengthening the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination and for other Purposes, 2022, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> The Philippines, Commonwealth Act No, 613 The Philippine Immigration Act of 1940, Article 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 34(1) and (5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 34(2).

Singaporean government for the cost of their detention and removal from Singapore and the Controller of Immigration has authority to seize any money in the person's possession in order to cover these costs.<sup>203</sup> 'Prohibited immigrants' arriving in Singapore who are denied entry may be detained or prevented from disembarking, pending their removal.<sup>204</sup>

#### Child protection and child justice laws

Restrictions on the detention of children more generally are found in child protection laws and, in the criminal justice context, child justice provisions. In Brunei Darussalam, the restrictions are narrow. The provisions permitting bail<sup>205</sup> for children in conflict with the law do not go so far as to prohibit the use of detention of children for immigration offences. Further, for children found guilty of an immigration offence, Article 262 of the Criminal Procedure Code empowers the court to deal with the child in accordance with the Children and Young Persons Act, but does not make this compulsory.<sup>206</sup> As such, the powers of the court under the Children and Young Persons Act to impose alternative measures on a child found guilty of an offence, such as discharging the child,<sup>207</sup> are not mandatory. Further, the range of alternative measures available to the court under the Children and Young Persons Act include other forms of detention, including in a 'place of detention' for up to six months or in an approved institution for up to 52 'weekends', placement in an approved school for a period of between two and three years or, in certain circumstances, detention in a training in a reformative training centre.<sup>208</sup> The Children and Young Persons Act prohibits the court from placing children between the ages of 10 and 14 years in an approved school, remand home or place of detention except where the court is satisfied that the child cannot be suitably dealt with otherwise.<sup>209</sup> More generally, children must not be imprisoned for non-payment of a fine, though children may nevertheless still be detained in other categories of institutions.<sup>210</sup> Further, children between the ages of 14 and 18 may also be imprisoned where the court is satisfied that the child is of 'so unruly a character that he cannot be detained in a place of detention or an approved school.'211 There is, nevertheless, a requirement in the Children and Young Persons Act for the court to have regard to the child's welfare, take steps to remove the child from 'undesirable surroundings' and ensure that proper provision is made for the child's education and training, with the best interests of the child as the paramount consideration,<sup>212</sup> which could be used to limit the use of immigration detention in practice.

Child protection provisions in Brunei Darussalam do not prohibit and, in some instances, contemplate, the de facto detention of children in need of protection. This includes the power of the protector or police officer to take a child reasonably believed to be in need of protection 'into temporary custody and commit him to a place of safety' following which the child must be brought before the Juvenile Court, as a general rule, within 3 working days.<sup>213</sup> The Juvenile Court has the power to make a range of orders to protect the child, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 47A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 41, 47(5)(a), 49(11)(c) and 61; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, Revised Edition 2016, Chapter 7, particularly Sections 33 and 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Similarly, under the Children and Young Persons Act, as a general rule, the Magistrates, Intermediate and High Courts may exercise the same powers as the Juvenile Court, as set out in the Children and Young Persons Act, but again does not make this compulsory; Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 51(1) and 91; Brunei Darussalam, Criminal Procedure Code, Enactment No. 16 of 1951, Revised Edition 2016, Chapter 7, Section 262.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(g),(h), (i) and (k).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 2(1) (definition of child) and Section 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 2(4) and 12(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 17 and 56.

include both residential placements and non-residential alternatives. Residential placements include placement 'in a place of safety' for a period of three years or until the child reaches the age of 18 (whichever is longer).<sup>214</sup> The Minister may, by notification published in the Gazette, declare any place to be a place of safety for these purposes,<sup>215</sup> though there is no prohibition against detention in the place of safety or any requirement to provide a community- or family-based alternative care arrangement. However, the Juvenile Court must treat the child's best interests as the paramount consideration when determining which order to make.<sup>216</sup> Where the child is proved to be 'beyond parental control', the child may be placed in an approved home for a period of between two and three years.<sup>217</sup> There is no prohibition against the detention of children in approved homes; in fact, persons placed in approved homes are referred to as being 'detained' and are deemed to be in 'lawful custody' until they are discharged from the home.<sup>218</sup>

**Indonesia's** Laws on Child Protection, Juvenile Justice System and Human Rights contain restrictions on a child's deprivation of liberty, confirming that it shall be used only as a measure of last resort, for the shortest period of time and only in accordance with the law.<sup>219</sup> Additionally, detention in the juvenile justice context is only permitted where a child is over the age of 14 and the crime is punishable with at least seven years' imprisonment and would thus not apply to immigration offences (for which the maximum penalty is five years).<sup>220</sup> There is special provision for children accused of offences perpetrated in an 'emergency situation'. This includes situations where people are displaced, public order disturbances, natural disasters, and armed conflicts. In such cases, law enforcement and judicial personnel must consider the need for special protection (defined as 'non-aggravated sanction').<sup>221</sup> The three laws also contain a prohibition on torture and other ill-treatment, which might be relevant in a detention context.

In the **Philippines**, the Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act 2006 permits the deprivation of liberty of children aged 15 and above, both pre and post-trial but, in line with Article 37(b) of the CRC, only as a matter of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time.<sup>222</sup> To prevent deprivation of liberty, the Act provides for a range of alternatives to detention and diversion.<sup>223</sup>

In **Thailand**, Article 26 of the Child Protection Act prohibits torture, which is defined in Article 4 as 'any commission or omission of acts which cause the deprivation of freedom of, or mental or physical harm to, a child'. The Child Protection Act provides that children can be sent to an institution (which may include a remand home, welfare centre or juvenile observation centre) where it is deemed necessary for their protection, although transfer to an institution shall be adopted only as the last resort.<sup>224</sup> There are no prohibitions in the law against the detention of children in such institutions.

Legislation in **Malaysia** provides safeguards for children in conflict with the law, except for those suspected of certain serious offences, such as those under the Essential (Security Cases) Regulations 1975, which limit the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(1)(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 74, 76 and 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Articles 16 and 64(g); Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Articles 2 to 3 and 81 and Law Concerning Human Rights 1999, Article 66 (note that Article 66(5) of the Law Concerning Human Rights expressly provides that, where a child is deprived of liberty, he/she shall not be separated from his/her parents unless it is in the child's interest).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act 9344, Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act 2006, Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act 9344, Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act 2006, Sections 36 and 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Articles 33, 42, 44 and 56.

safeguards available.<sup>225</sup> In relation to immigration offences which do not involve these serious offences, the Child Act includes time limits for bringing children before a court and release of children on bail<sup>226</sup> and restrictions on imprisonment; a child under 14 years of age cannot be imprisoned for any offence, and a child over 14 should not be imprisoned if he or she can be suitably dealt with in any other way.<sup>227</sup> In effect, imprisonment should thus be the last resort.

In Myanmar, police officers arresting a child for an offence are prohibited from keeping the child in police custody under any circumstances and children may be diverted for an immigration offence provided that there is no evidence that the child's character has deteriorated beyond reformation or that the child is a delinquent beyond control, and that the child has not committed a previous offence punishable by imprisonment of three or more years.<sup>228</sup> However, diversion measures include the placement of the child under the reformation and custody of training schools, in shelters or temporary care stations to provide him or her with education and vocational training for the best interests of the child.<sup>229</sup> For children who have not been diverted, the police officer must promptly refer the child to the referred to the juvenile court, or, failing that, release the child upon signing a bond pledging good conduct. If that is not possible, the child 'should' be placed in a temporary care station or other appropriate place.<sup>230</sup> The juvenile court is prohibited from issuing a detention order to hold the child in police custody or prison for any reason.<sup>231</sup> Imprisonment of the child is a measure of last resort in the juvenile court and only when there is an absence of alternative care or diversion programmes.<sup>232</sup> The law also prohibits the imprisonment of children for failure to pay a fine.<sup>233</sup> However, alternatives to imprisonment include placement in a 'training school' for at least two years or until the child reaches the age of 18 or 20 years if the child's character has 'deteriorated', the child has no parents or guardians, or the child is unlikely to benefit from admonishment or the protection and safeguarding of his/her parents.<sup>234</sup> Other alternative sentences include the placement of the child in a 'shelter' or 'temporary care station' for a certain period of time subject to conditions deemed appropriate by the juvenile judge.<sup>235</sup> However, there are no requirements in the law that the alternative measures to imprisonment or placement of the child in temporary care stations, training schools, shelters or other places must not involve the detention of children. With regard to children affected by migration who are in need of care and protection, under the Child Rights Law, these may be placed in a training school, a temporary care station or shelter while a social investigation is being carried out,<sup>236</sup> without any prohibitions against the detention of children in these institutions. However, the 'best interests' principle and the use of these institutions as a measure of last resort may be used to limit the application of institutional care in practice.<sup>237</sup> As detailed in Part 3.3, whilst residential care is a measure of last resort for children without parental care, there are no prohibitions against the detention of children in residential care placements.

In **Singapore**, children in conflict with the law *may* be handled in accordance with the Children and Young Persons Act though this is neither compulsory for all children nor for all crimes and does not provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development of the Government of Malaysia, UNICEF Malaysia and Child Frontiers, The Malaysian Juvenile Justice System: A Study of Mechanisms for Handling Children in Conflict with the Law, UNICEF, 2013, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 80(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 75(B)(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 80(j).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 83(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 88(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 88(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 89(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 89(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Section 58(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Myanmar, Chid Rights Law 2019, Sections 3(d) and 33(c).

comprehensive protections against immigration detention.<sup>238</sup> Most notably, children aged 16 and 17 are excluded from the child justice provisions in the Children and Young Persons Act, such that the jurisdiction of the Youth Court and corresponding safeguards against detention do not apply to them.<sup>239</sup> Where a child is handled in accordance with the Child and Young Persons Act, there is a safeguard in section 42(1) stipulating that 'children' (i.e. defined as persons under the age of 14) cannot be sentenced with imprisonment for any offence or in default of payment of a fine.<sup>240</sup> Further, 'young people' (aged 14 to 15 years) may not be imprisoned, unless the court considers them to be 'of so unruly a character that [they] cannot be detained in a place of detention or juvenile rehabilitation centre.'241 However, the alternatives to 'imprisonment' still require the detention of the child. The Youth Court has the power to order a child (under 14 years) or young person (14-15 years) to be detained in either a 'place of detention' for up to six months, an 'approved institution' for up to 26 weekends, or a 'juvenile rehabilitation centre' for up to three years.<sup>242</sup> The upper age limit for these facilities is 18 years for 'places of detention', 19 years for 'juvenile rehabilitation centres' and 21 years for 'places of safety.'243 Section 34(2) prohibits children under the age of 10 from being sent to juvenile detention centres, remand homes or places of detention 'unless for any reason, including the want of a fit person of his or her own religious persuasion who is willing to undertake the care of him or her, the court is satisfied that he or she cannot suitably be dealt with otherwise', <sup>244</sup> such that there is no absolute prohibition against detention of children of any age. Further, the Youth Court has the power to sentence 16–20-year-olds, and 14–15-year-olds who have previously been sentenced, to attend a juvenile rehabilitation centre to undergo 'reformative training' where it is considered necessary to 'reform him or her and to prevent crime.'245 Reformative sentences involve detention for a period not exceeding 54 months.<sup>246</sup> The Women's Charter 1961, grants the Director-General the power to detain girls in 'places of safety' in certain circumstances, including where the girl is considered to be in 'moral danger',<sup>247</sup> in need of protection,<sup>248</sup> where her guardian has requested her detention<sup>249</sup> or pending conclusion of judicial proceedings of a crime to which the girl is a victim.<sup>250</sup> The Director-General holds full discretion on the period of time a girl is detained<sup>251</sup> until she turns 21 or gets married, at which point she must be released.<sup>252</sup> Such placements are also regarded as a form of immigration detention.

Although domestic criminal laws in **Lao PDR** also contain safeguards for children in conflict with the law, these would not apply to illegal entry or stay, which are administrative as opposed to criminal offences. Children may therefore be detained under the Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management which permits the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> This is evident from the Criminal Procedure Code, Section 323, which provides that juveniles (i.e. persons above seven years but below 16) may be sentenced in accordance with the Children and Young Persons Act the court may, instead of being sentenced by the court to a fine or imprisonment. Similarly, under the Children and Young Persons Act, Section 39, the Youth Court only has exclusive summary jurisdiction for children and young people (i.e. persons up to but excluding 16 years of age)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2020, Sections 2(1) (*Interpretation*), 34 to 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 41(1). Section 43 contains an exception to this rule for children and young people convicted of grave crimes (murder, or of culpable homicide not amounting to murder, or of attempted murder, or of voluntarily causing grievous hurt) who are liable to be 'detained in such place and on such conditions as the Minister may direct'<sup>240</sup> although this would not apply to children charged with immigration offences as they would not meet the threshold of severity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 42(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(g)-(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 51(a)-(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 34(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup>In accordance with Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 305(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Singapore, Criminal Procedure Code 2010, Section 305(8)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 160(1)(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 160(1)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 160(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 160(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 161(1).

detention of persons breaching immigration law 'in case of necessity' for a maximum of 48 hours for investigation.<sup>253</sup>

Pursuant to Article 5 of **Cambodia**'s Law on Juvenile Justice, use of detention (as well as arrest and sentencing) of minors as a last resort and for the shortest period of time is a basic principle applicable to juvenile cases. The juvenile justice law also contains specific provisions confirming that police custody and pre-trial detention can only be used as a measure of last resort for children over the age of 14.<sup>254</sup> Pursuant to the Code of Criminal Procedure, there are time limits on police custody and provisional detention that correspond with the gravity of the offence and age of the child.<sup>255</sup> As outlined earlier, children under the age of 14 cannot be held criminally liable and cannot be detained. Under Code of Criminal Procedure, such children can be returned temporarily to their guardians or, where there are no guardians, to a Provisional Education and Care Centre until a decision has been made by the court<sup>256</sup> on the granting of parental power. Children from the age of 14 can be imprisoned following court judgement, although the sentence is half of the adult sentence.<sup>257</sup>

The Criminal Code of **Viet Nam** provides that imprisonment shall be imposed on juvenile offenders only if 'it is considered that other punishments and educational measures do not have sufficient deterrent effects'.<sup>258</sup> Where a prison sentence is imposed, it must be as short as 'is reasonable' and 'more lenient' than that imposed on a person aged 18 and above. The Constitution also contains a number of rights that are applicable to everyone in Viet Nam (not just citizens). These include protections against torture and other ill-treatment and against unlawful arrest or detention.<sup>259</sup> Specifically with regard to children, the Constitution states that 'harassing, persecuting, maltreating, abandoning or abusing children, exploiting child labour or other acts that violate children's rights are prohibited'.<sup>260</sup> However, these rights are not absolute; they may be 'restricted when prescribed by law in imperative circumstances for the reasons of national defence, national security, social order and security, social morality and community well-being.'<sup>261</sup> Finally the Child Law provides 'coercive action and limitations on freedom' should only be taken where other prevention and education measures are not appropriate.<sup>262</sup>

### 3.3 Alternative Measures to Detention

#### Are there any alternatives to immigration detention of children under the law and, if so, what are they?

The ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration encourages States to develop alternatives to child immigration detention and to ensure that, where possible, children are kept with their families in a non-custodial and clean and safe environment (paragraph 9). Such alternatives to detention might include community-based care arrangements or residence in open centres (i.e. those which do not involve the deprivation of liberty)<sup>263</sup> in line with the UN Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children.<sup>264</sup> Further, all except two of the ASEAN Member States (**Brunei Darussalam**, which was not present and **Singapore**, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2015, Article 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Cambodia, Law on Juvenile Justice 2016, Article 17 and 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup>Cambodia, Code of Criminal Procedure 2007, Articles 96, 213 and 214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Cambodia, Code of Criminal Procedure 2007, Article 212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Cambodia, Penal Code 2009, Article 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Article 91(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Viet Nam, Constitution 2013, as amended, Article 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Viet Nam, Constitution 2013, as amended, Article 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Viet Nam, Constitution 2013, as amended, Article 14(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Viet Nam, Child law 2016, Article 70(9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> The deprivation of liberty means the placement of a person in a public or private custodial setting, from which this person is not permitted to leave at will, by order of any judicial, administrative or other public authority; United Nations, Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, General Assembly Resolution 45/113, United Nations, 14 December 1990, para 11(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> United Nations, Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children, General Assembly Resolution A/RES/64/142, United Ntionas, 24 February 2010.

abstained), voted in favour of the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, which includes a commitment use immigration detention only as a measure of last resort and work towards alternative, including action to 'promote, implement, and expand alternatives to detention, favouring non-custodial measures and community-based care arrangements, especially in the case of families and children.'<sup>265</sup>

The **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** (which has not yet been adopted) on children affected by migration expressly provides that the parties shall endeavour to develop effective procedures and alternatives to prevent the use of child immigration detention. The wording of Article 13 mirrors that of the ASEAN Declaration in providing that the parties shall 'ensure that, where possible, children are kept together with their families in a non-custodial, and clean and safe environment'.

The immigration laws and related instruments in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **Singapore** and **Thailand** contain provisions which permit the release or exemption of a person from immigration detention or provide alternatives to detention, though placements in alternative accommodations would amount to detention if the facilities operate a closed regime. Some of these provisions were outlined in Part 3.2. **Thailand's** MOU on Alternatives to Detention contains the most comprehensive provisions of all the ASEAN countries, which are largely compliant with international standards. In **Cambodia**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **Philippines** and **Thailand**, there are specific provisions for trafficking victims to be placed in shelters though, these too will amount to detention if the shelter operates a closed regime. Indeed, in **Brunei Darussalam** and **Singapore**, the provisions on placements of victims of trafficking in shelters or places of safety make it clear that such placements involve the detention of the victim. Child protection laws and child justice provisions in all of the ASEAN countries address alternatives to detention, although some of these alternatives may not be relevant in a migration context (for example, restoration). These provisions are detailed below.

#### Immigration Laws

In **Thailand**, the Immigration Act authorises a competent official to allow a person who is awaiting a decision as to whether they may enter the country or who is subject to deportation to stay at an 'appropriate' or 'prescribed' place, provided that the person agrees to present him or herself to the competent official at a specified time and place, or provides a bond and/or security.<sup>266</sup> These provisions have reportedly been used to exempt and enable individuals and groups to remain in Thailand.<sup>267</sup> However, no guidance is given in the Immigration Act on what an appropriate or prescribed place might include. The 2019 MOU on Alternatives to Detention provides much more detail on procedures for the non-detention of migrant children. Article 4 of the MOU provides that family-based care must be the priority when considering ways to provide care for migrant children entering Thailand, and that, when placing the child under alternative care, authorities must take into consideration the child's physical and mental development and seek a sustainable solution. The standard operating procedures under the MOU stipulate that a multi-disciplinary working group must be ready to respond upon receipt of a child at the immigration centre, identifying the child's vulnerabilities and providing for alternative care for the child.<sup>268</sup> When considering alternative care arrangements, this will be based on the assessment of the child and any immediate concerns, and children should not be separated from their parents unless necessary.<sup>269</sup> Alternative care arrangements include placing a child and their family in their community, arranging for foster care, placing children and their mothers in government institutions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> United Nations Digital Library, Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, 2018, <<u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1656414?ln=en</u>>, accessed 6 October 2022; United Nations, Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, General Assembly Resolution A/RES/73/195, United Nations, 11 January 2019, Objective 13, para. 29(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Article 19 and 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region- Annex: Country profiles, May 2022, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Thailand, SOP under MOU on Alternatives to Detention 2019, Article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Thailand, SOP under MOU on Alternatives to Detention, Article 6.5.

under the Ministry of Social Development and Human Security or in registered private shelters.<sup>270</sup> However, it is reported that children continue to be arrested and detained for immigration offences in Thailand, such that the MOU is only applied once the child is in detention.<sup>271</sup>

The relevant provision in the **Indonesian** immigration law was outlined in Part 3.2 above. Article 83(2) of the Indonesian Law on Immigration grants the power to immigration officers to place children in an alternative location rather than immigration detention facilities, although the use of the word 'detain' in the provision and the fact that alternative accommodation must be 'easily controlled' by immigration officers suggests that this could still amount to deprivation of liberty.<sup>272</sup> No other alternatives are specified. There are specific provisions relating to child asylum-seekers and refugees. Presidential Regulation 125/2016 categorises child refugees as 'refugees with special needs'.<sup>273</sup> As such, they can be placed outside shelters (subject to approval by the relevant authorities<sup>274</sup>) and provided with special care taking account of their best interests.

Under the **Malaysian** Immigration Act (as referenced in Part 3.2 above) the Director General has discretion to release a person from an immigration depot where there are investigations into the right to enter or pending an appeal against a removal order with conditions (such as the provision of security).<sup>275</sup> The Minister of Home Affairs also has the power to exempt any person(s) from any or all of the provisions of the Immigration Act.<sup>276</sup> Similarly, **Singapore's** Immigration Act grants the Controller of Immigration the discretion to release a person pending the outcome of an appeal of a removal order, with any conditions deemed necessary by the Controller.<sup>277</sup> In **Brunei Darussalam**, release with or without conditions or security is available in a narrow range of circumstances (for 'prohibited immigrants' appealing against a prohibition order; or pending an appeal against a decision of a removal order) although the decision use this alternative is within the discretion of the Controller of Immigration.<sup>278</sup> The Minister of Home Affairs may also by order exempt, absolutely or conditionally, any person or class of persons from any provision of the Act.<sup>279</sup> In **Myanmar**, foreigners pending deportation under immigration laws may be granted bail by such authority and upon such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the President.<sup>280</sup> More broadly, the President may exempt any person or classes of persons from any or all the provisions of the immigration law with or without conditions, which could be used to limit the use of immigration detention of children.<sup>281</sup>

#### Anti-Trafficking Laws

Provisions in anti-trafficking legislation in **Cambodia**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, the **Philippines** and **Thailand** may also operate as alternatives to detention. In **Cambodia**, the Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking provides for the establishment of clean and safe shelters for trafficking victims aimed at assisting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Thailand, SOP under MOU on Alternatives to Detention, Article 6.5.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> United Nations, Immigration Detention and Alternatives to Detention in the Asia Pacific Region, May 2022, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Defined as, 'any form of detention or imprisonment or the placement of a person in a public or private custodial setting, from which this person is not permitted to leave at will, by order of any judicial, administrative or other public authority'; United Nations, Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, General Assembly Resolution 45/113, United Nations, 14 December 1990, para 11(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Indonesia, Presidential Regulation no. 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees 2016, Article 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Article 27(1), although Article 27(2) provides approval is not required during emergency situations or for placement outside a shelter that is within the same regency/city.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Malaysia, Immigration Act 1959/63, Sections 27(1)(ii) and 34(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Ibid. Section 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Singapore, Immigration Act 1959, Section 34(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Sections 9(6) and 34(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Immigration Act, Revised Edition 2014, Chapter 17, Section 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, section 7(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Myanmar, Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947, section 8.

with their rehabilitation and reintegration.<sup>282</sup> Article 36 of Guidelines confirm that siblings younger than 13 years of age will not be separated, and pursuant to Article 49, victims are permitted to have communications with family members. Victims (or their guardian) must consent to staying at the shelter<sup>283</sup> and have the right to leave the shelter to live with their families or in a community.<sup>284</sup> Where the victim asserting this right is a child, special procedures must be followed.<sup>285</sup> Cambodia also has a policy on alternative care,<sup>286</sup> which covers both residential and non-residential care for children in need of special protection. This includes child victims of exploitation which encompasses children who have been trafficked. The policy confirms that institutional care should be a last resort and temporary solution, and that family care and community care are the best options.

Pursuant to Section 44 of Malaysia's Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, a court can issue a 21-day interim order for a person who is believed to have been trafficked to be placed in a 'place of refuge' whilst an investigation and enquiry is conducted. If, following investigation, a person is confirmed to be a trafficked person in need of care and protection, the court can make a protection order for up to three months in a place of refuge.<sup>287</sup> A 'place of refuge' is any house, building or place declared by a Minister to be a place of refuge for the care and protection of trafficked persons pursuant to Section 42(1) of the Act.<sup>288</sup> Although trafficking victims might be required to remain in these places of refuge for the duration of the protection orders,<sup>289</sup> Section 51A of Act provides that permission may be granted to the individual 'to move freely' (and to work) while under a protection order (interim or otherwise). On revocation or expiry of the order, a trafficked person who is a Malaysian citizen, permanent resident or foreigner with 'valid documents' and who is employed, must be released although a court order may be sought to place the individual in a place of refuge for his/her care and protection for such period as the court deems fit.<sup>290</sup> In all other cases, the trafficked person must be released to an immigration officer to be returned to his or her country of origin in accordance with immigration laws and may be placed in a place of refuge pursuant to a court order for the purposes of managing his/her repatriation.<sup>291</sup> However, there are no prohibitions against the detention of children in the place of refuge.

In **Myanmar**, the law requires a working committee, in cooperation with other stakeholders, to make certain arrangements to protect and provide assistance to victims and witnesses of trafficking, including child victims and witnesses.<sup>292</sup> These arrangements include 'providing necessary protection' to the victim or witness against

<sup>286</sup> Cambodia, Policy on Alternative Care for Children, April 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Chapter 9. As these provisions do not conflict with the provisions of the Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008, it is understood that they continue to apply.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Section 51(3)(a). The time limit can be extended by the court on application of enforcement officer or protection officer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Sections 2 and 42(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Note that one of the aims of Malaysia's National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons (2021-2025) (pp. 68 and 69) is to consider implementing various types of shelters or alternative accommodation, including community-based living. It also refers to the use of family-based care and protection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, Sections 54(1) and 54(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, Sections 54(1)(b) and (c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 13.

any threats or harms so that they can present themselves before the court to testify.<sup>293</sup> More specifically, justice professionals must arrange the relocation of the victim or witness to a suitable place for their security or temporary accommodation and keep their personal profile and information confidential.<sup>294</sup> In addition, if a victim of trafficking is repatriated or returns to Myanmar, the working committee and other stakeholders must arrange a safe place or a suitable shelter for their temporary stay.<sup>295</sup> The working committee must send the child back to his/her parents or guardian if, after scrutiny, it is found that that is the best condition for them or arrange another 'suitable and secure location or a suitable shelter or a charitable social shelter' where there is 'no condition for repatriation to the parents or guardian, or inappropriate condition for repatriation'.<sup>296</sup> In doing so, the working committee must take into consideration the age, gender identity and special needs of the trafficked victim.<sup>297</sup> However, like Malaysia, there are no provisions prohibiting the deprivation of a child's liberty in the shelters or other accommodation and may, therefore, constitute de facto detention of the child victim or witness.

Sections 16(b) of the **Philippines**' Anti Trafficking in Persons Act and section 17(b) of the Rules and Regulations Implementing the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act, provide that the Department of Social Welfare and Development shall implement rehabilitative and protective programs for trafficked persons and their family, including free temporary shelter and food facilities. The Rules and Regulations give examples of programmes for recovery and rehabilitation for victims / survivors of trafficking, including residential care, placement of children, educational assistance, and other actions to prevent re-victimization.<sup>298</sup> There are no explicit provisions against the detention of children in residential care institutions or shelters.

Similar provisions regarding the placement of trafficking victims in shelters and permission to work or stay can be found in **Thailand's** Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act. This imposes an obligation on the Ministry of Social Development and Human Security to consider and, where appropriate, provide assistance to trafficked persons and gives competent officials the power to place trafficked victims in shelters, including children's shelters.<sup>299</sup> There is also provision for trafficked persons to be provided with assistance in obtaining temporary permission to stay and work in Thailand under Section 37 of the Act.<sup>300</sup> However, similar to Malaysia, Myanmar and the Philippines, there is no provision prohibiting the detention of children in these alternatives.

Although the laws in **Brunei Darussalam** and **Singapore** contain provisions on placing victims of trafficking in a 'shelter' or 'place of safety,' the legislation indicates that such placements involve detention. In **Brunei Darussalam**, the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order empowers the Director of the Department of Community Development to provide a trafficking victim with such assistance as the Director considers appropriate in the particular circumstances of the case, including shelter and temporary accommodation.<sup>301</sup> The Minister can declare any place to be a shelter for these purposes,<sup>302</sup> though there is no provision prohibiting the detention of children in the shelter or temporary accommodation. Indeed, it is an offence for a person to knowingly assist

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 13(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 15(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 23(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law, State Administration Council Law No. 41/2022, 16 June 2022, section 23(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> The Philippines, Rules and Regulations Implementing Republic Act No 9208, Article IX, Section 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Thailand, The Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008, Section 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Thailand, Immigration Act 1979, Section 19 also provides that, where a child or woman enters Thailand and there is a reasonable suspicion that they have been trafficked or smuggled, they may be granted a temporary stay for the purposes of investigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Section 43(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Section 41.

or induce a trafficked person to 'escape' from the shelter, knowingly harbour or conceal such persons, prevent them from returning to the shelter, or knowingly assisting in such acts, suggesting that trafficked persons are de facto detained in shelters.<sup>303</sup> Further, trafficked persons removed from shelters without lawful authority, or who escape from the shelter may be 'retaken by any authorised officer and immediately returned to such shelter', <sup>304</sup> further suggesting that placement in the shelter amounts to de facto detention. The Women and Girls Protection Act similarly explicitly permits the court to order the detention of a girl (or woman) who is victim of an offence stipulated in the Act.<sup>305</sup> The girl must be 'detained' in a place of safety until she is released by the court or upon the determination of the criminal proceedings against the accused.<sup>306</sup> Further, the Commissioner may order the detention of a girl (or woman) in a place of safety on a range of grounds, including upon request by her legal guardian or, broadly, the child is in need of protection.<sup>307</sup> However, a 'discharge committee' may be appointed to review cases and recommend the release and discharge or placement under 'conditional parole licence' of the child.<sup>308</sup> In Singapore, under the Prevention of Human Trafficking Act, the Director-General of Social Welfare may provide trafficking victims with temporary shelter, where it is 'practicable and necessary in the circumstances of the case.' <sup>309</sup> There is no provision prohibiting the deprivation of a child's liberty in the shelter. In fact, as set out in Part 3.2 above, the Women's Charter 1961 requires any women or girl who is the victim of trafficking (or other listed offence<sup>310</sup>) to be *detained* in a place of safety for the entirety of proceedings against her alleged trafficker.<sup>311</sup> Even after the conclusion of proceedings, the Director-General may order the continued detention of the victim if it is deemed necessary for her welfare and protection<sup>312</sup> and if she is below 21 years old and unmarried.<sup>313</sup> Further, the Director-General has the power to issue a warrant to detain a girl in a 'place of safety' in other circumstances, including if she is in 'moral danger.'<sup>314</sup> If she absconds, she is liable to arrested,<sup>315</sup> further reflecting the law enforcement, as opposed to child protection and social welfare, approach taken in respect of trafficking victims.

#### Child protection laws

The child protection laws in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **the Philippines**, **Singapore**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** include provisions on alternative care for children. **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Myanmar**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** prioritise the use of family or community-based care over institutional care. The legislation in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia** and **Singapore** do not provide for this explicitly but it may be implied from obligations to make decisions concerning alternative care in the best interests of the child.

In **Indonesia**, children who are separated from their parents where this is in the child's best interests and children who need special protection (including *pengungsi* and child trafficking victims) must be provided with alternative care.<sup>316</sup> *Pengungsi* ordinarily translates as 'refugee' or 'internally displaced person.'<sup>317</sup> However, interpretations of this term have varied among Government officials, with some interpreting it to refer solely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Section 42(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Section 42(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Section 10(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Section 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Section 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Section 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Section 19(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Any offence under Part 11, Women's Charter 1961 or under section 312, 313, 317, 354, 370, 371, 372, 373,

<sup>373</sup>A, 375, 376, 376A, 376B, 376C, 376D, 376E, 376F, 376G or 377B of the Penal Code 1871 or defined in section 321, 322, 339, 340, 350, 351, 360, 361 or 362 of the Penal Code 1871.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 155(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 133(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 161.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Section 169(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Articles 33 and 37; Government Regulation No. 44 of 2017 Concerning the Implementation of Child Care, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> UNICEF Indonesia Country Office, written comments emailed to Coram International sent on 11 July 2022.

to 'internally displaced persons' and not also to 'refugees'.<sup>318</sup> For children eligible for alternative care, priority is on providing childcare on a family basis (by relatives or foster parents) and outside institutions, with institutional care being the last resort.<sup>319</sup> Institutional care may, however, be appropriate in a number of specified circumstances including where the child's family has abdicated responsibility for the child or is unable to care for the child even with support, the child has no family or the family's whereabouts is unknown, is separated from family due to disasters (social conflicts and natural), is a victim of violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation and/or is in need of special protection.<sup>320</sup> The National Standard of Care for Child Welfare Institutions 2011 affirms that 'infants and children up to the age of five should always be placed in family-based alternative care and only be placed in Child Welfare Institutions for the shortest period of time and as an emergency measure until suitable foster or adoptive parents are identified.'<sup>321</sup>

The **Lao PDR's** Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children provides that the best interests of the child shall be 'the main factor' when considering care, with residential care being a measure of last resort.<sup>322</sup> When placing a child with a guardian, preference is to be given to family members, except where this conflicts with the child's best interests.

In **Myanmar**, children without a parent or guardian, children working under the worst forms of child labour, street children, children who have been sexually exploited, children who have been trafficked, children who beg and children who are affected by natural disasters or armed conflicts, are considered to be 'children in need of care and protection.'<sup>323</sup> The social worker undertaking the social investigation is empowered to entrust the child to the parent or guardian, training school, shelter or temporary care station.<sup>324</sup> Such placements are subject to the best interests principle (for which see Part 2.1). The State (more specifically, the Department of Social Welfare) is also required to put arrangements in place to prioritise the provision of alternative care (kinship care, foster care, training school-based care and care at a temporary care station etc.) for children who have lost or are deprived of parental care.<sup>325</sup> Placement of the child in training school-based care or in a temporary care station must be a last resort.<sup>326</sup> The Department of Social Welfare is also required to review the placement regularly and reassess the possibility of entrusting the child back to their family.<sup>327</sup> However, there is nothing in the law prohibiting the deprivation of liberty of a child in residential care.

In the **Philippines**, Section 3 of the Special Protection of Children against Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination Act 1991<sup>328</sup> defines children in need of special protection as including those being in a community where there is armed conflict or affected by armed conflict-related activities; working under conditions hazardous to life, safety and morals which unduly interferes with their normal development; living in or fending for themselves in the streets without the care of parents or a guardian or any adult supervision needed for their welfare; being a member of an indigenous cultural community and/or living under conditions of extreme poverty or in an area which is undeveloped and/or lack or has inadequate access to basic services needed for a good quality of life; being a victim of a man-made or natural disaster calamity; or circumstances analogous to those above stated which endanger life, safety or normal development of children. Where a child to a foster home shall be preferred to institutional care. In addition, unless absolutely necessary, a child below nine years of age shall not be placed in an institution. An older child may be taken into an institution for child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> UNICEF Indonesia Country Office, written comments emailed to Coram International sent on 11 July 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Indonesia, Government Regulation No. 44 of 2017 Concerning the Implementation of Child Care 2017, Article 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Indonesia, Government Regulation No. 44 of 2017 Concerning the Implementation of Child Care 2017, Article 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> National Standard of Care for Child Welfare Institutions 2011, Chapter 2, Principle H(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2007, Article 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 58(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 33(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 33(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 33(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> The Philippines, Republican Act No. 7610, as amended by Republic Act 9231 2003, Section 3.

care but only if, following a thorough social case study indicates that the child will derive more benefit from an institutional placement.

Chapter 3 of **Thailand's** Child Protection Act provides for welfare assistance for certain categories of children which include 'street children or orphans', 'abandoned or lost children', children whose guardians are unable to care for them, 'children who have been unlawfully brought up, exploited, abused, or subjected to any other conditions which are likely to cause them to behave in an immoral manner or suffer physical or mental harm, children with disabilities, children in 'difficult circumstances' and 'children in situations warranting welfare assistance' as stipulated in ministerial regulations.<sup>329</sup> Such children can be placed in the care of an appropriate person or foster family or sent to an institution,<sup>330</sup> although placement in a welfare centre or safety protection centre should be used only as a last resort.<sup>331</sup>

Article 4 of **Viet Nam's** Child Law defines 'surrogate care' for children who are unable to live with their parents, with the aim of ensuring the safety and best interests of these children. These include children who have been abandoned, who are affected by natural disasters or armed conflict, as well as refugee children whose parents have not been identified.<sup>332</sup> Surrogate care must ensure the child's safety, children should be under the care of family where possible and kept together with any siblings, and contact or reunion with their parents and other family members should be facilitated unless it is unsafe or not in the child's best interest.<sup>333</sup> Surrogate care is to be prioritised over the use of social support establishments.<sup>334</sup>

In **Brunei Darussalam**, the Juvenile Court has the power to make a range of orders to protect the child, including orders for community- or family-based care arrangements, subject to a requirement to treat the best interests of the child as the paramount consideration.<sup>335</sup> Protection orders can include the guardian entering into a bond to exercise proper care and guardianship, placing the child in the custody of a 'fit person', or placing the child under the supervision of a 'protector' or other person appointed by the court, for a period specified by the court.<sup>336</sup> The court may alternatively make an order to place the child in the custody of a foster-parent though the child is placed in a 'place of safety' pending such placement,<sup>337</sup> which may include placement in a closed institution. Where a child is placed in an approved home (which may be the case if the child is considered to be 'uncontrollable' by the parent), the Director, on the advice of the advisory board and notwithstanding any order made by any court, has the power to order the release of the child on licence, at any time following the period of one year in detention and before the completion of the full period of detention, on such conditions imposed by the Director, including placing the child under supervision of a person specified in the order.<sup>338</sup>

In **Malaysia**, the Child Act grants the Court for Children the authority to place a child who is in need of care, protection or rehabilitation (see Part 4.2) in family-based care, which can include placing the child in the care of the parent or guardian, a fit and proper person, a foster parent, in a centre or place of safety or refuge, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 47(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(1)(a)-(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(1)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 83(2).

under social welfare supervision.<sup>339</sup> The best interests of the child must be the paramount consideration in determining any placement.<sup>340</sup>

The youth court in **Singapore** has the power to make an order to place a child (person under 14 years) or young person (person from 14 to (and excluding) 18 years) in need of protection in the care of either 'a fit person' or in a 'place of safety' or 'place of temporary care and protection.'<sup>341</sup> The court is obliged to uphold the welfare of the child as the paramount consideration when deciding on the placement and to gather sufficient information relating to the child in order to allow the court to 'deal with the case in the best interests of the child or young person.' Further, the law requires the welfare and best interests of the child to be 'first and paramount consideration' in all decisions relating to the application of the Children and Young Persons Act,<sup>342</sup> which include decisions relating to such placements. The law is silent on the prioritisation of family-based care or relying on institutional care only as a last resort, though this may be implied from the obligation to act in the best interests of the child as the paramount consideration.

#### Child justice legislation

Child justice legislation in all but one of the ASEAN countries (there was no child justice legislation for review in Thailand) provide for alternatives to detention for children who have committed an offence. Some of these alternatives (such as community service or reconciliation) are unlikely to be appropriate for breaches of immigration law and, as such, detention may be more likely. In Lao PDR, these are unlikely to apply to immigration offences, which are administrative and not criminal offences, and where detention is undertaken for interrogation. Further, in the case of Singapore, these alternatives are only available to children under the age of 16.<sup>343</sup> The following non-custodial alternatives are provided for: family conference (**Brunei Darussalam**);<sup>344</sup> reprimand (**Brunei Darussalam**);<sup>350</sup> discharge with good behaviour bond (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>351</sup> **Malaysia**; and **Singapore**<sup>352</sup>); reconciliation or apology (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>353</sup> **Philippines; Viet Nam**); return to custody of parent/guardian for supervision or with a bond to exercise proper care and guardianship (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>354</sup> **Lao PDR**;<sup>357</sup> **Malaysia**; **Myanmar**;<sup>358</sup> **Philippines**; and **Singapore**<sup>359</sup>);

<sup>346</sup> Alternatives to detention are contained in Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Articles 71 and 82.

<sup>348</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 89(a).

<sup>352</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(b).

<sup>356</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 82(1)(a).

<sup>358</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 89(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Article 30 (in respect of children in need of care or protection) and Article 40 (in respect of children in need of protection or rehabilitation).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Articles 30(5) and 40(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Revised Edition 2020, sections 2(1) and 54(1)(b)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 4(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, sections 2(1) (definition of young person) and 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 52(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Via the family conference; Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 52(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Alternatives to detention are contained in Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Alternatives to detention are contained in Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Articles 93-95 and 98-100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Alternatives to pre-trial detention are contained in Article 40, Law on Juvenile Justice and Article 40, Penal Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Alternatives to detention are contained in Lao PDR, Penal Code 2017, Article 85. Note that the Law on Juvenile Criminal Procedures 2013, Article 64 specifies alternatives to custody during the investigation-interrogation process, expressly providing that detention, arrest and remand 'should be the last resort'. These include issuing a warrant to have the child appear for interrogation and house custody (Article 64).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(d).

probation or release on licence under the supervision of a person (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>360</sup> **Cambodia**; **Malaysia**; **Myanmar**;<sup>361</sup> and **Singapore**<sup>362</sup>); warning and caution (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>363</sup> **Cambodia**;<sup>364</sup> **Viet Nam**); payment of a fine, costs of damages (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>365</sup> **Malaysia**; **Philippines**; **Singapore**<sup>366</sup> and **Viet Nam**); education or training (**Indonesia**,<sup>367</sup> **Lao PDR**; **Philippines**; and **Viet Nam**); judicial protection (**Cambodia**); counselling, psychotherapy or other programme for addressing relationship problems, rehabilitation, parenting and wellbeing (**Brunei Darussalam**);<sup>368</sup> commit the child to the care of a relative or fit person for a specified period (**Brunei Darussalam**);<sup>369</sup> and community service (**Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>370</sup> **Cambodia**; **Indonesia**;<sup>371</sup> **Malaysia**; **Philippines**; **Singapore**<sup>372</sup> and **Viet Nam**).

#### **Recommendations:**

- Amend immigration legislation to remove criminal and administrative liability for children for migrationrelated offences or based on the migration status of the child or his/her parents/guardians;
- Include express provision in anti-trafficking legislation granting immunity from criminal prosecution to victims of trafficking for offences committed in connection with their trafficking situation, particularly immigration offences (Singapore, Myanmar and Viet Nam);
- Consider deleting the reservations to Article 37 of the CRC [Malaysia and Singapore];
- Expressly prohibit in primary legislation the use of immigration detention of children, specifying that this includes any placement of a child in a public or private custodial setting, from which this person is not permitted to leave at will, by order of any judicial, administrative or other public authority, and covering all stages of the immigration process including initial 'investigation' and pending repatriation;
- Include provisions explicitly prioritising family-based or community-based options, such as foster care services, according to the child's best interests as a primary consideration [all States except Thailand and the Philippines];
- Abolish all types of corporal punishment for children, including for immigration offences [Brunei Darussalam; Malaysia; and Singapore].

<sup>365</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 51(1)(j) and 52(1)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 51(1)(e) and, for children detained in an approved school for at least one year, 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 89(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Via the family conference; Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 52(1)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Cambodia, Law on Juvenile Justice 2016, Article 13.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(j).
 <sup>367</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 82(1)(e).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 51(1)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> Through the family conference; Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 52(1)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 49(1)(f).

## 4 Child protection

	Integration of children affected by migration in the child protection system	professionals to make child protection	Obligation to make child protection referral for UASC	Right to family tracing/ reunification	No return if principle of refoulement, real risk of irreparable harm or reasonable risk of violation of child's human rights
Brunei					
Darussalam					
Cambodia	Legislation unavailable for review.				
Indonesia					
Lao PDR					
Malaysia					
Myanmar					
Philippines					
Singapore					
Thailand					
Viet Nam					

## 4.1 Integration in the child protection system

#### To what extent are children affected by migration integrated into the national child protection system?

In the ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration, ASEAN Member States confirm their commitment to addressing the rights and needs of children affected by migration in their national child protection systems, and acknowledge the need to further strengthen national child protection systems and enhance their accessibility for such children, including those who are unaccompanied or separated from their families and those requiring protection and assistance.<sup>373</sup> Under international law, child protection systems at the national and local levels should mainstream child migrants into their programmes, regardless of whether the State is a country of origin, transit, destination or return.<sup>374</sup>

Pursuant to Article 3 of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** on children affected by migration (which has not yet been adopted), the parties undertake to improve access for children affected by migration, including those who are unaccompanied or separated, to their national child protection system. They further commit to establish or enhance measures to prevent unsafe migration of children and all forms of violence against children affected by migration, and to intervene and provide rehabilitation for child victims of violence, irrespective of the immigration status of their parents.<sup>375</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration 2019, paras 2 and 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> CRC GC No. 22 (2017), para. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> MOU between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar on Strengthening the Cooperation to Protect Children Affected by Migration, adopted on 20 February 2020, Articles 4 and 11.

The child protection laws of all ASEAN countries, where they exist,<sup>376</sup> are applicable to all children and are not restricted to nationals. However, the child protection legislation in Viet Nam only applies to children up to the age of 16. Cambodia has yet to adopt a standalone child protection law. Further, the rights and protections set out in the Cambodian Constitution apply only to Khmer citizens.<sup>377</sup> The child protection laws of seven of the ASEAN Member States prohibit discrimination against children on various grounds,<sup>378</sup> with some expressly including place of birth (Thailand), origin (Myanmar) ethnicity (Indonesia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, Thailand and Viet Nam), race (Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Thailand), colour and caste (Myanmar), nationality (Myanmar and Viet Nam), legal status (Indonesia), citizenship (Myanmar) and personal status (Thailand). The laws of Malaysia, Philippines and Thailand include non-restrictive language: Malaysia's Child Act (in its preamble) refers to protection of all children 'without regard to distinction of any kind' and, after listing a number of grounds, includes the wording 'or any other status'; Article 3 of the Philippines' Child and Youth Welfare Code entitles all children to the rights 'without distinction'; Article 22 of Thailand's Child Protection Act prohibits 'discrimination of an unfair nature' and, in ministerial regulations, lists some of the grounds that might be included.<sup>379</sup> Such language broadens the range of possible grounds of discrimination that are prohibited. Whilst the Constitution of Singapore contains a non-discrimination provision, discrimination on the grounds of religion, race, descent or place or birth is prohibited only in relation to citizens of Singapore.<sup>380</sup>

In some jurisdictions (**Brunei Darussalam**; **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Myanmar** and **Thailand**), certain types of migrant children fall within specific categories of children identified as children in need of special protection. In **Brunei Darussalam**, a child who is or is believed to be a victim of an offence in the Children and Young Persons Act and whose guardian committed or is believed to have committed the offence, or has not protected or is unlikely to protect the child from the offence, is regarded as being in need of protection. Such offences include trafficking and importation of children by false pretences (as these offences are defined in the legislation).<sup>381</sup> Children who are found begging, or have no guardian or who have been abandoned by their guardian and after reasonable inquiries the guardian cannot be found and no other suitable person is willing and able to care for the child, are also regarded as 'in need of protection.'<sup>382</sup>

The **Indonesian** Law on Child Protection lists 'children in emergency situations' among a range of other categories of children<sup>383</sup> as requiring 'special protection' as stipulated in the law.<sup>384</sup> 'Children in emergency situations' includes (among others) 'child victims of natural disasters', 'children in situations of armed conflict' as well as *pengungsi*,<sup>385</sup> which, as described above, ordinarily translates as 'refugee' or 'internally displaced person but which is not necessarily interpreted to include refugees in practice.<sup>386</sup> The Law on the Protection

<sup>382</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 2(2)(e) and (k).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> Cambodia does not have a standalone child protection law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> In some jurisdictions (for example, Viet Nam and Malaysia), the protection of fundamental human rights and freedoms under the Constitution is applicable to everyone within that jurisdiction and not citizens only. In others, however, some freedoms apply generally to all, but certain rights are reserved for citizens only (for example, Lao PDR).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> Note that in Myanmar, non-discrimination of children is framed as an objective of the Child Rights Law; Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Sections 3(u) and 4(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> Ministerial Regulation to set up guidelines for determining if an act is in the best interests of the child or unfairly discriminatory to the child 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> Singapore, Constitution of Singapore (2020 Ed.), Article 12(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 2(2)(i), 35 and 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> These include among others: children in conflict with the law, 'children from minority and isolated groups', children who have been subject to economic or sexual exploitation, children who are 'victims of kidnapping, sale and trafficking', child victims physical and/or psychological violence, 'child victims of sexual crimes', children with disabilities, child victims of abuse and neglect, children with 'deviant social behaviours' and children who are 'victims of stigmatization from labelling based on the condition of their parents'; Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 59. <sup>384</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Article 59 and Part Five more generally. Note that the Indonesian Law Concerning Human Rights also provides that members of disadvantaged groups (including children) are entitled to greater protection of human rights and this is applicable to all persons (and not only citizens).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> UNICEF Indonesia Country Office, written comments emailed to Coram International sent on 11 July 2022.

of the Rights and Interests of Children in **Lao PDR** explicitly includes child victims of trafficking, exploited and displaced children and those who have been abandoned or are without parental care within the definition of children in need of special protection.<sup>387</sup> In **Myanmar**, children without any parent or guardian, children working under the worst forms of labour, trafficked children, children who are begging, street children, and children affected by natural disasters or armed conflict, are regarded as being in need of care and protection.<sup>388</sup> Further, the Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement has the power to designate other categories of children as in need of care and protection.<sup>389</sup>

**Thailand's** Child Protection Act includes street children, abandoned or lost children, children whose guardians are unable to care for them for any reason and children who have been exploited or abused within the category of children warranting welfare assistance.<sup>390</sup> Article 40 of the same Act defines children warranting safety protection as including those who have been tortured, are vulnerable to wrongdoing or otherwise require protection under ministerial regulations (which include children under the minimum age of criminal responsibility but accused of committing an offence, those referred by a court or observation centre for safety protection and children engaged in potentially harmful occupations<sup>391</sup>).

**Viet Nam's** Child Law is the most comprehensive in addressing the rights and needs of child migrants, although protection is only afforded to children up to the age of 16. Pursuant to Article 1 of the Child Law, a child is defined as a human being under the age of 16 (in contrast to the other focus countries which include any person under the age of 18<sup>392</sup>). Article 36 of the Child Law expressly provides for the protection and provision of humanitarian assistance to stateless children residing in the territory of Viet Nam and refugee children. All children (under the age of 16) are integrated into the national child protection system with disadvantaged children identified as children requiring specific support and protection. Children who have been 'abandoned', exploited or trafficked or are 'immigrant and refugee children whose parents are not yet identified' come within the definition of 'disadvantaged children'.<sup>393</sup> Article 47 of the Child Law provides that disadvantaged children should be assisted with 'functional rehabilitation and social inclusion' and Article 49(d) provides that disadvantaged children should be assisted or improving living conditions for children'. Article 50 outlines interventions that may be made in respect of abused children and to assist disadvantaged children with functional rehabilitation and social inclusion.

## 4.2 Identification and referrals

Is there a legal obligation for professionals and practitioners (particularly border and migration control officials) to make a child protection referral for children affected by migration who are in need of care and protection?

The prompt identification of children in migration and border-control procedures is essential for ensuring that anyone claiming to be a child is treated as such and promptly referred to child protection and other relevant services where needed.<sup>394</sup> Legislation should therefore include obligations on professionals and practitioners to refer children who are in need of care and protection to the relevant authorities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2007, Article 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 57(p).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> Ministerial Regulation to determine children who are in need of safety protection 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> Note that Thailand's Child Protection Act applies to all persons under the age of 18 unless they have attained majority earlier through marriage, and Lao PDR's Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children applies to all children under the age of 18 including the unborn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup>Vietnam, Child Law 2016, Article 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> CRC GC No. 22 (2017), para. 32(h).

Pursuant to Article 5 of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** on children affected by migration (which has yet to be adopted), the parties agree to enhance the protection, assistance and referral of all children affected by migration. In Article 10, the parties agree to strengthen identification procedures for identifying children at risk by incorporating children affected by migration into their child protection risk assessment mechanisms. No further details are provided on the processes or on specific obligations on officials to make referrals.

**Thailand** has the most comprehensive legal framework for the referral of child migrants identified by immigration authorities as in need of care and protection. All ASEAN Member States, except **Indonesia** and **Singapore**, have some referral provisions in respect of victims of trafficking. There are provisions for referral of cases involving violence or abuse of children under child protection laws in all of the ASEAN countries, though the extent of these referral obligations varies considerably. Further, while migrant children may fall within these child protection provisions, in practice, border and migration control officials may not be aware of the requirements under these laws.

**Thailand's** MOU on Alternatives to Detention contains a number of provisions in Article 6 relating to children entering Thailand. Pursuant to this Article, the Royal Thai Police and Ministry of Social Development and Human Security and concerned agencies must cooperate to ensure that children are protected and assisted by a multi-disciplinary team<sup>395</sup> during screening processes and when determining appropriate care. Article 6 of the standard operating procedures under the MOU on Alternatives to Detention provides that unaccompanied or separated children, as well as child victims of trafficking and children with disabilities or medical needs, must be prioritised during the immigration screening process by the Immigration Bureau. It also provides that any factors relating to a child or family that might influence assistance and protection will be taken into account. A case file must be provided to the Department of Children and Youth (DCY) (or Provincial Office of Social Development and Human Security or Provincial Shelter for Children and Families), which must promptly provide and implement the relevant protection and welfare measure under the Child Protection Act (see below) and provide information to the Immigration Bureau regarding any immediate measures to ensure a child's safety. A multi-disciplinary working group considers and approves an assistance plan based on information supplied by the DCY (or Provincial Office/Shelter) and a case manager is appointed to coordinate and refer the child to access services.

Pursuant to **Indonesia's** Presidential Regulation 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees, local communities and government agencies who find refugees are under an obligation to report to the police, who are responsible for the safeguarding of refugees.<sup>396</sup> There are no provisions specifically relating to the referral of child refugees to the relevant child protection authorities.

The most comprehensive referral requirements for trafficking victims are found in the **Lao PDR's** antitrafficking law and related guidelines. These relate to trafficking victims in general: there are no specific provisions requiring a child protection referral. There is an obligation on victims, family members of victims and close relatives, neighbours, 'other persons', domestic and international organisations to report cases of trafficking to the police under Article 32 of the Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons. Article 47 also stipulates that doctors who suspect that a person they are treating might be a victim of trafficking must report this promptly to anti-trafficking in persons officers (appointed police officers) or refer the suspected victim to a specific medical unit responsible for assisting trafficking victims. On receipt of a report on or information about a case of trafficking, border officials (as well as police officers and diplomatic or consular officers) must assume responsibility to collaborate with relevant sectors to protect and provide assistance to the victim and the victim must be referred to a temporary safe shelter.<sup>397</sup> The Guidelines on the Protection and Referral of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> The team includes representatives from the Immigration Bureau, the Department of Children and Youth, UNHCR, IOM and UNICEF, a child protection competent officer under the Child Protection Act and an officer from the Investigation Division (Standard Operating Procedures under MOU on Alternatives to Detention, Article 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> Indonesia, Presidential Regulation no. 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees 2016, Articles 8, 18 and 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2015, Articles 40 and 41.

Trafficking Victims 2020 provide further details on the obligations of police and border officials to report to and coordinate with the anti-trafficking police and the Lao Women's Union for the transfer of the victim to a safe place. Where the trafficking victim is foreign, the police officer must notify the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and other relevant parties to provide urgent protection and assistance. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs must then contact the embassy or consulate of the victim's country to provide assistance and arrange repatriation.<sup>398</sup>

Other anti-trafficking provisions are less detailed. Pursuant to Section 44(1) of **Malaysia's** Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, an enforcement officer has the power (but not the obligation) to take a person into temporary custody if there is reasonable suspicion that the person is a trafficked person and to bring the person before a magistrate within 24 hours to obtain an interim protection order. The magistrate shall then make an interim order to place the person has been trafficked and an enquiry into the background of the person.<sup>399</sup> If the person is in need of medical attention, the enforcement officer may take the person to a medical officer instead of a magistrate.<sup>400</sup> If the trafficked person is a child and the medical officer is of the opinion that hospitalisation is necessary, the enforcement officer may authorise the child to be hospitalised instead of being sent to the place of refuge.<sup>401</sup> One of the stated objectives in the National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons is to establish a formalised National Referral Mechanism for all trafficking in persons cases and related forms of exploitation. This would be based on standardised identification and referral procedures and would enable victims to access justice, receive protection and assistance.<sup>402</sup>

Section 17A of the **Philippines**' Anti Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003<sup>403</sup> provides that the rescue of victims should be done as much as possible with the assistance of the Department of Social Welfare and Development or an accredited NGO that offers services to trafficked victims. In addition, a law enforcement officer who has a reasonable suspicion that a person is a victim of an offence defined under the Act, including attempted trafficking, shall immediately place that person in the temporary custody of the local social welfare and development office, or any accredited or licensed shelter for trafficking victims.

Under **Cambodia**'s Law on Tourism 2009, all tourism business operators are obliged to report instantly any known or suspected cases of child trafficking and sexual exploitation to the Tourist Police or other competent authorities.<sup>404</sup> The Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007 also contain provisions regarding identification and referral. Where it is suspected that a person has been trafficked, the police or the victim support agency that first encounters the suspected victim has a duty to make a preliminary determination as to whether the individual is a victim of trafficking.<sup>405</sup> The police must send victims to the Provincial/Municipal Department of the Ministry of Social Affairs, Veterans and Youth Rehabilitation.<sup>406</sup> There are also obligations on the first contact agency (which could be any government agency or NGO) to provide initial services to victim and notify the Provincial Department of Social Affairs if it refers a victim to a shelter.<sup>407</sup> Given that these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Lao PDR, Guidelines on the Protection and Referral of Trafficking Victims 2020 (translation), Part IV, chapter 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Sections 44(2) and 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Section 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Section 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> NAPTIP, p. 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act 9208 as amended by Republic Act 10364 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup> Cambodia, Law on Tourism 2009, Article 48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 73.

provisions do not appear to conflict with the subsequent Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation, they are regarded as still being in force.

Chapter III of **Viet Nam's** anti-trafficking law requires agencies and organisations to handle trafficking acts of which they have been notified or which they have detected or to notify competent agencies of such acts. Agencies or individuals within the People's Public Security Force and People's Army with specific human trafficking duties are required to cooperate with other relevant agencies or act as focal points in handling trafficking acts and apply measures to protect victims. In the case of domestically trafficked victims, once an agency or organisation has been notified of a trafficking case, the victims must be transferred to the commune-level People's Committee which in turn must notify the Division on Labour, War Invalids and Social Affairs. This Division must receive and support the victims within 3 days of being notified.<sup>408</sup> Where Public Security Agencies, Border Military or Marine Police have rescued trafficking victims, they are required to meet the essential needs of victims and transfer them to the Division on Labour, War Invalids and Social Affairs.<sup>409</sup>

In **Myanmar**, the Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law contains detailed provisions on the search and rescue of victims of trafficking (adults and children). These include the mandatory entry and search of non-public places to arrest the offenders, seize assets and 'rescue' the victims, where sufficient information is obtained that an offence or attempted offence of human trafficking has taken place.<sup>410</sup> Similarly, if credible information is obtained that an offence or attempted offence of human trafficking has taken place in a public area, law enforcement officers of a specified rank are required to 'rescue' the victims as part of the operation.<sup>411</sup> Further, if a danger to a trafficking victim exists, community-based human trafficking identification teams are required to seek assistance from the respective police force and to refer the matter to a 'township group on the prevention of trafficking in persons.'<sup>412</sup>

No mandatory identification and referral procedures could be located in the anti-trafficking legislation of **Brunei Darussalam** or **Singapore**. In Singapore, whilst the anti-trafficking legislation grants the Director-General of Social Welfare the power to provide temporary shelter and counselling services to trafficking victims,<sup>413</sup> this is not a mandatory obligation. The law is silent on duties and/or procedures for identification and referral of both adult and child trafficking victims.

Requirements to report violence against and abuse of children exist to some degree in all ASEAN Member States, though the laws vary in terms of their coverage, detail and specificity. In **Cambodia**, under Article 530 of the Criminal Law, it is an offence for a person with knowledge of mistreatment or sexual abuse against a child under the age of 15 years, to fail to inform the court or administrative authority. The offence is punishable by imprisonment of up to three years and a fine.<sup>414</sup> In **Indonesia**, the role of the 'community' to report violations of the rights of the child to the authorities is acknowledged in the law.<sup>415</sup> 'Community' for this purpose includes individuals, child protection institutions, social welfare institutions, community organisations, educational institutions, 'mass media' and 'the business world'.<sup>416</sup> Similarly, under Article 60 of Indonesia's Anti-Trafficking Law, the 'community' is required to 'participate' in assisting in the prevention of trafficking cases to law enforcement authorities or authorised officials.<sup>417</sup> **Viet Nam's** Child Law places responsibility on agencies, organisations, schools, families and individuals to provide information on, report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> Vietnam, Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011, Article 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> Vietnam, Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011, Article 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 11(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Section 19(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> Cambodia, Criminal Code 2009, Article 530.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 72(3)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 72(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> Indonesia, Anti-Trafficking Law 2007, Article 60(2).

and denounce cases where children are abused or in danger of violence, exploitation or abandonment to the competent authorities (the Division of Labour, War Invalids and Social Affairs, police and commune-level People's Committees). These agencies must then investigate accordingly.<sup>418</sup> There is a further provision requiring parents, teachers and medical professionals to report cases of abuse or threatened abuse to the relevant authorities.<sup>419</sup> The **Philippines'** Child and Youth Welfare Code<sup>420</sup> provides that it is the community's duty to cooperate with private and public welfare agencies in providing care, training and protection to destitute, abandoned, neglected, abused, handicapped and disturbed children.<sup>421</sup> It also imposes a duty to report abandonment. Where a child's parent or guardian is dead or if living, has abandoned the child, or has left the child with another person or a licensed child placement agency or hospital for six months or more, Article 161 of the Child and Welfare Code provides that this fact shall be reported immediately to the Department of Social Welfare.<sup>422</sup> Hospital, clinics and other institutions receiving a child suspected of suffering maltreatment, abuse or exploitation of an employed child also have the duty to report.<sup>423</sup> The Code also provides that where a report is made in good faith, the person or organisation and other entities shall be free from any civil or criminal legal liability.<sup>424</sup>

**Malaysia's** Child Act covers the referral of children in need of care and protection (defined as including harm/abuse or substantial risk of harm/abuse; abandonment – or otherwise being without parents; and being the victim of a number of offences including kidnapping, abduction, slavery and forced labour). Section 19 of the Child Act provides that protectors (which include social welfare officers and police officers) must take a child in need of care and protection to the court within 24 hours of the time that a child is removed to a place of safety.<sup>425</sup> Similar obligations are placed on protectors who believe that a child is in need of protection and rehabilitation under Part IV of the Child Act. These include children who have been brought into or are to be sent out of Malaysia for the purposes of sexual exploitation and where the custody of the child has been purchased or obtained by fraud.<sup>426</sup> Under Section 27 of the Child Act, there is a duty on a medical officer or registered medical practitioner examining or treating a child to inform a Social Welfare Officer where he or she believes on reasonable grounds that the child is physically or emotionally injured as a result of being ill-treated, neglected, abandoned or exposed, or is sexually abused.<sup>427</sup> Failure to inform is a criminal offence.<sup>428</sup>

Similarly, **Brunei Darussalam's** Children and Young Person's Act empowers any protector or police officer who is satisfied on reasonable grounds that a child is need of protection to, without warrant and with such assistance by such force as is necessary, enter any premises to take the child into temporary custody and commit the child to a place of safety, unless the protector or police officer is satisfied that the taking of proceedings in relation to the child is undesirable in his/her best interests or that proceedings are about to be taken by some other person.<sup>429</sup> As a general rule, the child must then be brought before the Juvenile Court within three working days to make a determination of whether or not the child is in need of protection and, if so, make a protection order.<sup>430</sup> Medical officers have an obligation to immediately notify a protector or police officer where child protection concern arises, namely, where the medical officer believes that a child who has

<sup>426</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 38.

<sup>428</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 27(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 100(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup>The Philippines, Presidential Decree No 603, Children and Youth Welfare Code, 1974.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> The Philippines, Presidential Decree No 603, Children and Youth Welfare Code, 1974, Article 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> The Philippines, Presidential Decree No 603, Children and Youth Welfare Code, 1974, Article 161.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> The Philippines, Presidential Decree No 603, Children and Youth Welfare Code, 1974, Article 166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup> The Philippines, Presidential Decree No 603, Children and Youth Welfare Code, 1974, Article 167.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Although a child in need of medical attention can be taken to a medical officer for appropriate examination and treatment before being brought before the court (ss. 20 and 25 Child Act).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> Malaysia, Child Act 2001, Section 27(1). The duty to inform is extended to members of the family under Article 28 and child care providers under Article 2, with the same criminal liability for failure to comply.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 17(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 17.

been examined or treated has been physically or emotionally injured as a result of being ill-treated, neglected, abandoned or exposed.<sup>431</sup> Similar obligations are imposed on the child's family members and child care centres, with additional grounds for reasonable belief that the child has been sexual abused.<sup>432</sup> Failure to do so is a criminal offence.<sup>433</sup> However, where the child is treated by a private medical officer, referral of the child to a Government medical officer is regarded to be sufficient for the private medical officer to discharge the reporting obligation.<sup>434</sup>

Lao PDR has a state network to assist and protect children that comprises representatives from village authorities, police, village organisations, teachers, doctors and child-care centres. Included within this network's responsibilities are activating emergency measures to remove children from a precarious situation and reporting that situation immediately to the Committee for Protection and Assistance for Children.<sup>435</sup> Additionally, the Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children provides that any person or organisation that is aware of any child in need of special protection must notify the Committee (or an investigation authority if it is a criminal offence). There are also obligations under Article 29 of the Law on Preventing and Combatting Violence against Women and Children 2014 on all individuals (as well as legal entities and organisations) to provide protection and assistance to victims of violence. These obligations include reporting incidents of violence to one of a number of institutions (including the village authorities, the Child Protection and Assistance Network, the Committee for Protection and Assistance of Children or the police). Doctors, other health care professionals, teachers, care givers or other professionals must report cases of violence against women and children to their own organization or the police. Such organisations must cooperate with the Child Protection and Assistance Network or Committee for Protection and Assistance of Children to intervene in protecting and assisting children promptly. Failure to assist a child victim of serious violence can result in criminal responsibility under the Penal Code.<sup>436</sup> Finally, under Article 10 of the Decree on the Adoption of Children 2014, there is an obligation on individuals or organisations to report to 'village administrative authorities, Labour and Social Welfare sector or other concerned sector' if they become aware of a child who is without parents or other care or who has been neglected, abandoned, orphaned or exploited. The authorities must then provide 'primary assistance' and conduct an assessment of the child and family circumstances before considering alternative care arrangements.

In **Myanmar**, the Child Rights Law contains a non-mandatory provision for the referral of children believed to be in need of care and protection to the social welfare officer. As set out in Part 4.1, children in need of care and protection includes several categories of children under which children affected by migration may fall.<sup>437</sup> The social welfare officer is then required to investigate whether the child is in fact in need of care and protection and to submit the findings the Department of Social Welfare.<sup>438</sup> If it becomes clear from the social investigation that an offence has been committed against the child, the social welfare officer must report the matter to the police station.<sup>439</sup>

**Thailand's** Child Protection Act contains two types of intervention: welfare assistance and safety protection. The categories of children who fall within the definition of children warranting welfare assistance or safety protection are set out in Part 4.1 above. Pursuant to Article 29 of the Child Protection Act, a person who finds a child in a situation that warrants welfare assistance or safety protection must provide basic assistance and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 23(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 25 and 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Sections 23(2), 25(2)-(3) and 26(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 23(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup>Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2007, Article 38 and, Decree on the Implementation of the Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2007, Articles 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Preventing and Combatting Violence against Women and Children 2014, Article 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 58(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 58(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 58(c).

notify a 'competent official' (appointed by the relevant ministry) or other person with responsibility to provide assistance and protection to children without delay.<sup>440</sup> Health officials, teachers and employers are under an obligation to report immediately to a competent official (or other person with specific duties) any suspicion of or knowledge that a child has been tortured or is sick due to 'unlawful care'. Article 30 permits a competent official to question a child (and detain him for up to 12 hours) to obtain information so as to arrange for assistance and protection. The competent official must consult with experts in social welfare and medicine before sending any child under his/her care to any remand home, welfare centre, safety protection centre or development and rehabilitation centre.<sup>441</sup> Certain local officials (including, for example, provincial governors, district chiefs and assistant district officer) also have the obligation to protect the safety of children living in areas under their jurisdiction and have the same duties as 'competent officials' under the Act.<sup>442</sup>

In **Singapore**, professionals and practitioners are only legally required to report child protection concerns in a narrow range of circumstances. The Children and Young Persons Act grants certain actors (the Director-General of Social Welfare, 'protectors'<sup>443</sup> or police officers of sergeant level or above<sup>444</sup>) with the power (not the obligation) to remove a child who they have reasonable grounds to believe is in need of care and protection for assessment by an approved professional<sup>445</sup> before placement in a place of temporary care and protection.<sup>446</sup> Any registered medical practitioner, psychologist or welfare officer who, in the course of their assessment of the child, develops a reasonable belief that the child is suffering harm resulting from ill-treatment, is obliged to report this to the actor who referred the child to the assessment.<sup>447</sup>

Finally, the juvenile justice laws of some of the focus countries contain referral requirements in the context of children suspected of committing offences. The juvenile justice law of **Cambodia** requires judicial police to refer children in need of care and protection to the social affairs department.<sup>448</sup> And the juvenile justice law of **Indonesia** places an obligation on investigators to seek the advice of a parole officer as soon as possible after an offence has been reported and, if considered necessary, to seek advice of psychologists, social workers and/or other relevant professionals.<sup>449</sup>

## 4.3 Unaccompanied or separated children affected by migration

# Do border and migration control officials have a legal obligation to make a child protection referral if they suspect that the child is unaccompanied or separated (UASC)?

Regarding unaccompanied and separated children moving across international borders, the CRC Committee recommends that States Parties should prioritise the 'identification of a child as separated or unaccompanied immediately upon arrival at ports of entry or as soon as their presence in the country becomes known to the authorities.'<sup>450</sup> This action is the necessary first step in the initial assessment of the child in order to determine the priority of the child's protection needs.<sup>451</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> Under Article 41, there is a requirement on anyone who has witnessed, or comes to know, that a child has been tortured to notify/report a competent official or person with a duty to protect a child under Article 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Article 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> Any public officer or other person who is appointed or authorised by the Director-General under section 3(3) to exercise the powers and perform the duties of a protector under this Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Person Act 1993, Section 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup> A registered medical practitioner, a psychologist or an approved welfare officer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Person Act 1993, Section 11(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Singapore, Children and Young Persons Act 1993, Section 12(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Cambodia, Law on Juvenile Justice 2016, Article 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Indonesia, Law on Juvenile Justice System 2012, Article 27.

<sup>450</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 31(i).

<sup>451</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 31(i).

Pursuant to Article 12 of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** on children affected by migration (which has yet to be adopted), the parties undertake to establish specialised procedures for unaccompanied or separated children in identification, referral, care and family reunification.

In relation to national laws, obligations on officials (and others) to make child protection referrals were outlined above. Only **Thailand** contains specific provisions relating to unaccompanied or separated migrant children.

In the **Philippines**, unaccompanied children who wish to be recognised as a refugee or stateless person must be referred to the appropriate government agency and/or NGO for their care, welfare including access to legal services, including the filing of an application with the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit. Unaccompanied non-national, non-resident children under the age of 15 who do not intend to claim refugee or stateless status and do not intend to join their parents, are considered excluded classes under the Immigration Act and will only be allowed to enter in the country at the discretion of the Commissioner of Immigration.<sup>452</sup> In these cases, there is no requirement to make a child protection referral.

In **Viet Nam**, it is expressly provided that children under 14 years of age who are without parents, guardians or authorised custodians can be refused entry into the country.<sup>453</sup> However, there are no specific provisions on making a child protection referral for such children and undertaking an initial assessment to identify their protection needs.

# To what extent are the provisions on family tracing and reunification (if any) in line with international standards?

Article 9(1) of the CRC requires States parties to ensure that a child is not separated from his or her parents against their will except where separation is necessary in the best interests of the child. In accordance with this obligation, States Parties are required to deal with applications by a child or his or her parents to enter or leave a State Party for the purpose of family reunification 'in a positive, humane and expeditious manner.' Article 22 of the CRC also requires States parties to cooperate with UN bodies and other organisations to protect and assist child asylum-seekers and refugees to trace his/her family, although note Thailand's reservation to Article 22 that the application of this provision shall be subject to the national laws, regulations and prevailing practices in Thailand. To implement these obligations with respect to unaccompanied or separated children in cross-border migration contexts, the CRC Committee recommends that States Parties should identify a 'durable solution' that addresses the child's protection needs, takes into account the child's views and 'wherever possible, leads to overcoming the situation of a child being unaccompanied or separated.'<sup>454</sup> Family tracing is an important part of identifying a durable solution for the child and considering the possibility of family reunification.<sup>455</sup> The CRC Committee recommends that family tracing 'should be prioritized except where the act of tracing, or the way in which tracing is conducted, would be contrary to the best interests of the child or jeopardize fundamental rights of those being traced.'456 This means that 'all efforts should be made to return [the child]...to his or her parents except where further separation is necessary for the best interests of the child, taking full account of the right of the child to express his or her views.'457

The bilateral agreements contain brief provisions on family tracing and reunification. In Article 12 of the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** (which has yet to be adopted), the parties agree to establish specialised procedures for family reunification in respect of unaccompanied or separated children and use such procedures only after a best interests determination has been undertaken, taking account of the right to family life and family unity. The parties also undertake (under Article 21) to 'encourage the expedition' of family

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> The Philippines, Commonwealth Act 613, Immigration Act of 1940, Section 29 (12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Entry, Exit, Transit and Residence of Foreigners in Viet Nam 2000, Article 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 81.

tracing and reunification of such children. Under Article 17 of the Lao PDR-Thailand Trafficking MOU on trafficking, the parties agree to implement measures to reunite trafficking victims with their families and society safely and effectively, with the aim of restoring their dignity and well-being. It requires parties to take account of the victim's age and gender, acting in the best interests of the child in the reintegration process, and closely monitor, manage and oversee (by the exchange of information) reintegration.

Of the national laws and related documents reviewed, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** have the most comprehensive provisions on family tracing and reunification that are broadly in line with international standards. In Thailand, these provisions are found mainly in an immigration-related instrument; in Viet Nam, they are contained in the child protection and anti-trafficking laws. The child protection laws of **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Myanmar** and the **Philippines** contain some provisions regarding family reunification, as do the anti-trafficking instruments of **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia** and **Cambodia**. The **Philippines**' Special Protection of Children in Situations of Armed Conflict Act also contains provisions regarding family reunification. <sup>458</sup> These go some way to meeting international standards but are not comprehensive in terms of the categories of children covered or steps that must be taken. No relevant provisions were found in **Singapore's** laws.

In **Thailand**, Article 6.7 of the standard operating procedures under the MOU on Alternatives to Detention refers to seeking durable solutions in the context of reintegration into the family and society. It provides that where children or their family are 'persons of concern' (as verified by UNHCR),<sup>459</sup> the Immigration Bureau must collaborate with the UNHCR to arrange for resettlement to a third country where appropriate, voluntary repatriation to the country of origin, or reunification with family in the country of origin or a third country. In the case of unaccompanied or separated children who are 'persons of concern', the Immigration Bureau must coordinate with the UNHCR and ICRC to trace the family to reunite the child with his or her parents in the country of origin or a third country. Where unaccompanied or separated children are not 'persons of concern' the Immigration Bureau must coordinate with the DCY to trace the family and return the child to the country of origin or a third country. Article 4 of the standard operating procedures provides that the best interests of the child must be a primary consideration in all decisions affecting the child and that the child's opinion must be heard and considered.

The anti-trafficking laws of **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia** and **Viet Nam** contain some provisions on family reunification. **Indonesia**'s anti-trafficking law provides that a trafficking victim is entitled to receive 'social reintegration' from the government, which must be provided within 7 days of a request.<sup>460</sup> The Elucidation of the Anti-Trafficking Law clarifies that 'social reintegration' includes the reunification of a trafficking victim with his/her family or a foster family which can provide protection to and meet the needs of the victim.<sup>461</sup>

In **Lao PDR**, Article 50 of the Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons addresses reintegration assistance provided to victims. It provides that the national committee on anti-trafficking in persons will cooperate with local authorities where the victim lives to trace the family and relatives and assess the preparedness of both the family and victim for the return of the victim to the family. Where the victim cannot be returned, other options for further assistance will be explored. The Guidelines on Protection and Referral of Trafficking Victims confirms that the victim will only be reintegrated into their families following an assessment and where it is considered 'suitable' to return them. Additionally, follow-up monitoring is conducted to monitor the reintegration and ensure further assistance as required.

**Malaysia's** Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act provides that a parent, guardian or relative of a trafficked person who is a citizen or permanent resident of Malaysia and who is in a place of refuge can apply to court to have that person placed in their custody.<sup>462</sup> A protection officer must report to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> The Philippines, Republic Law No 111888 (2019), Chapter II, Section 7(m).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> Note that the standard operating procedures do not define 'persons of concern.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> Indonesia, Anti-Trafficking Law 2007, Articles 51(1) and 52(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> Indonesia, Elucidation of the Anti-Trafficking Law 2011, Article 51(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Section 53(1).

the court after conducting a review of the trafficked person, his/her family, the status of the investigation and other relevant factors to enable the court to determine the application in the best interests of the trafficked person.<sup>463</sup> If it is deemed to be in his/her best interests, the court can commit the person into the care and protection of the parent, guardian or relative (with any specified conditions) or require the trafficked person to be placed under the supervision of a protection officer.<sup>464</sup>

In **Viet Nam**, in child trafficking cases (provided that the victim has the relevant documentation proving their victim status), the Division on Labour, War Invalids and Social Affairs must arrange for the return of the child to his/her relatives unless the child requires health or psychological care or expresses the desire to remain in a care institution.<sup>465</sup>

No specific provisions relating to family tracing and reunification were found in **Cambodia**'s legislation. The Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007 refer to the right for trafficking victims residing in shelters to communicate with family and friends (unless it is suspected that the persons in question were involved in the trafficking).<sup>466</sup> They also contain provisions on the reintegration of victims into society, specifying that, in the case of child victims, the shelter must confirm the details of the child's guardian(s) on reintegration, the place where the victim will live and the follow-up, monitoring and evaluation procedure. The shelter must also arrange the involvement of a parent or relative in the rehabilitation and reintegration process where possible.<sup>467</sup> Similarly, in the Philippines, the Anti-Trafficking Rules and Regulations 2003 provide that the Department of Social Welfare and Development, local government units and other concerned agencies shall provide a comprehensive, gender-sensitive and child friendly programme for the recovery and reintegration of trafficked victims but does not specifically refer to family tracing.<sup>468</sup>

The child protection laws of **Brunei Darussalam**, **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, **Myanmar**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** also contain some relevant provisions, although, with the exception of Indonesia, these are fairly brief. In **Brunei Darussalam**, a child (defined as 0-13 years) or young person (defined as 14-17 years) who has no guardian, or who has been abandoned by their guardian, is only regarded as in need of protection if 'after reasonable inquiries, the guardian cannot be found and no other suitable person is willing and able to care for him',<sup>469</sup> suggesting that family tracing should be undertaken before the child is regarded as in need of protection on these grounds. Family tracing is also reinforced by Article 57(3)-(4) of the Children and Young Person's guardian the opportunity to attend and be heard, unless the guardian, having been required to attend, fails to attend or cannot be found within a reasonable time.<sup>470</sup> In **Lao PDR**, a child has the right not to be separated from parents unless necessary to protect the child's interests<sup>471</sup> and, where separated, should be returned to their parents or guardians where appropriate.<sup>472</sup> Pursuant to Article 33 of **Myanmar's** Child Rights Law, the Department of Social Welfare must ensure that the removal of children from their family environment is temporary and of the shortest possible duration unless permanent removal is in their best interests and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Section 53(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2007, Section 53(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011, Article 24(3) and 25(2). This also applies where trafficked victims are returned from other countries to Viet Nam.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> Cambodia, Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support Agencies in Cases of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 76. Note that monitoring, follow-up and evaluation is not applicable to foreign victims who have returned to their home country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> The Philippines, Rules and Regulations Implementing Republic Act No 9208 2022, Section 33. See also Sections 17(b)(iii) and (iv), Section 19(e), 20(d)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 2(2)(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Children and Young Persons Act, Revised Edition 2012, Chapter 219, Section 57(3)-(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup>Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Articles 40 and 41.

regularly review a child's alternative care programme to 'reassess the possibility of entrusting them back to their family', implying that family tracing for separated and unaccompanied children is necessary. Further details are contained within the Minimum Standards of Care and Protection for Children in Residential Facilities guidelines, which state that family tracing shall be carried out for children in residential facilities, with family reintegration being the 'prime target',<sup>473</sup> though this does not require family tracing at the outset for separated and unaccompanied migrant children. Trafficking victims who are repatriated to Myanmar must also be reunited with their parents or guardians if that is 'the best condition for them'.<sup>474</sup> Under **Thailand's** Child Protection Act, where the authorities have been notified of a child warranting welfare assistance or safety protection, the aim is to facilitate the return of children to their parents or guardians following 'tracing and observation' of the child's family to determine whether this would be appropriate or what safety measures may be required.<sup>475</sup>

The child protection provisions of Viet Nam and Indonesia are particularly relevant to the context of children affected by migration. The laws of Viet Nam and Indonesia protect the right of the child to be cared for by his/her parents and not to be separated from them except in certain circumstances and when in the best interests of the child.<sup>476</sup> Both countries' laws cover situations where parents reside in different countries or are detained. Pursuant to Indonesia's Law on Child Protection, separation includes situations where a child's parents have left Indonesia to work abroad or where the child's parents are detained or imprisoned.<sup>477</sup> The law provides that, where separated, the child has the right to meet in person and have regular contact with his/her parents.<sup>478</sup> However, there are no specific provisions in the primary legislation regarding family reunification. Regulations on the implementation of child care do, however, provide for family reunification where children have been cared for by foster parents or social institutions. The process is facilitated by social workers or social welfare personnel and conducted in the best interests of the child.<sup>479</sup> In Viet Nam, Article 23 of the Child Law provides for the right for the child to 'stay in touch or contact' with both parents where they or their parent(s) reside(s) in different countries or are detained or expelled'. Article 23 further provides that children must 'have their immigration facilitated to be united with their parent(s)' and 'are protected from illegal transport to the outside of the territory of Viet Nam and provided with information when their parent(s) is (are) missing'. Article 36 stipulates that stateless children residing in the territory of Viet Nam and refugee children are entitled to search for their parents and families as regulated by the law of Viet Nam and the international agreements to which the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam is a signatory.'

### 4.4 Non-refoulement and return to country of origin

#### Are the provisions on return of a child affected by migration in line with international standards?

Under refugee law,<sup>480</sup> States are prohibited from returning a refugee where his/her life or freedom would be threatened on account of the person's race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion. There are very limited exceptions to this principle (where there are reasonable grounds for regarding the refugee as a danger to the security of the country, or where the refugee has been convicted by a final judgment of a particularly serious crime and constitutes a danger to the community of the country in

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup> Myanmar, Minimum Standards of Care and Protection for Children in Residential Facilities September 2017, Article 37
 <sup>474</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 23(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> Thailand, Child Protection Act 2003, Articles 35 and 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 22 (which also provides that children must be assisted to stay in contact with their parent(s) and family, unless this might cause adverse influence on their best interests'); Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Article 14, and Law Concerning Human Rights 1947, Articles 56 and 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Elucidation of Article 14(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 14(2)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> Indonesia, Government regulation no. 44 year 2017 Concerning Implementation of Child Care, Articles 13 and 35. See also the National Standard of Care for Child Welfare Institutions, chapter IV (pp. 47 and 61).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> Refugee Convention 1951 (and customary international law), Article 33(1)-(2).

which he/she is in), which should be applied with utmost caution.<sup>481</sup> There is also a non-refoulement provision in the Convention against Torture which prevents the return or extradition of a person to another State where the person would be in danger of being subjected to torture.<sup>482</sup> Under international child rights law, a child affected by migration must not be returned to his or her country of origin if the principle of refoulement applies, namely, 'where there are substantial grounds for believing that there is a real risk of irreparable harm to the child,' either in the country to which the child will be removed or in any other country to which the child may subsequently be removed, or there is a 'reasonable risk' that such return would result in the violation of fundamental human rights of the child.<sup>483</sup> Return to the country of origin must only be arranged if it is in the best interests of the child.<sup>484</sup> Additionally, where the parents or members of the extended family are unable to provide care, a child should not be returned, in principle, without 'advance secure and concrete arrangements of care and custodial responsibilities upon return to the country of origin.'<sup>485</sup>

Two of the bilateral agreements reviewed contain provisions on the return of children but neither contains an express prohibition on refoulement. Article 16 of the Lao PDR-Thailand Trafficking MOU on trafficking provides for the parties to work closely together on repatriation, arranging the return of victims with consideration for their safety and dignity. It also includes duties to notify relevant authorities in the country to which the victim is being returned and to repatriate victims in accordance with the MOU rather than pursuant to immigration law procedures. The final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU contains provisions regarding the repatriation (and reintegration) of children affected by migration.<sup>486</sup> It refers to ensuring the 'safe and timely repatriation' of children, with advanced notification of the relevant authorities to arrange repatriation, and confirms that children will be repatriated through coordination of relevant agencies in each country and in accordance with the provision of the MOU (although it does not refer to immigration law procedures). Thailand and Myanmar agree to develop bilateral standard operating procedures on the management of cases and repatriation of children affected by migration, with the standard operating procedures guided by the best interests of the child and being in accordance with the laws of both countries. Under Article 20, the parties undertake to make 'all possible efforts towards the safe and effective reintegration of children', and Article 21 provides that they shall 'encourage the expedition' of each stage of the repatriation process (identification, family tracing, assessment, national verification, repatriation and reunification). The parties further agree to establish joint protection teams which will assist with, and 'provide security, safety and dignity' in, the repatriation process.<sup>487</sup>

As outlined in Part 3.1.1, the immigration laws of all ASEAN Member States provide for the deportation of non-citizens in the event of illegal entry. However, some of the laws (such as that of **Cambodia**<sup>488</sup> and **Lao PDR**<sup>489</sup>) expressly provide that deportation procedures will comply with international treaties to which the State is party. Of all the ASEAN Member States, only **Cambodia** and the **Philippines** have ratified both the Refugee Convention and the Convention against Torture and are thus bound by the prohibition on refoulement under these conventions. **Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia, Myanmar** and **Singapore** have not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> United Nations, Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, United Nations, 28<sup>th</sup> July 1951 (the Refugee Convention), Article 33(1)-(2); UNHCR, Note on Non-Refoulement, EC/SCP/2, 23 August 1977, para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> United Nations, Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, United Nations, 10th December 1984, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), paras 27 and 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> MOU between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar on Strengthening the Cooperation to Protect Children Affected by Migration, adopted on 20 February 2020, Articles 17-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> MOU between the Government of the Kingdom of Thailand and the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar on Strengthening the Cooperation to Protect Children Affected by Migration, adopted on 20 February 2020, Article 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> Cambodia, Law on Immigration 1994, Articles 29 and 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management 2015, Article 56.

ratified either convention, and the remaining States (Indonesia, Lao PDR, Thailand and Viet Nam) have ratified/acceded to the Convention against Torture only. All ASEAN Member States are party to the CRC and are thus bound by its provisions, which enshrines a prohibition against torture in Article 37(a), although note the reservations and declarations of Malaysia and Singapore, particularly to Article 37 (see Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States for details). However, the principle of non-refoulement is regarded as a principle of customary international law<sup>490</sup> to which all ASEAN Member States are bound under international law, regardless of whether or not they have ratified the Refugee Convention or Convention against Torture. It has also been argued that non-refoulement has acquired the status of *jus cogens* (i.e. a peremptory norm of international law from which no derogation is permitted.<sup>491</sup> In no ASEAN State are the national laws fully in line with their international obligations in this regard.

In 2022, in line the non-refoulement principle in CAT, **Thailand** passed a new law, the Act to Prevent and Suppress Torture and Enforced Disappearance, Article 13 of which provides that, *"No government organizations or public officials shall expel, deport, or extradite a person to another country where there are substantial grounds for believing that the person would be in danger of torture, cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment, or enforced disappearance."*. The Act entered into force in February 2023. However, on February 14, 2023, the Thai government approved a decree to postpone the enforcement of key articles 22 to 25 of the Act<sup>492</sup>.

**Cambodia**, **Indonesia**, the **Philippines** and **Thailand** have specific provisions relating to the return of refugees (although Thailand does not use this term), with Cambodia expressly prohibiting refoulement in the context of asylum. Article 23 of **Cambodia**'s Sub-decree on Refugee Status 2009 provides that a refugee 'shall not be expelled or returned in any manner whatsoever to the frontiers of territories where his or her life, freedom or rights would be threatened on account of his or her race, religion, nationality, membership of a social group or particular political opinion', which accords with the Refugee Convention. No other provisions were found in the Cambodian legislation reviewed, however, that would respect international standards on return of migrant children in other contexts.

**Indonesia's** Law on Child Protection provides that *pengungsi* (as one of the categories of children in 'emergency situations') must be afforded special protection in accordance with humanitarian law, <sup>493</sup> although, as mentioned previously, contrary to its ordinary meaning, this term is sometimes interpreted in practice by officials to refer solely to internally displaced children. Further, Article 3 of Presidential Regulation 125/2016 provides that Indonesia's handling of refugees must 'observe generally applied' international law and be in accordance with laws and regulations. However, there is no express prohibition on refoulement in any of the laws reviewed and only two durable solutions are presented in the Regulation: voluntary repatriation/return or resettlement in a third country. Permanent local settlement is thus not envisaged. Voluntary repatriation is referred to in Articles 29 and 38 as 'voluntary return... in accordance with the prevailing laws and regulations' and a clear procedure for voluntary return (including receipt of request from the refugee to be voluntarily returned) is provided in Article 38.<sup>494</sup> However, Article 43 suggests that return can be involuntary for refugees whose applications receive a final rejection from UNHCR as it refers to the 'return of refugees whose applications are rejected at first instance and are finally rejected'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> UNHCR, Advisory Opinion on the Extraterritorial Application of *Non-Refoulement* Obligations under the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and its 1967 Protocol, UNHCR, Geneva, 26 January 2007, para. 15, <<u>https://www.unhcr.org/4d9486929.pdf</u>>, accessed 12 July 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Allain, Jean., 'The jus cogens Nature of non-refoulement', *International Journal of Refugee Law*, Volume 13, Issue 4, October 2001, pp. 533–558.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> See: <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2023/02/15/thailand-law-torture-disappearance-delayed</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (amended in 2017), Articles 59 to 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> A similar process is outlined in Article 37 for resettlement in a third country except that the resettlement is made following receipt of notice from the UNHCR rather than request from the refugee.

The **Philippines'** Department of Justice Circular 024 of 2022 provides that the refugee and stateless status determination procedure shall be governed by the principle of non-refoulement.<sup>495</sup> From the time of filing an application for refugee or stateless status, until the final decision, an applicant 'has protection from any forcible return in any manner whatsoever, to a country where he or she may face persecution on account of his race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group of political opinion'.<sup>496</sup>

**Thailand's** MOU on Alternatives to Detention addresses the return of children, but does not contain any express prohibition on refoulement. Rather, it provides that children will be returned to their country of origin or a third country 'in a safe and dignified manner and under the relevant international criteria'.<sup>497</sup> The standard operating procedures under the MOU set out more detail on the return of children. The Immigration Bureau is required to coordinate with the embassy of the country of origin, international organisations and private or civil society organizations for the 'safe and voluntary repatriation to the country of origin, resettlement to a third country, and identifying any durable solution for children and their family based on their situation'.<sup>498</sup> As indicated in Part 4.3, the UNHCR (and ICRC where children are unaccompanied or separated) must be involved in the process where children or their family are 'persons of concern', and it is stipulated that the best interests of the child must be a primary consideration in any decision taken.

Anti-trafficking legislation in **Indonesia**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** address the return of trafficking victims, the focus generally being on facilitating the return, without delay, of the victim to their country of origin. None of the laws contain an explicit prohibition on refoulement, but all stress consideration of the safety of the victim.

- In **Viet Nam**, Article 55 of the Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking provides that the Vietnamese government shall take the necessary measures to facilitate the repatriation of foreign victims and protect the life, health, honour and dignity of victims.
- In **Indonesia**, the Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking provides that, where a trafficking victim is a foreign national, the Indonesian government must 'make efforts' to provide protection and facilitate return to the country of origin through coordination with the country's representative in Indonesia in accordance with international law.<sup>499</sup> It further provides for 'return assistance' but clarifies that this must be provided only where the victim is willing to return home and that there is no greater risk awaiting the victim.<sup>500</sup>
- Under Malaysia's Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act, a foreign national who had been trafficked but who has valid documents and is employed must be released. In any other case, all necessary steps must be taken to return a trafficked person to his/her country of origin 'without unnecessary delay, with due regard for his safety'.<sup>501</sup> This may include a court order to place the trafficked person in a place of refuge for his/her care and protection or to manage his/her repatriation.<sup>502</sup> The National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons lists as one its objectives the safe repatriation of trafficking victims to their home country and to also ensure the best interests of the child when making decisions on repatriation of child victims.<sup>503</sup>
- Whilst **Myanmar's** Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law contains obligations for 'placing high regard for [the]... security' of trafficking victims during repatriation, it only does so with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular 024 of 2022, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular 024 of 2022, 2022, Section 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> Thailand, MOU on Alternatives to Detention 2019, para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> Thailand, SOP under the MOU on Alternatives to Detention 2019, para. 6.7.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> Indonesia, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 54. Note that Indonesia, Law on Immigration 2011, Article 88, provides for the immediate return of victims of trafficking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> Indonesia, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking (and elucidation) 2007, Article 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2015, Section 54(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2015, Section 54(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> Malaysia National Action Plan on Anti-Trafficking in Persons, p. 69.

reference to repatriation *to* Myanmar and not to cases where Myanmar is repatriating an individual from Myanmar to another country.<sup>504</sup>

• Thailand's Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act provides that a trafficked person must be returned to their country of residence/domicile 'without delay' unless the person has been permitted to remain in Thailand, but that the security and welfare of the person will be taken into account in this process.<sup>505</sup> It also contains provisions confirming coordination with government or private agencies to ensure 'safety protection' for the trafficked person and family members, where the person has been returned to the country of residence/domicile, although this appears to be applicable where proceedings are being taken against an offender.<sup>506</sup> There are further protections for trafficked persons in operational guidelines. An MOU on Operations between State Agencies and Non-Governmental Organizations Engaged in Addressing Trafficking in Children and Women 2003 stipulates that, where children and women are to be repatriated, embassies and consulates of the country of return will be contacted to confirm the repatriation and inform relevant agencies in that country to take over responsibility for the protection, care, rehabilitation and accommodation of children and women. It further provides that, where repatriation of children (and women) to their country of origin/residence will 'threaten their lives', the UNHCR must be contacted to provide assistance.

#### **Recommendations:**

- Consider removing the reservation to Article 22 of the CRC [Thailand].
- Extend the application of the Child Law to all persons up to the age of 18 [Viet Nam].
- Amend the Child Protection Law to clarify that 'children in emergency situations' who are entitled to special protection include children who seeking asylum and refugee children [Indonesia].
- Consider including specific provisions in child protection laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of the child's or his/her parent's migration status.
- Include provisions specifically in immigration laws/regulations requiring child protection referrals for children in need of care and protection [Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Singapore and Viet Nam].
- Incorporate into law provisions for screening by immigration officials to identify children as separated or unaccompanied and to refer them to the child protection system.
- Include provisions prioritising family tracing and reunification (where this is in the best interests of the child) for unaccompanied or separated children in all contexts [Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines and Singapore].
- Include express prohibition on refoulement and prohibition on return where there is risk of irreparable harm or that the return will result in the violation of the rights of the child, in respect of all children, including children affected by migration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Chapter 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Thailand, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008, Section 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> Thailand, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008, Section 36.

## 5 Asylum

	Party to Refugee Convention	Party to Refugee Status Protocol	Recognition of child asylum- seekers and refugees	Definition of refugee/asylum- seeker in line with international standards	Recognition of non- refoulement principle
Brunei					
Cambodia					
Indonesia					
Lao PDR					
Malaysia					
Myanmar					
Philippines					
Thailand					
Singapore					
Viet Nam					

#### Is the ASEAN State a party to the Refugee Convention 1951 and Refugee Status Protocol 1967?

Only **Cambodia** and the **Philippines** have acceded to the Refugee Convention 1951 and Refugee Status Protocol 1967. However, all of the ASEAN Member States have ratified the CRC and are therefore bound by the obligations under Article 22 concerning the right of children seeking refugee status to receive appropriate humanitarian protection, although **Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia**, **Singapore** and **Thailand** have issued reservations and declarations to its CRC obligations. In particular, Singapore has reserved 'the right to apply such legislation and conditions concerning the entry into, stay in and departure from the Republic of Singapore of those who do not or who no longer have the right under the laws of the Republic of Singapore, to enter and remain in the Republic of Singapore, and to the acquisition and possession of citizenship, as it may deem necessary from time to time and in accordance with the laws of the Republic of Singapore.' Similarly, **Thailand** has entered a specific reservation that Article 22 shall be subject to its 'national laws, regulations and prevailing practices', although processes are reportedly underway within Thailand to consider withdrawing this reservation.<sup>507</sup> See Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States for details.

# Does the national law recognise child asylum-seekers and refugees and, if so, to what extent are the definitions in line with international standards?

Article 1A(2) of the Refugee Convention defines a refugee as someone who is unable or unwilling to return to their country of origin owing to a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion. This includes children who meet the definition of refugee. The Refugee Convention also establishes criteria by which persons may be excluded from international protection or cease to have refugee status.<sup>508</sup> An asylum-seeker is an individual who is seeking international protection.<sup>509</sup>

Only **Cambodia**, **Indonesia** and the **Philippines** recognise asylum-seekers and refugees as a distinct category of migrants under their national legal frameworks. In Cambodia and Indonesia, there is no specific legislation dealing with the rights of 'child' asylum-seekers and refugees. Rather, the State's obligations are found in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> UNICEF EAPRO, written communication to Coram International received 11 July 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> Refugee Convention 1951, Articles 1C and 1F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> UNHCR, *Master Glossary of Terms*, <<u>www.unhcr.org/glossary/#a</u>>, accessed 21 January 2022.

legislation addressing refugees in general and in the legislation relating to the protection of children. In the **Philippines**, however, the Department of Justice Circular O24 of 2022 provides specifically for unaccompanied children seeking refugee or stateless status,<sup>510</sup> requires that such children should be provided with the right to be heard<sup>511</sup> and provides that the best interests of the child are to be the primary consideration.<sup>512</sup> In line with international standards, 'persons of concern,' who include but are not limited to asylum seekers, refugees, stateless applicants and stateless persons, are granted rights<sup>513</sup> and, if granted refugee or statelessness status, the applicant and family members will have "the rights and privileges accorded by the Conventions<sup>514</sup> subject to Philippine laws, rules and regulations".<sup>515</sup>

The Constitutions of both **Lao PDR**<sup>516</sup> and **Viet Nam**<sup>517</sup> refer to asylum. However, the Vietnamese Constitution provides only that Viet Nam 'may consider' granting asylum in certain circumstances, and the provisions in neither constitution adopt the same definition of refugees as the Refugee Convention. No further provisions for granting asylum or refugee status and any associated protection were found in other legislation reviewed for these jurisdictions. In **Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia, Myanmar, Singapore** and **Thailand**, no distinction is made between asylum-seekers and refugees and other groups of migrants. As noted above, Thailand has a reservation in respect of Article 22 of the CRC and there are no provisions of national law that provide for the express protection of refugee children. In Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia and Thailand, asylum-seekers and refugees (including children) are treated as undocumented migrants (and thus liable to the sanctions set out in Part 3.1 above), and no legal route exists in these countries for asylum-seekers to be granted refugee status. However, whilst there is no formal legal framework in Thailand allowing for the determination and granting of refugee status, in December 2019, the Thai cabinet is reported to have approved in principle the establishment of a screening mechanism to distinguish persons in need of protection from economic migrants.<sup>518</sup> Further, as set out in Part 4 above, there are specific provisions addressing 'persons of concern' in the MOU on Alternatives to Detention.

**Cambodia** provides for the granting of refugee status, and the definition of refugee in the Sub-decree on Refugee Status of 2009 is in line with international standards. Pursuant to the Sub-decree, children (and other family members) who are dependents of an applicant for refugee status are entitled to the same rights and subject to the same obligations as the applicant.<sup>519</sup> If granted refugee status, the refugee has the same rights and obligations as a legal immigrant.

<sup>512</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular O24 2022, Rule IX Section 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular O24 2022, Rule IX, Section 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> The Philippines, Department of Justice Circular O24 2022, Rule IX, Section 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Rule 1, Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> The UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees 1951, its 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees; the UN Convention Relating to the Status of Stateless Persons and the 1961 UN Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness and other relevant international instruments to which the Philippines is a party.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup> Rule IV, Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Article 51 provides that asylum will be granted to foreigners 'who are persecuted for their struggle for freedom, justice, peace and scientific causes'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> Article 49 provides that Viet Nam may consider granting asylum to '[f]oreign nationals who are persecuted for taking part in the struggle for freedom and national independence, for socialism, democracy and peace, or for engaging in scientific pursuits'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> UNHCR, *UNHCR welcomes Thai Cabinet approval of national screening mechanism*, 16 December 2019, <<u>www.unhcr.org/th/en/16791-unhcr-welcomes-thai-cabinet-approval-of-national-screening-mechanism.html</u>>, accessed 21 January 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> Cambodia, Sub-decree on Procedure for Recognition as a Refugee or Providing Asylum Rights to Foreigners in the Kingdom of Cambodia 2009, Article 9.

In **Indonesia**, Article 28G of the 1945 Constitution of the Republic of Indonesia acknowledges the right to seek and be granted asylum<sup>520</sup> and, under the Law on Child Protection, *pengungsi* are included within the definition of children in emergency situations and are to be afforded special protection in accordance with humanitarian law.<sup>521</sup> However, as noted in Part 4.1, interpretations of the term, *pengungsi*, vary among officials, with some interpreting it to refer solely to 'internally displaced persons' and not also to 'refugees'.<sup>522</sup> Despite this, the main legislation that defines and regulates the status of refugees is Presidential Regulation 125/2016. Although Indonesia has not ratified the Refugee Convention, Article 1.1 of Regulation 125/2016 adopts the definition of refugees from the Refugee Convention. Under the Presidential Regulation, child refugees are expressly recognised as '*refugees with special needs*'<sup>523</sup> and are accorded special treatment as outlined in Parts **3.3** and **4.1** above. Indonesian's law acknowledges UNHCR's role in processing all refugee status determinations in the country. Regulations contain details of the refugee management process from the arrival of a person declaring him or herself as an asylum-seeker and final determination of status.<sup>524</sup> Note, however, that Indonesian law does not provide for permanent local settlement of refugees (see Part **4.4** above).

#### **Recommendations:**

- Consider acceding to the Refugee Convention 1951 and Refugee Protocol 1967 [all States except Cambodia and the Philippines].
- Consider removing the reservation to Article 22 of the CRC [Thailand].
- Creation of legal routes to grant legal status to asylum-seeking and refugee children and families, in line with international standards [Brunei Darussalam, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Singapore, Thailand and Viet Nam].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> Indonesia, Law Concerning Human Rights 1999, Article 28, also references the right to seek asylum but the Law on Immigration does not contain any reference to asylum-seekers or refugees and anyone without valid travel documents can be refused entry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Articles 59 to 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>522</sup> UNICEF Indonesia Country Office, written comments emailed to Coram International sent on 11 July 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> Indonesia, Presidential Regulation no. 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees 2016, Articles 27(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> Indonesia, Regulation of the Director General of Immigration No. IMI-0352.GR.02.07 (2016) on the Handling of Illegal Migrant Claiming to be Asylum-Seeker or Refugee 2016.

## 6 Child trafficking

	All children (up to age 18; boys and girls) covered by child trafficking provisions	All acts (recruiting, transportin g, transferring , harbouring, receiving) criminalize d	Offence committe d regardles s of means used	All types of exploitatio n covered	Extra- territorial applicatio n of trafficking provisions	Law covers attempt & secondary liability	Appropriat e penalties for child trafficking
Brunei							
Darussalam							
Cambodia							
Indonesia							
Lao PDR							
Malaysia							
Myanmar							
Philippines							
Singapore							
Thailand							
Viet Nam							

## 6.1 Prohibition and criminalisation of trafficking

#### To what extent is the trafficking of children prohibited/criminalised under the law?

#### 6.1.1 Overview

Article 35 of the CRC requires States to 'take all appropriate national, bilateral and multilateral measures to prevent the abduction of, the sale of or traffic in children for any purpose or in any form'. It does not, however, specify the meaning or scope of trafficking. The Palermo Protocol provides the most comprehensive definition of trafficking under international law. All of the ASEAN Member States have acceded to or ratified the Palermo Protocol, although, with the exception of Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia and Philippines, they have all issued reservations or declarations in respect of its provisions (see Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States). However, all of the ASEAN Member States are also party to the ASEAN Convention Against Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children (see Annex 4: Key Regional Instruments). The definition of 'trafficking in persons' in the ASEAN Convention mirrors that in the Palermo Protocol and, in both instruments, a child is any person under the age of 18.

Under Article 3 of the Palermo Protocol, child trafficking is the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of a child for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation includes, at a minimum, (i) the exploitation of the prostitution of others or (ii) other forms of sexual exploitation, (iii) forced labour or services, (iv) slavery or practices similar to slavery, (v) servitude or (vi) the removal of organs.<sup>525</sup> There is no requirement to prove the means by which the trafficking of the child occurred.<sup>526</sup> In other words, it is not necessary to

<sup>526</sup> Palermo Protocol, Article 3(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> United Nations, Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organised Crime (Palermo Protocol), United Nations, 15<sup>th</sup> November 2000, Article 3(a).

demonstrate any form of threat/use of force or other forms of coercion, abduction, fraud, deception, abuse of power or position of vulnerability, or inducements to obtain consent, where the victim is a child.

Both the Palermo Protocol (Article 5) and the ASEAN Convention Against Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children (Articles 5(1)-(2)) oblige States parties to criminalise all acts falling within this definition, as well as attempts to commit these acts, acting as an accomplice to such acts and organising or directing others to commit such acts. The ASEAN Convention Against Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children also requires States to provide for higher penalties in the event of specific aggravating factors (including the trafficking of children, the death of the victim and multiple victims). States must also ensure that domestic laws apply to offences which are transnational in nature.

The **Lao PDR-Thailand Trafficking MOU** on trafficking does not contain provisions regarding the prohibition or criminalisation of trafficking but rather focuses on efforts to combat trafficking. As such, it will not be discussed further in this section, other than to confirm that the definition of trafficking in its Article 2 mirrors that of the Palermo Protocol. There is thus no requirement to prove any form of coercion where the victim is a person under the age of 18 years.

All ASEAN Member States have enacted specific legislation that prohibits and criminalises human trafficking.<sup>527</sup> The trafficking of children falls within these laws, although in some jurisdictions (including Lao PDR, Myanmar and Viet Nam), the penal code also contains relevant provisions. In all of the countries except Viet Nam, a child is defined as being a person under the age of 18. Viet Nam's anti-trafficking law (Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011) contains no reference to age but cross-references the Criminal Code when referring to prohibited acts in Article 3. The relevant provision on child trafficking in the Criminal Code (Article 151) applies only to persons under the age of 16 years. The offence of trafficking a child over the age of 16 but under 18 would therefore fall within the generic crime of trafficking in Article 150 of the Criminal Code. These provisions are analysed in more detail below.

#### 6.1.2 Act of trafficking

The anti-trafficking laws in all ASEAN Member States prohibit all acts that may constitute child trafficking as set out in international law and in the ASEAN Convention, namely, recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt. The relevant provisions are set out in the table below.

#### Table 2: Criminalisation of child trafficking under the national laws

Brunei Darussalam: Article 5 (1), Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order, 2019<sup>528</sup>

- Recruitment
- Transportation
- Transfer
- Harbour

<sup>528</sup> It is noted that the Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, contains a crime of trafficking in women and girls in section 4, which is defined undefined and is subject to an exemption from prosecution where the women and girl in question was trafficked for the purposes of marriage and adoption. A similar defence is available for persons suspected of the offence of unlawful transfer or possession, custody or control of a child under Section 35 of the Children and Young Persons Act. These exemptions/defences are not in line with international and regional law; see 'Element of exploitation (purpose) further below for details.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> This review focuses on specific anti-trafficking legislation and does not generally address other laws that contain provisions relevant to trafficking in persons, except where such provisions must be read together with the anti-trafficking legislation. Note, however, that the laws of some jurisdictions (for example, Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Sections 3 to 5, the Penal Code 2001, Section 371 and the Children and Young Persons Act 2012, Sections 35 to 36 ; Malaysia, Penal Code 1976, Sections 359-375 and the Child Act 2001, Sections 43 to 44 and 48 to 49; and Thailand, Criminal Code 1956/2003, Sections 319 and 320) contain provisions that may be invoked to prosecute trafficking-related offences.

•	Receipt
Cam	bodia: Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008
	cruitment: Article 12
• Tra	ansportation: Article 17
• Tra	ansfer: Article 10 (unlawful removal)
• Ha	rbouring: Article 19
• Re	ceipt: Article 19
Indo	nesia: Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007
• Re	cruitment: Article 2
	ansportation: Article 2
	ansfer: Article 2 (trafficking in persons), Article 6 (transfer or receipt of child)
	rbouring: Article 2
	ceipt: Article 2 (trafficking in persons), Article 6 (transfer or receipt of child)
	PDR: Articles 2 and 10, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016
	cruitment
	ansportation
	ansfer
	irbouring
	aysia: Sections 2 and 14, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling Act 2007, as amended
	cruitment
	ansportation ansfer
	irbouring
	ceipt
	nmar: Section 3(b), Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022
-	Recruitment
	Fransportation
	Transfer
	Harbour
	Receipt
	ppines: Section 4, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003 (as amended)
	Recruitment
	Fransportation
	Transfer
	Harbour
	Receipt
	apore: Article 3(2), Law on Prevention of Human Trafficking 2014
-	Recruitment
	Fransportation
	Transfer
	Harbour
	Receipt
	land: Section 6, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008
	cruitment: likely encompassed by 'procuring, buying, selling and vending'
	ansportation: likely encompassed by 'bringing from or sending to'
	ansfer
	irbouring
• Ha	

**Viet Nam:** Article 3(2), Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011; Article 151, Criminal Code

- Recruitment
- Transportation
- Transfer
- Harbouring
- Receipt

#### 6.1.3 Means of trafficking

The laws in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Lao PDR**, **Malaysia**, **Myanmar**, **Philippines**, **Singapore** and **Thailand** are compliant with international law by not requiring proof that any particular means (such as force or coercion) were used in the course of trafficking a child.<sup>529</sup> In **Viet Nam**, for children under 16, there is no requirement to prove the means by which trafficking occurred for an offence to be made out.<sup>530</sup> However, as the trafficking of children aged 16 or above comes within Article 150 of the Criminal Code, it is necessary to demonstrate some form of coercive means where the victim is a child aged 16 or 17, contrary to the Palermo Protocol and ASEAN Convention.<sup>531</sup> Proof of force or coercion as means of obtaining a child's consent is required by laws in **Cambodia** and **Indonesia**. In **Cambodia**, the use of force, threat, deception, abuse of power or enticement is required for a trafficking offence.<sup>532</sup> In **Indonesia**, the threat of force, use of force, abduction, incarceration, fraud, deception, abuse of authority or position of vulnerability, debt bondage or the giving of payment or benefit is required.<sup>533</sup> However, for the more limited offence under Article 6 of sending a child within Indonesia or to another country that *causes* exploitation of the child, 'any means' is sufficient. For this offence, exploitation must have occurred, whereas trafficking requires the conduct to be for the 'purpose of exploitation'.

#### 6.1.4 Element of exploitation (purpose)

The act of child trafficking under international law must be for the purpose of exploitation which, pursuant to Article 3(a) of the Palermo Protocol, should include 'at a minimum, prostitution and other forms of sexual exploitation; forced labour or services; slavery or practices similar to slavery; servitude; or the removal of organs'. With the exception of **Myanmar**, the laws in all ASEAN Member States expressly encompass all of these types of exploitation, with the laws in **Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand** and **Viet Nam** listing additional kinds of exploitation, and thus offering greater protection than required under the Palermo Protocol in this respect. In **Singapore**, specific reference is made within the definition of sexual exploitation to the use of person in audio or visual recordings of obscene or indecent acts, broadening the scope to include online forms of exploitation too.<sup>534</sup> In the **Philippines**, the law also includes, sex tourism, debt bondage, and pornography, including in online forms.<sup>535</sup> Further, the use of non-restrictive language such as 'includes' (**Indonesia; Malaysia**), 'unlawful conduct contradicting to the laws and national culture and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup> The relevant provisions are as follows: Lao PDR, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016, Article 9 (the Law on Development and Protection of Women 2004, Article 24 contains similar provisions); Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2015, Section 14; The Philippines, Republic Act 9208 Anti-Trafficking Act 2003, as amended and Thailand, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008, Section 6(2); Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Sections 2 (definition of child) and 5(1)-(2); Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Article 3(2) and (3)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Article 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup> Viet Nam, Criminal Code 2015, Article 150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> Cambodia, Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008, Articles, 10, 12, 17 and 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> Indonesia, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007, Article 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> Singapore, Law on Prevention of Human Trafficking 2014, Article 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> The Philippines, Republic Law 9802, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003, as amended, Section 3.

traditions' (Lao PDR), 'any illegal activity' (Malaysia) and 'for other inhuman purposes' (Viet Nam) broadens protection further.

In Brunei Darussalam, the Women and Girls Protection Act, which is understood to still be in force, also contains an offence of trafficking, which is undefined but subject to an exemption from prosecution where the accused satisfies the Commissioner that the trafficking was for the purpose of the girl's (or woman's) marriage or adoption and that the marriage or adoption has been or can be solemnised or made under the laws and customs for the time being in force in Brunei.<sup>536</sup> Similar exemptions are integrated into the definitions of related crimes<sup>537</sup> as well as a similar defence for the crime of unlawful transfer of possession, custody or control of a child under section 35 of the Children and Young Persons Act. These exemptions and defences are not in line with international standards. However, they only apply to persons charged with those specific offences and therefore do not appear to apply to persons charged with child trafficking under section 2 of the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019. A similar situation arises in Singapore by virtue of the Women's Charter 1961, which provides that no person shall be charged of the offence of trafficking in women and girls under section 141(1) of that law where the person satisfies the Director-General that the woman or girl brought into or taken out of Singapore by the person (or intended to be brought into or taken out of Singapore by the person) was so brought into or taken out of Singapore (or is intended to be so brought into or taken out of Singapore) for the purpose of her marriage or adoption and that such marriage or adoption can be solemnised or made and has been or will be solemnised or made under the laws and customs for the time being in force in Singapore.538

In **Myanmar**, although prostitution and sexual conduct are included within the definition of 'exploitation', these acts must have been 'forced', <sup>539</sup> suggesting that prostitution or sexual conduct without 'force' would not amount to exploitation and appears to introduce a 'means' requirements to the definition of child trafficking, contrary to the Palermo Protocol. However, the definition of 'prostitution by force' does not incorporate any reference to force, <sup>540</sup> which creates ambiguity over this interpretation. Further, the term 'forced' is not defined in Myanmar's national laws though its natural meaning in the original Burmese version of the legislation is understood to mean 'unlawful' or 'unjust.'<sup>541</sup> The definition of 'other forms of forced sexual conduct' similarly does not include any reference to force, but is limited to *representations* of sexual conduct, thereby curtailing its scope.<sup>542</sup> Further, 'exploitation' includes 'forced marriage' suggesting that child marriage without 'force' would not be sufficient to prove the offence of trafficking, which is also contrary to international standards. Finally, 'servitude' is not explicitly included within the definition of 'exploitation', contrary to the Palermo Protocol, though it may be interpreter to fall under 'slave-like practices' which is included in the definition.

#### Table 3: Exploitative purposes under the national laws

Brunei Darussalam: Section 2 of the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019

"exploitation" includes all forms a sexual exploitation (including sexual servitude and exploitation of another person's prostitution), forced labour or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, servitude and the removal of organs'.

**Cambodia:** Article 10, Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008 'profit making, sexual aggression, production of pornography, marriage against will of the victim, adoption or any form of exploitation'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act, Revised Edition 1984, Chapter 120, Section 4(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act, Revised Edition 1984, Chapter 120, Section 3(b), (c), (e)-(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> Singapore, Women's Charter 1961, Revised Edition 2020, section 141(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Article 3(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Article 3(c), Explanation (1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> UNICEF Myanmar, comments from national experts submitted to Coram International on 27 January 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Article 3(c), Explanation (2).

'any form of exploitation' in Articles 10, 12, 15, 17 and 19 includes 'the exploitation of the prostitution of others, pornography, commercial sex act, forced labour or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, debt bondage, involuntary servitude, child labour or the removal of organs'.

**Indonesia:** Articles 1(7) and 1(8), Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007 'exploitation' - 'an act committed with or without the consent of victim which includes but is not limited to prostitution, forced labour or service, slavery or practices similar to slavery, repression, extortion, physical abuse, sexual abuse, abuse of the reproductive organs, or the illegal transfer or transplantation of body organs or the use of another persons' labor or ability for one's own material or immaterial profit.' (Art. 1(7)) 'sexual exploitation' - 'any form of the use of sexual organs or other organs of the victim for the purpose of obtaining profit, including but not limited to all acts of prostitution and sexually indecent acts'. (Art. 1(8))

Lao PDR: Articles 2 and 12, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016

'labour and sexual exploitations, slavery, prostitution, involuntary prostitution, removal of organs for the purpose of trade and other form of unlawful conduct contradicting to the laws and national culture and traditions'

'sexual exploitation' encompasses forcing a person into 'sexual slavery, prostitution, pornography activities or to provide other forms of sexual services'

**Malaysia:** Section 2, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling Act 2007, as amended 'includes all forms of sexual exploitation, forced labour or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, servitude, any illegal activity or the removal of human organs'

Myanmar: Section 3(c), Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022

'includes prostitution of one person by another person by force or other forms of forced sexual conduct, forced labor or forced service, slavery or slave-like practices, debt bondage, forced marriage, forced to beg, surrogate pregnancy, adoption of children by deception for the purpose of getting any benefit, or removal and sale or otherwise misuse of organs from the body, and in addition to the above-mentioned acts, receipt or agreement for receipt of money, property or any other benefits, either directly or indirectly, arising out of committing such acts'.

'Prostitution of one person by another person by force means any act, use, consummation or scheme involving the use of a person by another person, for sexual intercourse or lascivious conduct in exchange for money, property, or any other benefits or any other consideration.'

'Other forms of forced sexual conduct means representation through getting hold of, exhibition, indecent show of gestures, publication, cinematography or by use of any modern information technology of a sexual activity or of the sexual parts of a person in order to arouse sexual desire.'

Philippines: Section 3(a), Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003, as amended in 2012

Exploitation includes at a minimum 'the exploitation or the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual exploitation, forced labour or services, slavery, servitude, or removal or sale of organs'

Other forms of exploitation: sex tourism, debt bondage, pornography (both offline and online) and online sexual offences. Illegal adoption of children and child laundering is also considered exploitation and trafficking in persons.<sup>543</sup>

**Singapore:** Article 2, Law on Prevention of Human Trafficking 2014

'sexual exploitation, forced labour, slavery or any practice similar to slavery, servitude or the removal of an organ.'

'sexual exploitation, in relation to an individual, means the involving of the individual in prostitution, sexual servitude or the provision of any other form of sexual service, including the commission of any obscene or indecent act by the individual or the use of the individual in any audio or visual recording or representation of such act.'

Thailand: Section 6, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act No 9208 (2003) Section 17, as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012.

'exploitation of the prostitution of others, the production or distribution of pornographic materials, the exploitation of other forms of sexual acts, slavery or practices similar to slavery, exploitation of begging, removal of organ for commercial purposes, forced labour or services under Section 6/1, or any other similar forcible extortion'

**Viet Nam:** Articles 2, 3(2) and 3(3), Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking 2011 'sexual exploitation, forced labour, the removal of organs or other inhuman purposes'.

'sexual exploitation means the coercion of persons for prostitution, for being subject matters for the production of pornographic materials, for erotic performance, or for sexual slavery.'

#### 6.1.5 Extraterritorial application

The transnational nature of trafficking offences, in which elements of the offence may occur in origin, transit and/or destination countries, makes it highly important for States to ensure that criminal provisions relating to child trafficking apply extraterritorially. The anti-trafficking provisions of all countries, except Indonesia, have extraterritorial application although the scope varies. Thailand's Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act has the most expansive extraterritorial application, with Section 11 providing that 'whoever' commits a trafficking offence outside Thailand shall be liable for punishment in Thailand (unless already prosecuted in another country). In Brunei Darussalam, the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order applies extraterritorially if Brunei Darussalam is the receiving or transit country, or if the offender or victim is a citizen or permanent resident.<sup>544</sup> The Cambodian law provides for extraterritoriality over offences committed outside Cambodia by a Khmer citizen or involving a Khmer victim.<sup>545</sup> In Lao PDR and Viet Nam, provision for extraterritorial application are found in the penal codes (which contain the penalties for trafficking). Pursuant to Article 9 of Lao PDR's Penal Code and Article 6 of Viet Nam's Criminal Code, extraterritorial jurisdiction can be exercised over offences committed outside the relevant territory by citizens or residents.<sup>546</sup> Both laws also allow for the punishment of foreigners who commit offences outside the territory which infringe the rights and interests of citizens. Malaysia has jurisdiction over trafficking offences committed outside Malaysia by a Malaysian citizen or permanent resident, but also over conduct that occurs where Malaysia is the source, transit or receiving country or place where the exploitation occurs, irrespective of the nationality or citizenship of the offender.<sup>547</sup> In the **Philippines**, the Anti-Trafficking Act gives the State extra-territorial jurisdiction over any offence under the Act which is committed outside the Philippines and whether or not such act is a crime in the country of commission, if the crime has been commenced in the Philippines and been continued in another country, and the suspect is a Filipino citizen, a permanent resident of the Philippines, or has committed the act against a citizen of the Philippines.<sup>548</sup> Myanmar's anti-trafficking law applies extraterritorially where the offence is committed by or against a Myanmar citizen or foreigner holding a foreign registration card residing permanently in Myanmar, the offence is committed by a person on board a vessel or aircraft registered under Myanmar law, or the offence is committed by a person who is in Myanmar and is accused of human trafficking and the request to extradite that person to the respective foreign country is not permitted.<sup>549</sup> In Singapore, the law applies extraterritoriality so long as the conduct occurred 'partly' within Singapore's borders, regardless of whether Singapore is the origin, transit or destination country.<sup>550</sup> Conduct occurring 'partly' in Singapore is not defined, leaving it open to interpretation. The law is silent on the question of liability for persons resident in Singapore who have committed trafficking overseas. In Indonesia, there is no provision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup> Cambodia, Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup> Note that Viet Nam's Criminal Code stipulates that this applies to stateless residents whereas that of Lao PDR applies to aliens and stateless residents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2015, Sections 3 and 4(c). Note also the provisions in Section 4(a)-(b) for offences committed on the high seas, ships or aircrafts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> The Philippines, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003 (2003) as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012, Section 26-A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup> Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>550</sup> Singapore, Law on Prevention of Human Trafficking 2014, Article 3(4).

regarding extraterritorial application although other criminal offences set out in the law cover cross-border cases. These include bringing a person into Indonesia with intention to exploit (Article 3), removal of an Indonesian citizen with intention to exploit (Article 4) and sending a child to another country, leading to exploitation (Article 6). These offences are not referred to as trafficking, however.

#### 6.1.6 Attempts and secondary liability

The anti-trafficking provisions of Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, the Philippines and Thailand criminalise attempts to commit trafficking as well as acting as a facilitator, accomplice or instigator.<sup>551</sup> In Singapore, abetment of trafficking in persons is criminalised in accordance with the definition of abetment set out in Chapter 5 of the Penal Code 1871. Abetment encompasses a broad spectrum of conduct akin to assisting trafficking, including instructing another to commit the offence; providing financial or other support (such as shelter) to facilitate the commission of the offence or otherwise participating in or assisting with any element of the crime of trafficking (i.e. with the act or exploitative purpose) with intention to facilitate the commission of the offence.<sup>552</sup> Though the Singapore anti-trafficking law does not expressly refer to "attempts" within the definition of the offence of trafficking (Article 3), the law bestows enforcement officers with the power to arrest without a warrant persons suspected of attempting trafficking, and district courts with the power to impose the full penalty for trafficking on those who attempt the offence.<sup>553</sup> Indonesia also criminalises 'placing', 'allowing', ordering of or 'participating in' the trafficking of children.<sup>554</sup> Brunei Darussalam similarly criminalises related acts such as 'profiting' from trafficking, making, giving or possessing forged travel or identity documents for facilitating the commission of trafficking.555 Malaysia's anti-trafficking law does not contain any express provision covering attempts to commit trafficking or covering secondary liability, although it does criminalise a number of activities that would constitute assisting trafficking.<sup>556</sup> Further, Section 29 of the Act provides that an enforcement officer may arrest without warrant anyone found (or whom the officer suspects is engaging in) attempting to commit or abetting the commission of an offence.<sup>557</sup> In Viet Nam, attempts to commit acts of trafficking, acting as an accomplice to such acts and organising or directing others are not expressly criminalised under the Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking. However, attempts and complicity (including acting as an organiser, perpetrator, instigator or abettor) are covered by Articles 15 and 17 of the Criminal Code.

#### 6.1.7 Penalties for child trafficking

In trafficking cases, States are required to enact effective criminal sanctions that are proportionate to the offence. Higher penalties should be imposed where there are aggravating factors, which include the trafficking of children.

#### Table 4: Penalties for child trafficking under the national laws

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>551</sup> Cambodia, Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008, Article 4; Indonesia, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Trafficking in Persons Act 2007, Articles 9 to 11; Lao PDR, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016, Article 73; Penal Code 2017, Article 215, and the Law on Development and Protection of Women 2004, Article 24; Thailand, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008, Sections 7 to 10; Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Sections 7 and 13 to 16; Myanmar, Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022, Section 44; The Philippines, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2003 as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012, Sections 4-B, 4-C and 10(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup> Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Article 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup> Singapore, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014, Articles 8, 9 and 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>554</sup> Indonesia, Law of Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Articles 76F and 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>555</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order 2019, Sections 7 and 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>556</sup> Malaysia, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants Act 2015, Sections 18-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>557</sup> There are also provisions in the Penal Code covering abetment, conspiracy and attempt.

Brunei Darussalam: Article 5, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2019558

Trafficking of adults: 4-30 years' imprisonment, a fine of BND \$10,000 to \$1,000,000 for each trafficked person, and whipping.

Trafficking of victims: 4-30 years' imprisonment, a fine of BND \$10,000 to \$1,000,000 for each trafficked child, and whipping of at least five strokes.

The use of child as an accomplice or participant in the offence is an aggravating circumstance, punishable with the same penalties as the offence of child trafficking.

**Cambodia:** Articles 10, 12, 15, 17 and 19, Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation 2008

Trafficking of adults: 7-15 years' imprisonment

Child trafficking: 15-20 years' imprisonment

**Indonesia:** Articles 2 and 17, Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007; Articles 76F and 83 of Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017)

Trafficking of adults: 3-15 years' imprisonment and fine of Rp 120 million to 600 million

Child trafficking: penalty increased by one third (Law on the Eradication of the Criminal Act of Human Trafficking 2007); the Law on Child Protection provides that child trafficking (as well as 'placing', 'allowing', ordering of or 'participating in' child trafficking) is punishable with 3-15 years' imprisonment and a fine of Rp 60 million to 300 million

Lao PDR: Article 215, Penal Code 2017<sup>559</sup>

Trafficking of adults: 5-15 years' imprisonment and a fine of 10 million to 100 million Kip

Child trafficking 15-20 years' imprisonment and a fine of 100 million – 500 million Kip

Malaysia: Sections 12-14, Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling Act 2007

Trafficking of adults: up to 20 years' imprisonment and fine (Section 12) or, for trafficking with aggravating features, imprisonment from 5 years to life and the possibility of being subject to whipping (Section 13) Child trafficking: imprisonment from 5 years to life and the possibility of being subject to whipping (Section 14(1)).

Myanmar: Sections 35 and 36 Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law 2022

Trafficking of women and children: imprisonment for a minimum of 10 years to a maximum of term of life and may also be liable to a fine.

Trafficking of anyone else: imprisonment for a minimum term of 5 years to a maximum of 10 years and may also be liable to a fine.

Philippines: Sections 10 and 11, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003

The penalty is the same whether the offence is committed against an adult or child except where trafficking is for the purposes of prostitution.

Adult and child victim of trafficking: Penalty of imprisonment of 20 years and a fine of 1 million pesos to 2 million pesos.<sup>560</sup>

Where an adult is trafficked for the purposes of prostitution: prison correctional for a maximum period of *prision mayor* or 6-12 years imprisonment and a fine of P50,000 to P100,000.

Where a child is trafficked for the purposes of prostitution: if it involves sexual intercourse or lascivious conduct, *reclusion temporal* in its medium period to *reclusion perpetua* or 17-40 years imprisonment and a fine of P500,000 to P1million.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>558</sup> It is noted that these penalties are stricter than those for trafficking or harbouring Brunei Darussalam, Women and Girls Protection Act 1984, Sections 3 and 4 but broadly commensurate with those for trafficking in slaves under the Penal Code 2001, Section 371.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup> Note that Lao PDR, Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons 2016, Article 89, sets out the penalties for trafficking offences but was repealed by the Penal Code 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>560</sup> The Philippines, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003 as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012, Section 10(a).

If an offence involves carnal knowledge or sexual intercourse with an adult and also involves the use of force or intimidation of a child victim under the age of 12 years old: Imprisonment of *reclusion perpetua* or 40 years imprisonment and a fine of 1 million to 5 million pesos. <sup>561</sup>

**Singapore:** Article 4, Prevention of Human Trafficking Act 2014

For the first offence: fine of up to SGD\$100,000, imprisonment for a term of up to 10 years and caning not exceeding six strokes;

For the second offence: fine of up to SGD\$150,000, imprisonment for a term of up to 15 years and caning not exceeding nine strokes.

Child trafficking is an aggravating factor to be taken into account when sentencing.

Thailand: Section 52 and 52/1, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2008

Trafficking of adults: 4-12 years' imprisonment and a fine of THB 400,000 to 1.2 million Child trafficking:

- If aged between 15 and 18, 6-15 years' imprisonment and a fine of THB 600,000 to 1.5 million
- If aged under 15: 8-20 years' imprisonment and a fine of THB 800,000 to 2 million.

**NB:** Amendments in 2019 lowered the penalties for labour trafficking offences to 6 months' to 4 years' imprisonment and/or a fine of THB 50,000 – 400,000 per victim.<sup>562</sup>

Viet Nam: Articles 150 and 151, Criminal Code 2015

Adult victims and children aged 16 or over: 5-10 years' imprisonment. Additional punishments: fine of VND 20 million to 100 million, mandatory supervision, residence ban, confiscation of property.

Child victims under 16: 7-12 years' imprisonment. Additional punishments: fine of VND 50 million to 200 million, mandatory supervision, prohibition of holding certain posts, confiscation of property.

As set out in **Table 4: Penalties for child trafficking under the national laws** above, the penalties are higher where the victims of trafficking are children, except for in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia**, **Philippines** and **Singapore**, where the same sentencing scale is applicable for child trafficking offences and adult trafficking offences (Brunei Darussalam and Singapore) or adult cases involving aggravating features (Malaysia). However, in **Singapore**, it is an aggravating factor if the victim is a child. The penalties for child trafficking offences are sufficiently stringent and commensurate with penalties prescribed for other serious offences, except that the penalties of whipping in **Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia** and **Singapore** are not regarded as in line with international human rights standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>561</sup> The Philippines, Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2003, as amended by Republic Act 10364, the Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act of 2012, Section 11(a) and 11(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>562</sup> A separate provision under Section 6/1 was added following the 2019 amendments which specifically addresses forced labour or services and a provision was added as Section 52/1 prescribing these lower penalties.

#### **Recommendations:**

- Amend the law so that the offence of child trafficking applies to all persons under 18 years of age [Viet Nam].
- Amend legislation to remove the requirement for a particular means (such as a demonstration of force, fraud, or coercion) to be used for child trafficking offences [Cambodia and Indonesia].
- Amend the definition of exploitation to cover prostitution and all other forms of sexual exploitation, regardless of whether or not they involved the use of force, and to include servitude explicitly [Myanmar].
- Remove the exemptions from prosecution for cases where girls and women are trafficked for the purposes of adoption or marriage [Brunei Darussalam and Singapore].
- Ensure that specific human/child trafficking laws have extraterritorial application [Indonesia and Singapore].
- Ensure that human/child trafficking laws expressly criminalise attempt and secondary liability [Malaysia and Viet Nam].
- Consider amending the legislation to include aggravating penalties for offences involving children [Malaysia and (partially) the Philippines].
- Ensure that the penalties of whipping for trafficking of both adults and children are removed. [Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia and Singapore].

# 7 Nationality and Statelessness

	Express legal provision on the right of the child to acquire a nationality	No automatic loss of citizenship where parents are deprived of citizenship	Assistance and protection to re-establish identity
Brunei			
Darussalam			
Cambodia			
Indonesia			
Lao PDR			
Malaysia			
Myanmar			
Philippines			
Singapore			
Thailand			
Viet Nam			

#### To what extent does the national law respect and protect the right of the child to a nationality?

Pursuant to Article 7 of the CRC, every child has the right from birth to acquire a nationality and States Parties must ensure the implementation of this right in accordance with their national law and their obligations under the relevant international instruments in this field, in particular where the child would otherwise be stateless. Under Article 8 of the CRC, States Parties undertake to respect the right of the child to preserve his or her identity (including nationality) without unlawful interference and to provide appropriate assistance and protection to restore identity where a child has been illegally deprived of some or all of the elements of his or her identity. All ASEAN Member States are party to the CRC and are therefore bound by its provisions, though **Malaysia** has issued a reservation that Article 7 is applicable only if it is in conformity with its Constitution, national laws and policies (see Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States for details). Article 29 of the CMW also provides that each child of a migrant worker shall have the right to a nationality, although only **Indonesia** and the **Philippines** are party to this convention.

The **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** on children affected by migration (which is yet to be adopted) contains provisions that aim to facilitate a child's acquisition of their parents' nationality when born outside their parents' country of origin. Pursuant to Article 9, the parties agree to share information on birth registrations that can be used when registering/claiming nationality.

The laws of **Indonesia**,<sup>563</sup> **Lao PDR**<sup>564</sup> and **Viet Nam**<sup>565</sup> expressly provide that every child has the right to acquire a nationality. In **Myanmar**, the Child Rights Law contains a more qualified right; only children *registered for birth* have the right to citizenship and in accordance with the provisions of existing laws.<sup>566</sup>

All of the ASEAN Member States provide for the acquisition of nationality by operation of law. The primary route in all ASEAN Member States, except for **Brunei Darussalam**, **Malaysia** and **Myanmar**, is acquisition by birth as a child of a national. With the exception of **Brunei Darussalam**, **Myanmar**, **Malaysia** (in relation to children born out of wedlock) and **Viet Nam**, nationality is automatically conferred on children born in the relevant territory where at least one parent is a citizen. In **Brunei Darussalam**, it is the nationality of the father that is relevant, in that children born in the country are granted citizenship by operation of the law if the *father* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>563</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Article 5; Law Concerning Human Rights 1999, Articles 26 and 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>564</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup> Viet Nam, Child Law 2016, Article 13, Civil Code 2015, Article 31, and Law on Nationality 2008, Article 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>566</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 22.

was, at the time of birth, a national of Brunei, although alternative grounds may also be available if the child cannot acquire nationality on these grounds (see further below).<sup>567</sup> One of these alternative routes is for the parent (including the adoptive parent) or guardian to make an application for citizenship for the child, provided that the parent or guardian is also a citizen. However, the granting of citizenship via this route is at the discretion of the Sultan.<sup>568</sup> In **Malaysia**, children born within the Federation are Malaysian citizens if they have at least one parent who is a Malaysian citizen or permanent resident at the time of their birth.<sup>569</sup> However, if the child is born out of wedlock, the term 'parent' must be interpreted as the child's 'mother', such that children born in Malaysia out of wedlock to a Malaysian father and non-Malaysian mother are not granted citizenship by operation of the law.<sup>570</sup> **Myanmar's** system is more complex in that it contains a three-tiered hierarchy of citizenship: full citizenship; associated citizenship; and naturalised citizenship. A child's level of citizenship (and thus entitlements) varies according to their parents' citizenship level, but the law requires that both parents must have either full, associate or naturalised status before the child is entitled to citizenship.<sup>571</sup> In **Viet Nam**, nationality must be selected upon birth registration where one parent is a foreign national.<sup>572</sup> In **Cambodia** and **Indonesia**, specific rules apply regarding recognition of illegitimate children.

Where children are born outside the country, the situation is the same as birth within the country in respect of Cambodia, Myanmar,<sup>573</sup> Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam. For Indonesia, children born to married Indonesian parents automatically acquire citizenship. Further, children born out of wedlock from an Indonesian mother also automatically acquire nationality.<sup>574</sup> Although the law does not explicitly state that the birth must be in the territory of Indonesia in order for this provision to apply, the law uses the term 'born in the territory of Indonesia' to refer to births in the State, suggesting that references to the term 'birth' should be interpreted as including births outside of Indonesia. For Lao PDR, children born outside the country automatically acquire Lao nationality where both parents are citizens, one is a citizen and the other stateless or at least one parent is a citizen and has a permanent address in Lao PDR. For Malaysia, citizenship is broadly dependent on which parent is a national, the State in which the child was born and whether the child was born out of wedlock. Children born outside of Malaysia whose father (i) was a Malaysian citizen at the time of the birth and was either born in Malaysia or was at the time of birth in the service of the Malaysian Federation or of one of it states, or (ii) was at the time of birth a Malaysian citizen and the birth is registered within a certain period with the Federation of Malaysia, are Malaysian citizens by operation of the law.<sup>575</sup> Where the child is 'illegitimate', references to 'father' or 'parent' must be interpreted as references to the child's 'mother',<sup>576</sup> which means that children born abroad out of wedlock to a foreign mother and Malaysian father are not regarded as Malaysian citizens by operation of the law (which is the same outcome as for children born in Malaysia out of wedlock to non-Malaysian mothers and Malaysian fathers).<sup>577</sup> This legal situation was challenged unsuccessfully in the Malaysian courts in a case where a child was born in the Philippines out of wedlock to a Malaysian father and Filipino mother and who wed after the child's birth. Despite the majority of the Federal Court finding against the appellants on the basis that the provisions of the Constitution are unambiguous and can only be amended by Parliament, it acknowledged the gender bias in the law and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>567</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>568</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>569</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, para. 1(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, paras. 1(a) and 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Section 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Vietnamese Nationality 2008, Article 16(2). This Section further provides that, where the child is born in Viet Nam and the parents fail to reach an agreement on the selection of nationality, the child automatically has Vietnamese nationality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Section 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup> Indonesia, Decree No. 12 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia 2006, Article 4(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II paras. 1(b)-(c). Note the variations to these conditions if the child is born after his/her father's death; Federal Constitution, Schedule II, Part III paras. 19 and 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>576</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, para. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>577</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, paras. 1 and 17.

expressed support for its abolition.<sup>578</sup> Further, a child born in Singapore with at least one parent who is a Malaysian citizen at the time of birth and is not born a citizen by virtue of another law, is also a Malaysian citizen by operation of the law, subject to exceptions based on the status of the father.<sup>579</sup> For **Brunei Darussalam**, children born outside the country acquire citizenship by law if, broadly, the father is also, at the time of birth, a national or was born in Brunei and 'commonly accepted' as belonging to one of the indigenous groups of the Malay race stipulated in the law, or the father and mother were both born in Brunei and were members of the groups stipulated in the law.<sup>580</sup> However, additional conditions may apply if the father was born outside of Brunei or the father is a national other than by virtue of the law (i.e. through registration or naturalisation).<sup>581</sup> For **Singapore**, citizenship may be acquired if one or both parents is a citizen of Singapore by birth, registration or descent<sup>582</sup> and has lawfully resided in Singapore for the prescribed number of years,<sup>583</sup> the birth is registered within one year at a Singaporean consulate,<sup>584</sup> and the child would not otherwise become a citizen of his or her country of birth.<sup>585</sup>

Acquisition of nationality through birth within the country is also provided for in certain circumstances, although this is frequently not automatic and/or is conditional. **Cambodia, Malaysia** and **Thailand** confer nationality automatically on children born within their territories to legal residents (in **Malaysia**, where one parent is a permanent resident) although, in **Cambodia**, both parents must have also been born in the country. In **Brunei Darussalam**, these provisions are still linked to the child's decent, namely, children born in the country are granted citizenship by operation of the law if the child is 'commonly accepted' as belonging to one of the indigenous groups of the Malay race stipulated in the law, or both the father and mother were born in Brunei Darussalam and are members of one of the groups of people stipulated in the law.<sup>586</sup> In the **Philippines**, foreigner children born and residing their whole childhood in the country can request citizenship through an administrative process at the age of 18, provided they fulfilled multiple conditions.<sup>587</sup> Citizenship can also be acquired through a judicial process if a person has lived in the country for at least 10 years or 5 years if born in the Philippines. However, the Court will not hear an application until the person reaches the age of 21.

In **Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia** and **Viet Nam,** children born to parents who are stateless (and, **Indonesia**, whose citizenship is undetermined) can acquire nationality. In **Indonesia**, <sup>588</sup> **Viet Nam** and **Lao PDR** (on application by the parents), nationality is conferred automatically, although in **Lao PDR** and **Viet Nam**, both parents must be permanent residents in that State. In **Malaysia**, as a general rule, the Federal Constitution confers citizenship on every child born within Malaysia who is not otherwise born a citizen of any country and does not acquire citizenship of any country within the period of 1 year of birth.<sup>589</sup> This provision is reportedly not applied in practice, <sup>590</sup> though recent news reports highlight a case in which this provision appears to have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup> Halim, Hong, Quek, 'Citizenship to Illegitimate Child-denied', 24 August 2021, <<u>https://hhq.com.my/publications/citizenship-to-illegitimate-child-denied/></u>, accessed 22 March 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>579</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, para. 1(d) and Part II, paras 17 and 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>580</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>581</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup> Singapore, Constitution of the Republic of Singapore 2001, as amended, Section 122(1)(b) (note the rules are different for those who were born before the date of commencement of section 7 of the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore (Amendment) Act 2004 – see section 122(1)(b))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>583</sup> Either 5 years in total before the child was born, or 2 years in the aggregate in the 5 years preceding the child's birth – see Singapore, Constitution of the Republic of Singapore 2001, as amended, Section 122(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>584</sup> Singapore, Constitution of the Republic of Singapore 2001, as amended, Section 122(2)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>585</sup> Singapore, Constitution of the Republic of Singapore 2001, as amended, Section 122(2)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>586</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 4(1)(a), (b) and (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>587</sup> The Philippines, The Administrative Naturalization Law of 2000, Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>588</sup> Indonesia, Decree No. 12 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia 2006, Articles 4(9) and 4(11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>589</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, paras. 1(e) and 2(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>590</sup> UNICEF Malaysia Country Office, written communication to Coram International, received 11 July 2011.

been applied.<sup>591</sup> In **Myanmar**, birth within the territory does not automatically confer citizenship. The child will only be granted citizenship if the child's birth is registered, and only when the child falls within the criteria for citizenship set out in the Burma Citizenship Law.<sup>592</sup>

In all ASEAN Member States except Brunei Darussalam, Myanmar and Thailand, nationality is automatically conferred on children who are foundlings. However, in 2019, changes were made to Article 19(2) of the Civil Registration Act of **Thailand** to permit the granting of Thai nationality to a neglected newborn or baby or foundling who is in the care of the authorities, whose birth had been registered and who has continued to reside in Thailand for at least 10 years and meets other gualifications prescribed by the Ministry of Interior.<sup>593</sup> In Malaysia, section 19B, Part III of Schedule II of the Federal Constitution provides that any newborn child 'found exposed' in any place is presumed, 'until the contrary is shown', to have been born there of a mother permanently resident in that location.<sup>594</sup> By interpreting the fundamental rights in the Constitution 'as broadly as possible' and limitations to those rights 'as narrowly as possible', <sup>595</sup> the Federal Court has held that any person who claims that the child was not 'found exposed' or otherwise abandoned by the mother, bears the burden of showing the identity of the mother and that the mother is not permanently resident at the place at which the child was found.<sup>596</sup> Therefore, when confronted with an application for registration of such newborn children, the burden is on the Registrar General of Births and Deaths 'to undertake proper investigations to determine the status of such child's biological parents or mother'.<sup>597</sup> If, after investigation, it is found that the fact of abandonment is true, the Registrar General of Births and Deaths is obligated under section 19B, Part III of Schedule II to recognise that new born child's citizenship by operation of law, 'except where there is evidence to the contrary'.<sup>598</sup> Table 5: National laws on citizenship by birth sets out the provisions in each country relating to the acquisition of citizenship by birth.

Nationality in many of the ASEAN Member States may also be conferred automatically on children of parents who acquire citizenship through naturalisation or on children who are adopted by citizens. The domestic laws of certain States also permit 'aliens' (i.e. those who are not nationals of the particular ASEAN State), to apply for naturalisation, regardless of their birth or status or that of their parents. Grounds on which such applications may be made include good behaviour (**Thailand**)<sup>599</sup> and having a 'regular occupation' (**Thailand**).<sup>600</sup> In **Brunei Darussalam**, the Sultan has the power to, 'in such special circumstances as he thinks fit', cause any child to be registered as a citizen,<sup>601</sup> though this requires an application to be made and such decisions are discretionary. Similarly, in **Singapore**, the government may confer citizenship under section 121(3) of the Constitution where it is considered 'just and fair and having regard to all the circumstances prevailing at the time of the application.'

#### Table 5: National laws on citizenship by birth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>591</sup> Lim, Ida., 'Malaysian govt fails final bid to stop recognition of Sabah-born stateless man as a citizen', Malaymail, 26 October 2022, <<u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/10/26/malaysian-govt-fails-final-bid-to-stop-recognition-of-sabah-born-stateless-man-as-a-citizen/35652></u>, accessed 22 March 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 22; Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Section 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup> Thailand, Civil Registration Act 2019, Articles 19 to 19/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part III, para. 19B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup> CCH and ADY v Registrar General of Births and Deaths, Federal Court of Malaysia (Appellate Jurisdiction), [2022] 1 CLJ 1, para. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup> CCH and ADY v Registrar General of Births and Deaths, Federal Court of Malaysia (Appellate Jurisdiction), [2022] 1 CLJ 1, para. 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup> CCH and ADY v Registrar General of Births and Deaths, Federal Court of Malaysia (Appellate Jurisdiction), [2022] 1 CLJ 1, para. 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>598</sup> CCH and ADY v Registrar General of Births and Deaths, Federal Court of Malaysia (Appellate Jurisdiction), [2022] 1 CLJ 1, para. 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup> Thailand, Nationality Act B.E. 2508 of 1965, Section 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>600</sup> Thailand, Nationality Act B.E. 2508 of 1965, Section 10(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>601</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 6(2).

Brunei Darussalam: Sections 4 to 8, Brunei Nationality Act

**By descent**: automatic conferral on children if they are born in the country to a father who, at the time of birth, is a citizen of Brunei, or if the person is 'commonly accepted as belonging to an indigenous group of the Malay race as stipulated in the law, or whose father and mother were both born in Brunei and are members of a group stipulated in the law. For children born outside of the country, additional conditions may apply if the father was born outside of the country or the father is a citizen other than by virtue of the law (i.e. by registration or naturalisation).

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens**: no provisions concerning automatic conferral of citizenship to foreign citizens, unless they meet the conditions concerning decent outlined above.

Stateless: no provision.

Foundling children: no provision.

Cambodia: Article 4, Law on Nationality

**By descent**: automatic conferral if at least one parent (mother or father) has Khmer citizenship, irrespective of place of birth. An illegitimate child must either have been recognised by the parent with Khmer citizenship, or be the subject of a court judgment that states that the child was born to a Khmer national.

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens**: automatic conferral on child born to foreign parents both of whom were born and 'living legally' in Cambodia.

Stateless: no provision.

**Foundling children**: automatic conferral on child (whether new-born or otherwise) found in Cambodia. **Indonesia:** Article 4, Law on Citizenship

**By descent**: automatic conferral where parents have Indonesian citizenship irrespective of place of birth (provided parents are married). Automatic conferral where child is born in Indonesia to at least one Indonesian parent (although an illegitimate child of a foreign mother must have been formally recognised by Indonesian father).

By birth in territory to foreign citizens: no provision.

**Stateless**: automatic conferral on child born in Indonesia to stateless parents or whose citizenship is undetermined.

Foundling children: automatic conferral on new-borns found in Indonesia.

Lao PDR: Articles 14-17, Law on Nationality 2017

**By descent**: automatic conferral where both parents have Lao citizenship, or where one parent has Lao citizenship and the other is stateless, irrespective of place of birth. Automatic conferral where one parent is a Lao citizen and child is born in Lao PDR, or if born outside Lao PDR, at least one parent has permanent address in Lao PDR. If both parents have permanent addresses outside Lao PDR, nationality will be decided by the parents.

By birth in territory to foreign citizens: no provision.

**Stateless**: acquisition on parents' request where child is born in Lao PDR to stateless parents who are permanent residents.

Foundling children: automatic conferral on child found in Lao PDR.

Malaysia: Articles 14 and 15 and Second Schedule, Federal Constitution

**By descent**: automatic conferral if born in Malaysia where at least one parent has Malaysian citizenship or permanent residence and child is born in wedlock. Automatic conferral/registration where child is born outside Malaysia depending on whether mother or father is citizen and whether child is born in wedlock (see below).

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens**: automatic conferral where at least one parent is permanent resident and child is born in wedlock.

**Stateless**: automatic conferral on child born in Malaysia who is not born a citizen of any other country and who does not acquire any other citizenship within a year of birth; this is reportedly not applied in practice though recent news reports indicate a recent case where this appears to have been applied.<sup>602</sup>

**Foundling children**: automatic conferral on new-borns found in Malaysia (presumption that child was born to mother permanently resident in Malaysia) (Section 19B, Part III, Second Schedule).

**Myanmar:** Chapters, 2, 3 and 4, Myanmar Citizenship Law 1982 and Sections 21 and 22, Child Rights Law 2019

By descent: Three-tiered system, given status is dependent on the citizenship level of the parents.

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens**: The child does not have a right to citizenship. Both parents must have one of the three forms of citizenship. If one parent has one of the three forms of citizenship and the other does not, the child may still be entitled to citizenship if the grandparents of the child (i.e. parents of the non-citizen parent of the child) is an associate or naturalized citizen.

**Stateless**: There are no provisions. A child born of parents, neither of whom has citizenship in Myanmar, does not have the right to acquire nationality in Myanmar.

Foundlings: no provision.

**Philippines:** Article IV, Section 1 – 3, Constitution of the Philippines; Section 3, Administrative Naturalization Law 2000; Law on Registry of Civil Status

By descent: automatic if at least one parent is citizen of the Philippines.

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens:** By petition, if the application meets certain conditions (Administrative Naturalization Law of 2000, Section 3).

**Stateless:** An application for citizenship may be made by a stateless person, including an unaccompanied child (assisted by the Local Social Welfare and Development Office or the child care agency having care of the child) under the Rules on Facilitated Naturalization of Refugees and Stateless Person. The best interests of the child shall be the paramount consideration.<sup>603</sup> An unaccompanied child applying for citizenship is not required to fulfil the requirements for citizenship imposed on adults.<sup>604</sup>

Foundlings: Automatic conferral (Law on Registry of Civil Status).

**Singapore**: Part 10, Article 140 (Third Schedule) Constitution of Singapore

**By descent:** automatic conferral where at least one parent is a citizen of Singapore, irrespective of place of birth but if the child is born outside of Singapore there are conditions that must be met (see above)

**By birth in territory to foreign citizens:** no automatic conferral although the government may confer citizenship under section 121(3) of the Constitution where it is considered 'just and fair and having regard to all the circumstances prevailing at the time of the application'

Stateless: No provision.

**Foundlings:** automatic conferral on newborn children with no known parentage, until the contrary is proved.

**Thailand:** Sections 7, 7*bis*, 9/6 and 12/1 Nationality Act 1965; Sections 19 to 19/2 Civil Registration Act 2534

**By descent**: automatic conferral where at least one parent has Thai nationality irrespective of place of birth.

**By birth in territory to persons without Thai nationality**: Automatic conferral unless the parents are temporary residents or entered illegally (Section 7 and 7*bis*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>602</sup> UNICEF Malaysia Country Office, written communication with Coram International received on 11 July 2022; Lim, Ida., 'Malaysian govt fails final bid to stop recognition of Sabah-born stateless man as a citizen', Malaymail, 26 October 2022,< <u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/10/26/malaysian-govt-fails-final-bid-to-stop-recognition-of-sabah-born-stateless-man-as-a-citizen/35652></u>, accessed 22 March 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>603</sup> In the absence of comprehensive legislation on refugee and stateless persons, the Supreme Court, on 15<sup>th</sup> February 2022, by virtue of its rule-making power under the 1987 Constitution, promulgated A.M. No. 21-07-22-SC, or the Rule on Facilitated Naturalization of Refugees and Stateless Persons. The relevant provision is contained in Section 6.
<sup>604</sup> The Philippines, Rules on Facilitated Naturalization of Refugees and Stateless Persons 2022, Section 8(b).

**Stateless** no provision although special rules for 'displaced Thais'<sup>605</sup> and children of 'displaced Thais' who have right to nationality from birth if they do not possess another nationality (Section 9/6).

**Foundling children**: no automatic conferral, but there are special provisions in the Nationality Act on applying for Thai nationality for children resident in Thailand who have stayed in a public foster home for at least 10 years and for children born in Thailand who have been adopted by a Thai national for at least five years (Section 12/1), as well as provisions in the Civil Registration Act (as amended by Civil Registration Act (No. 3) B.E. 2019) to permit the granting of Thai citizenship to a neglected newborn or baby or foundling who is in the care of the authorities, whose birth had been registered and who has continued to reside in Thailand for at least 10 years and meets other qualifications prescribed by the Ministry of Interior.

Viet Nam: Articles 15-18, Law on Nationality 2008

**By descent**: automatic conferral where both parents have Vietnamese citizenship, irrespective of place of birth. Automatic conferral where one parent is a Vietnamese citizen and other parent is stateless or father is unknown, irrespective of place of birth; if other parent is foreign national, parents can select Vietnamese citizenship for the child, irrespective of place of birth.

By birth in territory to foreign citizens: no provision.

**Stateless**: automatic conferral on child born in Viet Nam to stateless parents who are permanent residents (or to stateless mother with permanent residency and unknown father).

Foundling children: automatic conferral on new-borns and abandoned children found in Viet Nam.

The risk of statelessness arises in a number of situations. In Cambodia, there is no right for a child born to stateless or undocumented migrants to acquire nationality. Further, the Law on Nationality does not define 'living legally' in respect of children born to foreign parents (who must prove they were born in Cambodia) or specify what status or documents would be required to prove legal residence. Thailand similarly does not confer nationality on the children of 'illegal' residents and prescribes very limited circumstances for the grant of nationality to children who are born stateless and to foundlings. In Myanmar, a child born of parents neither of which has citizenship (at any level), does not have the right to acquire nationality. In some countries (such as Indonesia, Lao PDR and Viet Nam), children risk statelessness if both parents are foreign nationals and cannot pass on their citizenship to the child owing to the law of their country. Viet Nam, however, has an express provision intended to avoid statelessness. Article 8 of the Law on Nationality provides that the State will 'create conditions' for children born in Viet Nam to have a nationality and for stateless persons who reside permanently in Viet Nam to acquire Vietnamese nationality. Brunei Darussalam provides some protection from statelessness for its citizens who have acquired nationality by virtue of the law; section 9 of the Brunei Nationality Act on 'loss of status' does not apply if the person would otherwise have no national status. A similar but watered-down provision is made for persons who acquired their nationality through registration or naturalisation but are deprived of their status under section 11(3) of the Brunei Nationality Act, unless the Sultan, in the exercise of his discretion, is satisfied that such a person is in a position effectively to enjoy the protection of some other State and to proceed thereto if he so wishes without thereby endangering his personal safety.606

Gendered provisions in **Malaysian** legislation could also lead to statelessness depending on the nationality of their father and whether or not the child is born out of wedlock.<sup>607</sup> Under the Federal Constitution, as a general rule, children born to a Malaysian father are automatically regarded as Malaysian citizens.<sup>608</sup> However, where the child is 'illegitimate', under the terms of the Federal Constitution, references to the child's 'father' or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>605</sup> These are ethnic Thais who had become subjects of other states following territorial succession of the Thai Kingdom and are, as a result, stateless, but have immigrated into and resided in Thailand for a consecutive period (proved by civil registration documents) and observed the Thai way of life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>606</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 11(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>607</sup> Note that Malaysia has entered a reservation on Article 7 (name and nationality) of the CRC and Article 9(2) (nationality of children) of CEDAW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>608</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Part II, Second Schedule.

'parent' are construed as references to the child's mother.<sup>609</sup> Consequently, children of unmarried parents could be stateless if they are unable to acquire their mother's nationality, despite having a Malaysian father. Indeed, according to news reports, the Court of Appeal has confirmed that children born overseas to Malaysian fathers are only entitled to citizenship by operation of the law if the father is married to the non-Malaysian mother.<sup>610</sup> Such situations could arise where, for example, the mother is stateless or is from a country that does not allow her nationality to be conferred. Additionally, a child born abroad to a Malaysian mother and foreign father will not automatically assume citizenship; an application for citizenship must be made under Article 15 of the Federal Constitution. This can make children, if born overseas to a Malaysian mother and foreign father, vulnerable to statelessness if unable to acquire their father's nationality. News reports indicate that this interpretation (i.e. that children born abroad out of wedlock to Malaysian mothers and non-Malaysian fathers are precluded from passing on their citizenship status to their children by operation of the law) has been upheld by the Court of Appeal.<sup>611</sup> As noted above, there is a general rule in the Federal Constitution to confer citizenship on children born within Malaysia who are not otherwise born a citizen of any country and do not acquire citizenship of any country within the period of 1 year of birth.<sup>612</sup> Although traditionally not applied in practice,<sup>613</sup> news reports highlight a case in which this provision appears to have been applied.<sup>614</sup>

The legislation of all ASEAN Member States outlines the circumstances in which citizens can renounce or be deprived of their nationality. The grounds for loss of nationality include (amongst others) residence abroad, voluntary acquisition of another citizenship, service in foreign military or other services reserved for citizens, disloyalty to the country and involvement in war with an enemy of the country. **Myanmar**'s Citizenship Law provides for revocation of associate or naturalised citizenship on a wide range of grounds, including where a person leaves the State permanently or acquires citizenship of another country and, in the case of a naturalised citizen, has committed an offence involving moral turpitude for which he or she has received a fine of 1000 K. or have been sentenced to imprisonment for a minimum of one year.<sup>615</sup> In contrast to the other focus countries, **Cambodian** legislation provides that Khmer citizens cannot be deprived of nationality. They can apply to renounce nationality voluntarily if they are over the age of 18 and have acquired another nationality (to prevent statelessness).<sup>616</sup> Only **Cambodia** and **Viet Nam** permit dual nationality, although **Indonesia** allows children born from an international marriage to retain dual citizenship until they reach 18 (or marry), when they must select one of the nationalities.<sup>617</sup>

Where citizenship is relinquished or lost by a parent, some countries' laws contain express provisions governing the effect on any child's citizenship. In **Indonesia** and the **Philippines**, loss of citizenship by the parent does not automatically lead to the loss of citizenship by any child.<sup>618</sup> In **Lao PDR**, where citizenship is relinquished or withdrawn, the nationality of the concerned individual's spouse or children is not altered, except where both parents relinquish Lao nationality, in which case the nationality of their children (under the

<sup>610</sup> Malay Mail, 'Court: Children born overseas can get citizenship by operation of law if father is Malaysian', 11 August 2022, <<u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/08/11/court-children-born-overseas-can-get-citizenship-by-operation-of-law-if-father-is-malaysian/22350>, accessed 22 March 2023.</u>

<sup>611</sup> Malay Mail, 'Court: Children born overseas can get citizenship by operation of law if father is Malaysian', 11 August 2022, <<u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/08/11/court-children-born-overseas-can-get-citizenship-by-operation-of-law-if-father-is-malaysian/22350>, accessed 22 March 2023.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>609</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Schedule II, Part III, para 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>612</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Article 14(1)(b) and Schedule II, Part II, paras. 1(e) and 2(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>613</sup> UNICEF Malaysia Country Office, written communication with Coram International received on 11 July 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>614</sup> Lim, Ida., 'Malaysian govt fails final bid to stop recognition of Sabah-born stateless man as a citizen', Malay Mail, 26 October 2022, <<u>https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/10/26/malaysian-govt-fails-final-bid-to-stop-recognition-of-sabah-born-stateless-man-as-a-citizen/35652></u>, accessed 22 March 2023.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>615</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Section 58 (f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>616</sup> Cambodia, Law on Nationality 1996, Article 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>617</sup> Indonesia, Law 12 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia 2006, Article 6. The choice of citizenship must be made within 3 years of the child reaching 18 or getting married.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>618</sup> Indonesia, Law 12 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia 2006, Article 25; The Philippines, Revised Rules Governing Philippine Citizenship under Republic Act 9255, 2008, Section 2.

age of 18) changes in parallel unless the child is married.<sup>619</sup> In **Malaysia**, where a parent has renounced or been deprived of citizenship as a consequence of acquiring citizenship of another country or having obtained citizenship fraudulently, the government can order that the child of that parent be deprived of citizenship, except where deprivation of citizenship would result in statelessness.<sup>620</sup> Minors of parents who renounce their **Vietnamese** nationality (e.g. to acquire a foreign nationality) will also lose their nationality, although where a parent is deprived of Vietnamese nationality, the nationality of the minor child will not change.<sup>621</sup> In **Singapore**, where a parent has renounced Singaporean citizenship or has been deprived of citizenship due to acquiring another citizenship, the child's citizenship can be revoked too.<sup>622</sup> In **Myanmar**, if *both* parents of a child lose their associate/naturalised citizenship, then the child ceases to be an associate/naturalised citizen.<sup>623</sup> A similar cessation happens if the child has one parent who is a foreign national, and the other has associate/naturalised citizenship that is lost.<sup>624</sup> It is noted that, more generally, in **Thailand**, the Constitution prohibits the revocation of Thai nationality acquired by birth.<sup>625</sup>

The laws of **Indonesia**,<sup>626</sup> **Lao PDR**,<sup>627</sup> the **Philippines**,<sup>628</sup> **Thailand**,<sup>629</sup> **Viet Nam**<sup>630</sup> and, in limited circumstances, **Brunei Darussalam**,<sup>631</sup> contain provisions governing the recovery of nationality, where nationality has been lost or renounced. **Viet Nam** also undertakes to adopt policies to 'create favourable conditions' to restore Vietnamese nationality in respect of persons residing abroad.<sup>632</sup> However, no express provisions were found in the legislation that would fulfil the requirements of Article 8 of the CRC.

#### **Recommendations:**

- Consider removing the reservation to Article 7 of the CRC on the right of the child to acquire a nationality [Malaysia].
- Include an express provision in the law affirming the right of all children to acquire nationality from birth without discrimination [Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Singapore and Thailand].
- Consider automatic conferral of nationality on children born in the relevant territory (irrespective of parents' migrant status) and ensure automatic conferral where the child would otherwise be stateless.
- Amend legislation to enable either parent to pass on citizenship to their child irrespective of the place of birth of the child or marital status of the parents at the time of the child's birth [Brunei Darussalam; Malaysia].
- Amend laws/introduce provisions to ensure that deprivation of parents' citizenship does not automatically lead to loss of child's citizenship (particularly if this would render the child stateless).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>619</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Nationality 2017, Article 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>620</sup> Malaysia, Federal Constitution 2010, Articles 26A and 26B(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>621</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Nationality 2008, Article 35-36,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>622</sup> Singapore, Constitution of the Republic of Singapore 2001, as amended, Section 130.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>623</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Article 29 and Article 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>624</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Article 29 and Article 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>625</sup> Thailand, Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand 2017, Section 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>626</sup> Indonesia, Law 12 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia 2006, Article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>627</sup> Lao PDR, Law on Nationality 2017, Article 26 (although this does not permit the recovery of nationality where nationality had been withdrawn).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup> The Philippines, Revised Rules Governing Philippine Citizenship under Republic Act 9255 2008, Sections 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>629</sup> Thailand, Nationality Act 2008, Section 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>630</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Nationality 2008, Article 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>631</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Brunei Nationality Act, S 55/02, Revised Edition 2011, Chapter 15, Section 9(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>632</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Nationality 2008, Article 7(2).

### 8 Birth registration

Does the law provide for all children, regardless of their migration status or lack thereof, to be registered immediately after birth? Are there any legal barriers to birth registration?

	Requirement to register all children immediately after birth	Legal provision for issuance of birth certificate
Brunei		
Darussalam		
Cambodia		
Indonesia		
Lao PDR		
Malaysia		
(Peninsular)		
Myanmar		
Philippines		
Singapore		
Thailand		
Viet Nam		

Under Article 7 of the CRC, children must be registered immediately after birth. All ASEAN Member States are party to the CRC and are therefore bound by its provisions, although Malaysia has issued a reservation in respect of Article 7 stating that the provision 'shall be applicable only if they are in conformity with the Constitution, national laws and national policies of the Government of Malaysia' (see Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States). Article 29 of the CMW also requires each child of a migrant worker to have the right to birth registration. States Parties are urged to 'take all necessary measures' to ensure immediate birth registration and issue birth certificates for a child, irrespective of the child's migration status or that of their parents.<sup>633</sup> Legal barriers to accessing birth registration services should therefore be removed such as requiring parents to produce documentation regarding their migration status and 'avoiding financial penalties for late registration.'<sup>634</sup> Further, under paragraph 8 of the ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration, the ASEAN Member States agree to coordinate with their respective consular offices/embassies/legal authorities to facilitate the registration of all births on their territories and the issuance of birth certificates, 'allowing for all children born in the territory to be registered in accordance to the respective prevailing laws and regulations.'

Provisions on the registration of births and related documentation are contained in the **final draft Thailand-Myanmar MOU** (which has not yet been adopted). Pursuant to Article 9, the parties agree to 'provide the registration of all births and the issuance of birth registrations in their territories, allowing for all children born in the territory of either country to be registered and for the registration document to be used as a basis for acquiring nationality of their parents in accordance with the relevant law and regulation of their respective countries'. The aim of this provision appears to be to enable migrant children born outside their parents' country of origin to have their birth registered in both countries and to obtain the nationality of their parents.

Every ASEAN State provides for all children to be registered after birth, although in **Vietnam**, children are defined as persons below the age of 16.<sup>635</sup> The legislation reviewed specified the following time limits for birth registration: 14 days in **Brunei Darussalam**;<sup>636</sup> 15 days (except where the birth takes place outside the house

<sup>633</sup> CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>634</sup> CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>635</sup> Viet Nam, Children Law No. 102 of 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>636</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 12(1).

and cannot be reported in this time period, in which case 30 days) in **Thailand**<sup>637</sup> and the **Philippines**;<sup>638</sup> 30 days in **Cambodia**<sup>639</sup> and **Lao PDR**;<sup>640</sup> 42 days in **Singapore**;<sup>641</sup> and 60 days in **Indonesia**,<sup>642</sup> **Malaysia** (Peninsular Malaysia; Sabah and Sarawak have separate legislation which is not covered in the legal review)<sup>643</sup> and **Viet Nam**.<sup>644</sup> In **Myanmar**, although the Child Rights Law provides for birth registration, it does not specify a period of time in which the child's birth must be registered.<sup>645</sup> However, the Citizenship Law requires that the child's birth must be registered within one year from the date the child completes the age of 10 years or if the child is born outside Myanmar, within one year from the date of birth.<sup>646</sup>

Failure to register within the prescribed time limits can result in a fine in Brunei Darussalam, <sup>647</sup> Cambodia, Indonesia<sup>648</sup> and the Philippines,<sup>649</sup> the payment of a fee in Malaysia<sup>650</sup> and Viet Nam,<sup>651</sup> and a fine (increasing each day) and/or imprisonment in Singapore.652 However, in Brunei Darussalam, upon payment of a prescribed fee, the Deputy Registrar may permit the necessary information to be provided for the registration at a later date (within 42 days after birth).<sup>653</sup> Postal charges may apply in **Viet Nam**.<sup>654</sup> Approval of the relevant authorities must also be obtained in the event of late registration in Indonesia<sup>655</sup> and Malaysia.<sup>656</sup> In Malaysia, legislation requires that, where the parents are unmarried, the details of the father will only be entered into the register at the joint request of the mother and the person acknowledging the child as his.<sup>657</sup> However, in November 2021, the Federal Court of Putrajaya in Malaysia upheld an appeal to affirm that the National Registration Department was under a statutory duty to record the particulars of the natural father of an 'illegitimate' child and/or to correct, amend or update such records, when evidence and undisputed facts were available (in this particular case, DNA records and a court declaration that the individual was the child's biological father).<sup>658</sup> The court regarded this to be in the best interests and welfare of the child and consonant with Malaysia's obligations under the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.<sup>659</sup> In Myanmar, despite not having rules on late registration, section 21( D) of the Child Rights Law states that when a child's birth has not been registered, a parent, guardian or any relevant person should 'inform the birth of the child to the

<sup>644</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, Article 15.

<sup>647</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>637</sup> Thailand, Civil Registration Act 1991, Section 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act 3753, Law on Registry of Civil Status 1930, Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>639</sup> Cambodia, Civil Code 2006, Article 985.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Article 19. Note that this law refers to Family Registration Law which has not been reviewed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>641</sup> Singapore, Registration of Births and Deaths Act 2021, Section 12(2)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>642</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2006, Article 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup> Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act 1957, Section 8. Note that Section 9 requires the information to be provided to the registrar within 14 days where a new-born is 'found exposed'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup> Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup> Myanmar, Citizenship Law 1982, Section 9 proviso. The Vital Birth Registration Manual makes it possible to register births of all children up to 10 years of age in the place where they were born or where they live.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>648</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2006, Article 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup> The Philippines, Republic Act 3753, Law on Registry of Civil Status 1930, Section 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup> Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act 2018, as amended, Section 12. Note that the fee can be waived in part or in whole by the Registrar-General.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>651</sup> Viet Name, Law on Civil Status 2014, Article 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>652</sup> Singapore, Section 8(4), Registration of Births and Deaths Act 2021, Section 8(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 3.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>655</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2006, Article 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup> Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act 2018, as amended, Section 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup> Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act, 2018, as amended, Section 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>658</sup> Leow Fook Keong (L) v. Pendaftar Besar Bagi Kelahiran Dan Kematian Malaysia, Jabatan Pendaftaran Negara, Malaysia & Anor [2022] 2 MLRA 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>659</sup> Leow Fook Keong (L) v. Pendaftar Besar Bagi Kelahiran Dan Kematian Malaysia, Jabatan Pendaftaran Negara, Malaysia & Anor [2022] 2 MLRA 29, para 68.

concerned governmental department for registration by submitting the recommendation of the child's birth from relevant ward or village tract administrator or a proof certificate of delivery issued by the officer-incharge of the hospital or Delivery Room concerned.'

None of the ASEAN Member States' laws restrict the requirement or right to register a birth to their citizens or children of their citizens. In some jurisdictions it is clear that birth registration applies to all births occurring in the territory. In **Singapore**, this is stated explicitly,<sup>660</sup> with the law also providing for birth registration of children born on a plane, vessel or train bound for Singapore.<sup>661</sup> The Law on Population Administration in **Indonesia** provides that 'each resident' (meaning Indonesian citizens and foreigners domiciled in Indonesia) must report 'vital events', which include births, to the relevant authority.<sup>662</sup> It also stipulates that every resident in Indonesia is entitled to 'equal service' in civil registration matters.<sup>663</sup> In **Thailand**, Section 18 of the Civil Registration Act requires the birth registration of every child and applies to all children irrespective of legal status, with subsequent provisions referring to children who have not acquired Thai nationality.<sup>664</sup> Legislation in other countries simply refer to the right of 'a' or 'every' child, or 'each individual' to birth registration, with the relevant laws not being restricted in application to citizens. **Myanmar's** Child Rights Law provides that 'all children born within the country shall have the right to birth registration,' and the 2017 Manual on Birth and Death Registration states that all children 'born in all parts of the country, will be registered - regardless of their parents' nationality, ethnicity and citizenship status.' The **Indonesian** and **Lao** laws also contain provisions requiring the registration of births of citizens born abroad.<sup>665</sup>

There is also specific reference in the legislation of Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam to the registration of foundlings. In Indonesia, where a child's descent and parents' location are unknown, birth registration and the issuance of the birth certificate is based on a report from the person who found the child together with a police record.<sup>666</sup> In Malaysia, the person who finds a new-born, and any person in whose charge the child is placed, are under a duty to provide particulars concerning the birth of the child (to the extent known) to the registrar within 14 days from which the child was found.<sup>667</sup> In the **Philippines**, the person who found the child shall report to the local civil registrar the place, date, hour of finding and other attendant circumstances.<sup>668</sup> In **Thailand**, the birth of a foundling or abandoned child must be reported, noting details of (amongst others) the person who found the child, circumstances in which the child was found and, where the nationality is unknown, recording that fact.<sup>669</sup> There is also an obligation on an agency providing official care for a homeless or abandoned child or a child whose parents are unknown and whose birth has not been registered to record the birth.<sup>670</sup> Failure to comply with these provisions (in Articles 19 and 19/1) is liable to an administrative fine of up to 1,000 baht under Section 47 of the Civil Registration Act. Section 19/2 (as amended in 2019) provides that a registrar must issue a foundling with the relevant identity documents. In Viet Nam, there must be a written record by a 'competent agency' certifying the child's abandonment in order to register the birth, following a procedure outlined by law.<sup>671</sup> The individual or organisation charged with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>660</sup> Singapore, Registration of Births and Deaths Act 2021, Section 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup> Singapore, Registration of Births and Deaths Act 2021, Section 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>662</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2006, Article 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup> Article 8(1)(b) places a corresponding duty on the relevant agency to provide 'equal and professional services' to every resident with respect to the reporting of 'vital events'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup> Note that Section 5 of the same Act refers to the power of the relevant Minister to undertake various measures (including prescribing or exempting birth registration related to non-Thai persons pursuant to the laws on nationality).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2006, Article 4, and Lao PDR, Law on Protection of Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Article 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>666</sup> Indonesia, Law on Population Administration 2007, Article 28 and Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup> Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act 2018, as amended, Article 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup> The Philippines, Law on Registry of Civil Status 1930, Section 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup> Thailand, Civil Registration Act 1991, Section 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>670</sup> Thailand, Civil Registration Act 1991, Section 19/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>671</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, Article 16(1); Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 14.

temporary care of the child is responsible for applying to register the child's birth.<sup>672</sup> If there are insubstantial grounds for determining the child's place of birth, the place where the child was found is regarded as the place of birth and native place.<sup>673</sup>

Following the registration of the birth, Cambodia (via secondary legislation), Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, and **Thailand** expressly provide for the issuance of a birth certificate by the registry<sup>674</sup> or, in **Brunei Darussalam**, a copy of the entry in the register signed by the Deputy Registrar, free of charge.<sup>675</sup> However, in Brunei Darussalam, a certified copy of the entry is only available on payment of a prescribed fee.<sup>676</sup> Indeed, it is the certified copy (as opposed to a copy of the original) which is taken as prima facie evidence in courts and tribunals of the registration (subject to limited exceptions in cases of post registration information).<sup>677</sup> Article 20 of the Civil Registration Act of **Thailand** stipulates that every child whose birth has been registered must be issued with a birth certificate, regardless of legal status. Similarly, Article 14 of the Births and Registration Act requires the registrar to give the applicant a birth certificate at the time of registering the birth. Lao PDR's Child Law refers to a birth certificate, but this is issued by the hospital where the child is born, which is then taken to the parent's village for registration in their family book.<sup>678</sup> In **Cambodia**, Article 24 of the Sub-Decree on Civil Status (Civil Registration) provides that the registrar must issue one copy of the original birth certificate to the applicant once the birth has been registered. In Viet Nam, the law expressly provides for the issuance of a birth certificate following registration of the birth;<sup>679</sup> although births registered on time are exempt from the civil status registration fee, fees and charges may apply to applicants who request the results or certificate to be sent to them by post.<sup>680</sup>

Despite the requirement or right to register a birth, birth registration procedures may require documentation proving migration status (and thus legality of residence), full details of the circumstances of the birth of children or proof of marriage for the inclusion of both parents' names on the birth register and resulting birth certificate. These can create legal barriers to the registration of children affected by migration. In the legislation reviewed, there was no information on the supporting documentation required to register a birth except in the case of **Viet Nam**. Under **Viet Nam's** laws, documentation required for registering a birth include: the original certificate of live birth or, in its absence a document of a witness certifying the birth, or written pledge of birth or written record of abandonment made by a competent agency;<sup>681</sup> for registering a birth with District-level People's Committees where both parents are 'foreigners,'<sup>682</sup> a document on the agreement of the parents on the selection of the child's citizenship which contains the certification of a competent foreign State agency of which they are citizens; for all applications, an original version of the applicant's valid passport, identity card or other document containing a photo and personal information which has been issued by a competent authority for identity and verification purposes; and notarised translations of any foreign documents into Vietnamese which have also been signed by the translator (subject to certain exceptions).<sup>683</sup> For children born in Viet Nam in a border area to a Vietnamese citizen and person who is a citizen of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>672</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 14.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>673</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 14.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>674</sup> Cambodia, Sub-Decree on Civil Status (Civil Registration) No. 103 of 2000, Article 24; Indonesia, Law on Child Protection 2002, Articles 27(2) and 28(1) and Law on Population Administration, Articles 27 and 69; Malaysia, Births and Deaths Registration Act 2018, as amended, Section 14; and Thailand, Civil Registration Act B.E. 2534 1991 (as amended), Article 20; Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 21(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>675</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 5(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>676</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 10(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>677</sup> Brunei Darussalam, Births and Deaths Registration Act, Revised Edition 2013, Chapter 79, Section 10(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup> Lao PDR, Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children 2006, Article 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>679</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, Articles 4.6, 16.2 and 36.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>680</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 3.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>681</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, Article 16(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>682</sup> Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, particularly Articles 4.1, 7 and 35, lists the categories of birth registration which fall within the competences of the 'Commune-level People's Committees' and 'District-Level People's Committees'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>683</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Articles 2 and 9.

neighbouring country, copies of documents proving the identity and permanent residence in the border area of the non-Vietnamese parent must be submitted.<sup>684</sup> For children born abroad to Vietnamese parent(s) and taken to reside in Viet Nam, the following documents must be submitted: documents providing the child's residence in Viet Nam; as a general rule, a certificate of live birth or equivalent document issued by the foreign competent authority certifying that the child was born abroad and mother-child relationship (if any); and agreement on selection of the child's nationality.<sup>685</sup> Applications for re-registration also require the submission of certain documentation.<sup>686</sup> 'Overseas Vietnamese persons' or 'foreigners' whose births were registered by the competent Vietnamese authorities before 1 January 2016 but who have lost the 'vital records or original copies of the vital records' (e.g. birth certificate) are eligible for re-registration.<sup>687</sup> For those States in which no such requirements were found, but it is possible that such requirements are contained in secondary legislation. An additional potential barrier are birth registration fees and associated administration costs. Whilst the **Indonesian** legislation expressly stipulates that the *birth certificate* is provided free of charge, as does the **Myanmar** and **Vietnamese** legislation with regard to birth registration (in **Viet Nam**, as long as the birth is registered on time),<sup>688</sup> it can be assumed that in the other countries which charge a fee or penalty for late registration (as outlined above), registration within the relevant time limits is free of charge.

#### **Recommendations:**

- Consider removing the reservation to Article 7 of the CRC [Malaysia].
- Include a provision in primary legislation to require birth registration *immediately after birth* [Myanmar].
- Consider including express provision requiring the registration of births of all children born in the territory, *irrespective of migration status or that of their parents*.
- Extend the definition of 'child' in the Children Law, and hence the right of the child to birth registration, to all persons under the age of 18 [Viet Nam].
- Include express provision regarding the issuance of official birth certificates for all registered births free of charge [Brunei Darussalam, Philippines, Singapore and Viet Nam].
- Consider incorporating the provision requiring the issuance of a birth certificate for registered births, in primary legislation [Cambodia].
- Include express provision confirming that birth registration is free of charge [all ASEAN Member States apart from Myanmar and Viet Nam].
- Consider removing fines or fees for late registration by parents [Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and Viet Nam].
- Remove the penalty of imprisonment for parents or carers who fail to register the birth of their child within the prescribed time limited [Singapore].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>685</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>686</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>687</sup> Viet Nam, Decree on Guidelines for the Law on Civil Status 2015, Article 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>688</sup> Indonesia, Law on Child Protection (as amended in 2017), Article 28(4); Myanmar, Child Rights Law 2019, Section 21(a); Viet Nam, Law on Civil Status 2014, Article 11.1(b).

# Annex 1: Conceptual Framework

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
Immigration processes and	d decision-making	
(a) Does the law require the best interests of the child to be a primary consideration in	In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration.	CRC, Art 3(1)
immigration processes and decision-making?	States parties shall ensure that the best interests of the child are taken fully into consideration in immigration law, planning, implementation and assessment of migration policies and decision-making on individual cases, including in granting or refusing applications on entry to or residence in a country, decisions regarding migration enforcement where the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration and thus have high priority. In particular, the best interests of the child should be ensured explicitly through individual procedures as an integral part of any administrative or judicial decision concerning the entry, residence or return of a child, placement or care of a child, or the detention or expulsion of a parent associated with his or her own migration status The Committees stress that States parties should give high priority to the child's best interests in their legislation, policy and practice.	CMW GC No. (2017) / CRC GC No. 22 (2017), paras 29-30 and 32(a)
	The best interests of the child are a primary consideration in all relevant policies and practices in the context of migration.	ASEAN Declaration, para 1
1.1. (b) Does the law require a 'best interests assessment' and 'best interests determination' to be undertaken as part of, or to inform, decisions affecting migrant children?	In order to implement the best interests principle in migration-related procedures or decisions that could affect children, best-interests assessments and determination procedures should be undertaken systematically as part of, or to inform, migration- related and other decisions that affect migrant children.	CMW GC No. 3 (2017) / CRC GC No. 22 (2017), para 31

Questions		Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
2. Migra	ation control and	l immigration detention	
the childr or liabili migra activi	ation-related ities or due to child or their nt's migration s (or lack	International standards prohibit the criminalisation of a child or imposition of punitive measures based on the child or parent's migration status. Irregular entry and stay do not constitute crimes per se against persons, property or national security. Criminalizing irregular entry and stay exceeds the legitimate interest of States parties to control and regulate migration, and leads to arbitrary detention.	CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 7
immi deter childr	the law permit gration ntion of ren? Does the prohibit it?	No child shall be deprived of his or her liberty unlawfully or arbitrarily and that arrest, detention or imprisonment of a child shall be in conformity with the law and shall be used only as a measure of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time.	CRC, Art 37(b)
		Detention cannot be justified solely on the basis of the child being a UASC, or on their migratory or residence status, or lack thereof. In the application of Article 37 of the CRC and the best interests principle, 'unaccompanied or separated children should not, as a general rule, be detained.' Every child, at all times, has a fundamental right to liberty and freedom from immigration detention.	CRC GC No. 6 (2005), paras 61-62 CMW GC No. 4 (2017) /
		The Committee on the Rights of the Child has asserted that the detention of any child because of their or their parents' migration status constitutes a child rights violation and contravenes the principle of the best interests of the child. In this light, both Committees have repeatedly affirmed that children should never be detained for reasons related to their or their parents' migration status and States should expeditiously and completely cease or eradicate the immigration detention of children. Any kind of child immigration detention should be forbidden by law and such prohibition should be fully implemented in practice.	CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 5

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
	UNHCR also clearly opposes the detention of children for immigration-related purposes, irrespective	UNHCR, UNHCR's
	of the child's legal or migratory status or that of their parents and considers that detention in such	position regarding the
	circumstances is never in the child's best interests.	detention of refugee
		and migrant children in
		the migration context,
		2017
2.3. Are there any	Develop alternatives to immigration detention. Ensure that, where possible children are kept together	ASEAN Declaration,
alternatives to	with their families in non-custodial and clean and safe environment.	para 9
immigration		
detention of		
children under the		
law and, if so, what		
are they? 3. Child Protection		
service support to vulnerat child protection systems.	le children and families and other populations in need.' <sup>689</sup> Children affected by migration should be mains	treamed within national
· · ·	n affected by migration in the child protection system	
3.1.1. To what extent		ASEAN Declaration,
are children affected	and to enhance their accessibility for children affected by migration, including those who are	paras 2 and 4
by migration	unaccompanied or separated from their families, those requiring protection and assistance, and	
integrated into the	resolve to ensure that national child protection systems address the rights and needs of children in	
national child	the context of migration.	
protection system?	Child protection systems at the national and local levels should mainstream child migrants into their	CMW GC No. (2017) /
(e.g. do child	programmes, regardless of whether the State is a country of origin, transit, destination or return.	CRC GC No. 22 (2017),
protection laws		para 14
apply only to		
nationals?)		
	referrals of children affected by migration who are suffering or are at risk of suffering serious harm (i.	e. 'in need of care and
protection')		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>689</sup> Global Social Service Workforce Alliance, Core Concepts and Principles of Effective Case Management: Approaches for the Social Service Workforce, 2018, p 7.

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
3.2.1. (a) Is there a legal	Case management (see further above) includes the identification and referral of children to the	-
obligation for professionals and	responsible child protection authority where there is cause to believe that the child is suffering or at risk of suffering significant harm.	
practitioners	The prompt identification of children in migration and border-control procedures is essential for	CRC General Comment
(particularly border and migration control officials) to make a child protection referral for children affected by migration who are in need of care and protection?	ensuring that anyone claiming to be a child is treated as such and promptly referred to child protection and other relevant services where needed.	No. 22, para 32(h)
3.3. Special consideration	s for unaccompanied or separated children affected by migration	
3.3.1. Do border and migration control officials have a legal obligation to make a child protection referral if they suspect that the child is unaccompanied or separated (UASC)?	States Parties undertake to respect the right of the child to preserve his or her identity, including nationality, name and family relations as recognized by law without unlawful interference. This requires the prioritized identification of a child as separated or unaccompanied immediately upon arrival at ports of entry or as soon as their presence in the country becomes known to the authorities. The CRC Committee regards this as the necessary first step in the initial assessment of the child in order to determine the priority of the child's protection needs.	• CRC, Art 8 CRC GC No. 6 (2005), para 31(i)
3.3.2. To what extent are the provisions on family tracing	In accordance with the obligation under Art 9.1 of the CRC (above), States Parties are required to deal with applications by a child or his or her parents to enter or leave a State Party for the purpose of family reunification 'in a positive, humane and expeditious manner.'	CRC, Art 10.1
and reunification (if any) in line with	To implement these obligations with respect to UASC in cross-border migration contexts, the CRC Committee recommends that States Parties should identify a 'durable solution' that addresses the	CRC GC No. 6, para 79

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
international	child's protection needs, takes into account the child's views and 'wherever possible, leads to	
standards?	overcoming the situation of a child being unaccompanied or separated.'	
	Family tracing is an important part of identifying a durable solution for the child and considering the	CRC GC No. 6, para 80
	possibility of family reunification. The CRC Committee recommends that family tracing 'should be	
	prioritized except where the act of tracing, or the way in which tracing is conducted, would be contrary	
	to the best interests of the child or jeopardize fundamental rights of those being traced.'	
	This means that 'all efforts should be made to return [the child]to his or her parents except where	CRC GC No. 6, para 81
	further separation is necessary for the best interests of the child, taking full account of the right of the	
	child to express his or her views.'	
3.4. Non-refoulement and	return to country of origin	
3.4.1. Are the	Return of a separated or unaccompanied child to the country of origin is not an option if the principle	CRC GC No. 6 (2005),
provisions on return	of refoulement applies.	para 84
of a child affected by		
migration in line		
with international	In asylum contexts, States are prohibited expelling or returning a refugee in any manner whatsoever	Refugee Convention
standards?	to the frontiers of territories where his/her life or freedom would be threatened on account of the	1951, Art 33(1)-(2);
	person's race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion. The	also jus cogens
	only exception to this principle is where there are reasonable grounds for regarding the refugee as a	
	danger to the security of the country in which he/she is, or who, having been convicted by a final	
	judgment of a particularly serious crime, constitutes a danger to the community of that country.	
	However, UNHCR recommends that, '[i]In view of the serious consequences to a refugee of being	UNHCR, Note on Non-
	returned to a country where he is in danger of persecution, the exception should be applied with	Refoulement,
	the greatest caution.' <sup>690</sup> UNHCR adds that it is therefore 'necessary to take fully into account all the	EC/SCP/2, 23 August
	circumstances of the case and, where the refugee has been convicted of a serious criminal offence, to	1977, para 14
	any mitigating factors and the possibilities of rehabilitation and reintegration within society.'	
	State parties are prohibited from returning or extraditing a person (not just refugees) to another State	CAT, Art 3
	where there are substantial grounds for believing that the person would be in danger of being	
	subjected to torture. For determining such grounds, the competent authorities must take into account	
	'all relevant considerations including, where applicable, the existence in the State concerned of a	
	consistent pattern of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights.'	
	In fulfilling the obligations under the CRC, States Parties must not return a child to a country 'where	CRC GC No. 6 (2005),
	there are substantial grounds for believing that there is a real risk of irreparable harm to the child,'	para 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>690</sup> UNHCR, Note on Non-Refoulement, EC/SCP/2, 23 August 1977, para 14.

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
	either in the country to which the child will be removed or in any other country to which the child may	
	subsequently be removed. Irreparable harm includes, but is not limited to, violations of the child's	
	right to life, survival and development, or violations of the rights and prohibitions in Article 37 of the	
	CRC.	
	Return to the country of origin is also not an option if it would lead to a "reasonable risk" that such	CRC GC No. 6 (2005),
	return would result in the violation of fundamental human rights of the child. Return to the country	para 84
	of origin shall in principle only be arranged if such return is in the best interests of the child.' (The	
	factors that should be taken into account in making this determination are listed in paragraph 84 of CRC GC No. 6 (2005)).	
	In the absence of the availability of care provided by parents or members of the extended family,	CRC GC No. 6 (2005),
	return to the country of origin should, in principle, not take place without advance secure and concrete	para 84
	arrangements of care and custodial responsibilities upon return to the country of origin.	
4. Asylum		
4.1. Is the ASEAN State a	See Error! Reference source not found.	-
party to the Refugee		
Convention 1951		
and Refugee Status		
Protocol 1967?		
4.2. Does the national	'Refugee' is a person who owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion,	Refugee Convention
law recognise child	nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion:	1951, Art 1A(2)
asylum-seekers and	• Is outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to	
refugees and, if so,	avail himself of the protection of that country; or	
to what extent are	• Who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence	
the definitions in	as a result of such events, is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it.	
line with	This includes children who meet the definition of refugee.	
international	This meldues emulen who meet the definition of refugee.	
standards?	This definition excludes persons in respect to whom there are <i>serious reasons</i> for considering that:	Refugee Convention
	• He/she has committed a crime against peace, a war crime, or a crime against humanity, as	1951, Art 1F
	defined under relevant international laws;	
	• He/she has committed a serious non-political crime outside the country of refuge prior to	
	his/her admission to that country as a refugee; or	

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
	He/she has been guilty of acts contrary to the purposes and principles of the United Nations.	
	Persons who at the time being are receiving protection or assistance from UN organs or agencies other than the UNHCR, as well as persons who are recognised by a competent authority of the country in which he has taken residence as having the rights and obligations which are attached to the possession	Refugee Convention 1951, Arts 1D and E
	<ul> <li>of the nationality of that country, do not fall under the asylum regime.</li> <li>A person ceases to have refugee status if the person: <ul> <li>Has voluntarily re-availed himself or herself of the protection of the country of his nationality;</li> <li>Having lost his/her nationality, has voluntarily reacquired it;</li> <li>Has acquired a new nationality, and enjoys the protection of the country of his/her new nationality;</li> <li>Has voluntarily re-established himself or herself in the country which he/she left or outside which he/she remained owing to fear of persecution;</li> <li>Can no longer, because the circumstances in connection with which he/she has been recognized as a refugee have ceased to exist, continue to refuse to avail himself/herself of the protection of the country of his nationality; or</li> <li>Being a person who has no nationality, is, because the circumstances in connection with which he/she has been recognized as a refugee have ceased to exist, able to return to the country</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Refugee Convention 1951, Art 1C.
4.4 Does the law enshrine	of his/her former habitual residence. Cross refer to question above on return.	See further above.
the principle of non- refoulement?		
5. Child trafficking	res States to 'take all appropriate national, bilateral and multilateral measures to prevent the abductior or in any form.'	n of, the sale of or traffic
5.1 To what extent is the trafficking of children prohibited under the law?	person under 18) for the purpose of exploitation. It applies to all children, regardless of migration	<ul> <li>Palermo Protocol, Arts 3(a)-(b)</li> <li>ASEAN Convention</li> </ul>

Questions	Description of Relevant International or Regional Standard	Reference
	For definitions of forced labour, slavery or practices similar to slavery and servitude, see question 6 below.	
5.2. To what extent is the trafficking of CABM	Child trafficking, as defined above, is criminalised and subject to penal sanctions, under the law.	Palermo Protocol, Art 5.
criminalised under the	See US Department of State, Trafficking in Persons Report June 2020, for analysis on the stringency of	
law?	criminal laws on (child) trafficking ( <u>https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/2020-TIP-</u>	
	Report-Complete-062420-FINAL.pdf).	
Nationality and Statelessn		
To what extent does the national law respect and protect the right of the	The child shall have the right from birth to acquire a nationality; each child of a migrant worker shall have the right to a nationality.	CRC, Art 7; CMW, Art 29
child to a nationality?	States Parties shall ensure the implementation of this right in accordance with their national law and their obligations under the relevant international instruments in this field, in particular where the child would otherwise be stateless.	
	States Parties undertake to respect the right of the child to preserve his or her identity, including nationality, without unlawful interference. Where a child is illegally deprived of some or all of the elements of his or her identity, States Parties shall provide appropriate assistance and protection, with a view to re-establishing speedily his or her identity.	CRC, Art 8
Birth registration		
Does the law provide for all children, regardless of their migration status or lack thereof, to be registered immediately after birth?	Children must be registered immediately after birth; each child of a migrant worker shall have the right to registration of birth.	CRC, Art 7; CMW, Art 29
7.2 Are there any legal barriers to registering the birth of CABM?	The CRC Committee urges States parties to 'take all necessary measures to ensure that all children are immediately registered at birth and issued birth certificates, irrespective of migration status or that of their parents.' Legal barriers to accessing birth registration services should therefore be removed such as requiring parents to produce documentation regarding their migration status.	CRC GC No. 23 (2017), para 20-21

# Annex 2: Documents Reviewed

State	Law	Year
Brunei	Children and Young Persons Act, chapter 219, revised edition 2012	2006
	Immigration Act, chapter 17, revised edition 2014	1956
	Criminal Procedure Code, chapter 7, revised edition 2016	1951
	Penal Code, chapter 22, revised edition 2001	1951
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons Order	2019
	Women and Girls Protection Act, chapter 120, revised edition 1984	1984
	Brunei Nationality Act, chapter 15, revised edition 2011	1961
	Births and Deaths Registration Act, chapter 79, revised edition 2013	1922
Cambodia	Sub-decree on Procedure for Recognition as a Refugee or Providing Asylum Rights to Foreigners in the Kingdom of Cambodia	2009
	Law on Immigration	1994
	Law on Suppression of Human Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation	2008
	Law on Juvenile Justice	2016
	Civil Code of Cambodia	2008
	Civil Procedure Code	2006
	Code of Criminal Procedure	2008
	Constitution of Cambodia	1993
	Law on Marriage and Family	1989
	Law on Prevention of Domestic Violence and The Protection of Victims	2005
	Law on Tourism	2009
	Law on Nationality	1996
	Penal Code	2011
	Agreement on Guidelines for Practices and Cooperation between the Relevant Government Institutions and Victim Support	2007
	Agencies In Cases of Human Trafficking	
	Policy on Alternative Care for Children	2006
	Guidelines on Implementation of Article 42 & 43 of Trafficking, Minister of Ministry of Justice	2009
	Guidelines for Legal Protection of Women and Children's Rights in Cambodia	2014
	Law on Prison	2011
	Law on Administration and Management of the Capital, Provinces, Municipalities, Districts and Khans	2008

	Sub-Decree on Civil Status (Civil Registration) No. 103	2000
Indonesia	Penal Code	1982
	Law 6/2011 on Immigration (with elucidation)	2011
	Government Regulation no. 31 year 2013 on Implementing Regulation of Law on Immigration	2013
	Government Regulation no. 26/2016 on 1 <sup>nd</sup> Amendment of Government Regulation no. 31 year 2013	2016
	Government Regulation no. 51/2020 on 2 <sup>nd</sup> Amendment of Government Regulation no. 31 year 2013	2020
	Government Regulation no. 48/2021 on 3 <sup>rd</sup> amendment of Government Regulation no. 31 year 2013	2021
	Regulation of the Director General of Immigration No. IMI-0352.GR.02.07 (2016) on the Handling of Illegal Migrant Claiming	2016
	to be Asylum-Seeker or Refugee	
	Regulation of DG Immigration year 2013 on SOP in Immigration Detention Center/Facility	2013
	Regulation of Minister of Law and Human Rights no. 4 year 2017 in Mechanism for Immigration Surveillance [some	2017
	provisions incomplete but do not believe relevant to review]	
	Presidential Regulation no. 65/2020 on the Mandate and Structure of Ministry of Women Empowerment and Child	2020
	Protection	
	Presidential Regulation no. 69/2008 on Anti-Trafficking Task Force	2008
	Presidential Regulation no. 22/2021 About Amendment to Presidential Regulation no 69/2008 Concerning the Task for the	2021
	Prevention and Handling of the Crime of Trafficking in Persons	
	Law no. 7 / 2012 about Handling of Social Conflict	2012
	Government Regulation no. 2/2018 on Minimum Standards of Services	2018
	Government Regulation no. 29/2019 on Requirement and Mechanism for Designation of Guardian	2019
	Government regulation no. 44 year 2017 Concerning Implementation of Child Care	2017
	Government Regulation no. 59/2019 on Coordination of Implementation of Special Protection for Children	2019
	Presidential Regulation no. 125/2016 Concerning the Handling of Foreign Refugees	2016
	Law No. 11 of 2009 on Social Welfare	2009
	Law 11/2012 on Juvenile Justice System	2012
	Law 12/2006 on Citizenship of the Republic of Indonesia	2006
	Law 21/2007 on the Eradication of Criminal Act of Trafficking in Persons	2007
	Law 23/2002 on Child Protection	2002
	Law 35/2014 Concerning Amendment to Law 23/2002 Concerning the Protection of Children	2014
	Law No. 17 on the Adoption of Government Regulations to Substitute Law No. 1 of 2016 regarding the Second Amendment	2016
	of Law No. 23 of 2002 on Child Protection	
	Law 23/2004 on Elimination of Domestic Violence	2004
	Law 23/2006 on Population Administration	2006

	Law 24/2013 on Amendment to Law 23/2006 on Population Administration	2013
	Law 14/2009 Concerning Ratification of Palermo Protocol	2009
	Criminal Procedure Law, Law 8/1981	1981
	Law no. 40 of 2004 Concerning National Social Security System	2004
	Law No 39 Concerning Human Rights	1999
	National Standard of Care for Child Welfare Institutions	2011
ao PDR	Lao People's Democratic Republic Constitution 1991 (as amended to 2015)	1991
	Law on Anti-Trafficking in Persons	2016
	Decree on Adoption of Children	2014
	Law on Family	2008
	Penal Code	2017
	Law on Immigration and Foreigner Management	2015
	Law on Juvenile Criminal Procedures	2013
	Law on Preventing and Combatting Violence against Women and Children	2014
	Law on Development and Protection of Women	2004
	Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children	2006
	Decree on the Implementation of the Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of Children	2012
	Local Government Administration Law	2015
	Guidelines on the protection and referral of trafficking victims (translation)	2020
	Law on Lao Nationality (Amendment)	2017
Aalaysia	Anti-Money Laundering, Anti-Terrorism Financing and Proceeds of Unlawful activities Act	2001
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act	2007
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons (Amendment) Act	2010
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants (Amendment) Act	2015
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons and Anti-Smuggling of Migrants (Amendment) Act	2021
	National Action Plan on Anti Trafficking in Persons (2021-2025)	
	Birth and Deaths Registration Act amended as at March 2018	1957
	Care Centres Act	1993
	Care Centres (Amendment) Act	2017
	Child Act 2001	2001
	Child (Amendment) Act	2016
	Criminal Procedure Code	2006
	Criminal Justice Act 1953 (as at 1 June 2013)	1953
	Children and Young Persons (Employment) Act 1966 (as at 1 October 2019)	

	Domestic Violence Act 1994	1994						
	Domestic Violence (Amendment) Act	2012						
	Domestic Violence (Amendment) Act	2017						
	Employment Act 1955 (as at 20 April 2012)	1955						
	Federal Constitution (as at 1 November 2010)							
	Guardianship of Infants Act 1961 (incorporating all amendments up to 1 January 2006)	1961						
	Islamic Family Law (Federal Territories) Act 1984 (incorporating all amendments up to 1 January 2006)	1984						
	Immigration Act	1959/63						
	Passport Act (incorporating all amendments up to 1 January 2006)	1966						
	Penal Code (as at 1 February 2018)	1976						
	Prison Act	1995						
	Prison (Amendment) Act	2014						
	Prison (Amendment) Act	2015						
	Private Employment Agencies Act (as at 1 October 2018)	1981						
	Shariah Courts (Criminal Jurisdiction) Act (incorporating all amendments up to 1 January 2006)	1965						
	Workers' Minimum Standards of Housing and Amenities Act (incorporating all amendments up to 1 January 2006)	1990						
	Workers' Minimum Standards of Housing and Amenities (Amendment) Act							
/Iyanmar	Child Rights Law No. 22	2019						
	Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act	1947						
	Law Amending the Myanmar Immigration (Emergency Provisions) Act 1947	1990						
	Prevention and Suppression of Trafficking in Persons Law	2022						
	Citizenship Law	1982						
	Law Amending the Myanmar Citizenship Law	1997						
	Constitution of the Republic of Myanmar	2008						
	Manual on Birth and Death Registration	2017						
hilippines	Special Protection of Children Against Child Abuse, Exploitation and Discrimination Act	1992						
	Immigration Act	1940						
	Juvenile Justice and Welfare Act	2006						
	Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act	2003						
	Expanded Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act	2012						
	Rules and Regulations Implementing the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act	2003						
	Child and Youth Welfare Code, Presidential Decree No. 603	1974						
	Special Protection of Children in Situations of Armed Conflict Act	2019						

	Law on Registry of Civil Status	1930
	Administrative Naturalization Law	2000
	Revised Rules Governing Philippines Citizenship under Republic Act No. 9225	2008
	Department of Justice Circular 024 on Strengthening the Refugees and Stateless Persons Protection Unit, Enhancing the Rules	2022
	for Refugee and Stateless Status Determination	
	Rules on Facilitated Naturalization of Refugees and Stateless Persons A.M. No. 21-07-22, approved by the Supreme Court	2022
Singapore	Children and Young Persons Act	1993
	Immigration Act	1959
	Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore Act	1996
	Penal Code	1871
	Criminal Procedure Code	2010
	Constitution of the Republic of Singapore, amended up to 1 December 2021	1965
	Constitution of the Republic of Singapore (Amendment) Act	2004
	Prevention of Human Trafficking Act	2014
	Women's Charter	1961
	Registration of Births and Deaths Act 2021	2021
Thailand	Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) under MOU on the Determination of Measures and Approaches Alternative to Detention	2019
	of Children in Immigration Detention Centres	
	Memorandum of Understanding on The Determination of Measures and Approaches Alternative to Detention of Children in	2019
	Immigration Detention Centers	
	Child Protection Act	2003
	The Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act B.E. 2551	2008
	The Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act (No. 2) BE 2558	2015
	The Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act (No. 3) BE 2560	2017
	Royal Decree Amending the Act on the Prevention and the Suppression of Trafficking in Persons 2008	2019
	Civil Registration Act B.E. 2354	1991
	Civil Registration Act (No 2) B.E. 2551	2008
	Civil Registration Act (No 3) B.E. 2562	2019
	Memorandum of Understanding on Operations between State Agencies and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs)	2003
	Engaged in Addressing. Trafficking in Children and Women	
	Operational Guidelines for NGOs Engaged in Addressing Trafficking in Children and Women	undated
	Child Adoption Act	1979
	Child Adoption Act (No 3) [reviewed translation by google translate]	2010
	Act on Protection of Domestic Violence Victims	2007

	Social Welfare Promotion Act	2003					
	National Child and Youth Development Promotion Act	2007					
	Procedures for Human Trafficking Cases Act	2016					
	Criminal Code B.E. 2499 As Amended until the Criminal Code (No. 17), B.E. 2547 (2003)	1956 / 2003					
	Act Amending the Criminal Code (No. 28) B.E. 2554	2021					
	Act to Amend the Penal Code (No. 29) B.E. 2522	2022					
	Nationality Act B.E. 2508	1965					
	Nationality Act (No. 4) B.E. 2551	2008					
	Nationality Act (No. 5) B.E. 2555	2012					
	Civil and Commercial Code	1925					
	Thailand Ministerial Regulations and Regulations published in the Government Gazette in accordance with the Child	2005/2006					
	Protection Act 2003, The Ministry of Social Development and Human Security						
	Immigration Act B.E. 2522 (1979)	1979					
	Criminal Procedure Code 2005 (as amended to 2008)	2005					
	Act Amending the Code of Criminal Procedure (No. 29)	2008					
	Amendment of the Criminal Procedure Code (No. 32)	2016					
	Amendment of the Criminal Procedure Code (No. 34)	2019					
	Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand	2017					
	Act to Prevent and Suppress Torture and Enforced Disappearance	2022					
/iet Nam	Constitution of 2013	2013					
	Child Law	2016					
	Law on Prevention and Suppression of Human Trafficking	2011					
	Civil Code	2015					
	Civil Procedure Code	2015					
	Decree on Electronic Civil Status Database and Online Civil Registration	2020					
	Domestic Violence Prevention and Control Law	2007					
	Law on Vietnamese Nationality	2008					
	Law on Handling of Administrative Violations	2012					
	Law on Amendments and Supplements to Certain Articles on Handling of Administrative Violations						
	Criminal Code	2015					
	Law on Amendments to the Criminal Code	2017					
	Youth Law	2020					
	Law on Entry and Exit of Vietnamese Citizens	2019					

Law on Entry, Exit, Transit, and Residence of Foreigners in Viet Nam	2014
Amendments to Law on Entry, Exit, Transit and Residence of Foreigners in Viet Nam	2019
Decree on Administrative Penalties for Violations against Regulations on Social Safety, Security, Order; Social Evils, Fire	2021
Prevention and Firefighting; Rescue; Domestic Violence Prevention and Control	
Law on Civil Status	2014
Decree on Guidelines for Law on Civil Status	2015

# Annex 3: Status of Ratification of Key International Treaties by ASEAN Member States

Instrument	Brunei	Cambodia	Indonesia	Lao PDR	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Singapore	Thailand	Viet Nam
CRC <sup>691</sup>	27 Dec 1995 (a) with reservations <sup>i</sup>	15 Oct 1992 (a) no reservation	5 Sep 1990. Reservation upon ratification withdrawn	8 May 1991 (a) no reservation	17 Feb 1995 (a) with reservations <sup>ii</sup> and declarations <sup>iii</sup>	15 Jul 1991 (a). Reservations made upon accession withdrawn	21 Aug 1990 no reservation	5 Oct 1995 (a) with declarations <sup>iv</sup> and reservations <sup>v</sup>	27 Mar 1992 (a) with reservations <sup>vi</sup>	28 Feb 1990 no reservations
OPSC <sup>692</sup>	21 Nov 2006 (a) no reservation	30 May 2002 no reservation	24 Sep 2012 no reservation	20 Sep 2006 (a) with reservation <sup>vii</sup>	12 Apr 2012 (a) with reservations <sup>viii</sup>	16 Jan 2012 (a) no reservations	28 May 2002 no reservations	Not signed	11 Jan 2006 (a) no reservations	20 Dec 2001. Reservation upon ratification withdrawn
OPAC <sup>693</sup>	17 May 2016 (a) with declaration	16 Jul 2004 with declaration	24 Sep 2012 with declaration	20 Sep 2006 (a) with declaration	12 Apr 2012 (a) with declaration	27 Sep 2019 with declarations <sup>ix</sup>	26 Aug 2003 with declaration	11 Dec 2008 with declaration	27 Feb 2006 (a) with declaration	20 Dec 2001 with declaration
CMW <sup>694</sup>	Not signed	Signed on 27 Sep 2004 but not ratified	31 May 2012 no reservation	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	5 Jul 1995 no reservation	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>691</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, Convention on the Rights of the Child', <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-</u> <u>11&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography', <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-11-c&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>693</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict', <www. https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-11-b&chapter=4&clang=\_en>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>694</sup> UN Treaty Collection, Chapter IV Human Rights, CMW, <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-13&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

Instrument	Brunei	Cambodia	Indonesia	Lao PDR	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Singapore	Thailand	Viet Nam
CEDAW <sup>695</sup>	24 May 2006 (a) with reservations <sup>x</sup>	15 Oct 1992 (a) with no reservation s	13 Sep 1984 with reservations <sup>xi</sup>	14 Aug 1981 with no reservations	5 Jul 1995 (a) with reservations <sup>xii</sup>	22 Jul 1997 (a) with reservations xiii	5 Aug 1981 with no reservation	5 Oct 1995 (a) with reservations <sup>xiv</sup>	9 Aug 1985 (a) with declarations <sup>xv</sup> and reservations <sup>xvi</sup>	17 Feb 1982 with reservations <sup>xvii</sup>
ICCPR <sup>696</sup>	Not signed	26 May 1992 (a) no reservation	23 Feb 2006 (a) with declaration relating to self- determination	25 Sep 2009 with declarations <sup>xviii</sup> and reservations <sub>xix</sub>	Not signed	Not signed	23 Oct 1986 with declaration accepting inter-state complaints	Not signed	29 Oct 1996 (a) with interpretative declarations on "self- determination" (Art 1) and "war" (Art 20)	24 Sep 1982 (a) with declaration <sup>xx</sup>
ICESCR <sup>697</sup>	Not signed	26 May 1992 (a) no reservation	23 Feb 2006 (a) with relating to self- determination	13 Feb 2007 no reservations	Not signed	6 Oct 2017 with declaration <sup>xxi</sup>	7 Jun 1974 no reservations	Not signed	5 Sep 1999 (a) with declaration <sup>xxii</sup>	24 Sep 1982 (a) with declaration <sup>xxiii</sup>
ICERD <sup>698</sup>	Not signed	28 Nov 1983 no reservation	25 Jun 1999 (a) with reservation <sup>xxiv</sup>	22 Feb 1974 (a) no reservation	Not signed	Not signed	15 Sep 1967 no reservation	27 Nov 2017 with reservations and declarations <sup>xxv</sup>	28 Jan 2003 (a) with interpretative declaration and reservation <sup>xxvi</sup>	9 Jun 1982 (a) with declaration <sup>xxvii</sup> and reservation <sup>xxviii</sup>
CAT	Signed 22 Sep 2015 but not ratified	15 Oct 1992 (a) no	28 Oct 1998 with declaration <sup>xxix</sup>	26 Sep 2012 with reservations	Not signed	Not signed	18 Jun 1986 (a) no reservation	Not signed	2 Oct 2007 (a) with interpretative	5 Feb 2015 with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>695</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, CEDAW', <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-8&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>696</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, ICCPR', <www.<u>treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-4&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>697</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, ICESCR', <www.<u>treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-3&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, ICERD', <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-2&chapter=4&clang=\_en</u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

Instrument	Brunei	Cambodia	Indonesia	Lao PDR	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Singapore	Thailand	Viet Nam
		reservation s	and reservation <sup>xxx</sup>	regarding jurisdiction of CAT and referral of disputes to ICJ and declarations xxxi					declarations <sup>xxxiii</sup> and reservation <sup>xxxiii</sup>	declarations xxxiv
ICRPD <sup>699</sup>	11 Apr 2016 with reservation	20 Dec 2012 no reservation	30 Nov 2011 no reservation	25 Sep 2009 no reservation	19 Jul 2010 with declarations xxxvi and reservations xxxvii	7 Dec 2011 (a) no reservation	15 Apr 2008 no reservation	18 Jul 2013 with reservations xxxviii	29 Jul 2008 reservatio n made upon ratification withdrawn	5 Feb 2015 no reservation
Palermo Protocol	30 Mar 2020 (a) no reservations	2 Jul 2007 no reservation s	28 Sep 2009 with declarations <sup>xxxix</sup> and reservations <sup>xi</sup>	26 Sep 2003 (a) with reservation <sup>xli</sup>	26 Feb 2009 (a) with reservation <sup>xlii</sup>	30 Mar 2004 (a) with reservation	28 May 2002 no reservation	28 Sep 2015 (a) with declaration <sup>xliv</sup> and reservation <sup>xlv</sup>	17 Oct 2013 with reservation <sup>xlvi</sup>	8 Jun 2012 (a) with reservation <sup>xIvii</sup>
ILO Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention (No. 182)	9 Jun 2008	14 Mar 2006	28 Mar 2000	13 Jun 2005	10 Nov 2000	18 Dec 2013	28 Nov 2000	14 Jun 2001	16 Feb 2001	19 Dec 2000
ILO Minimum Age Convention (No. 138)	17 Jun 2011 Minimum age specified: 16 yrs	23 Aug 1999 Minimum age specified: 14 yrs	07 Jun 1999 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs	13 Jun 2005 Minimum age specified: 14 yrs	09 Sep 1997 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs	Enters into force on 8 Jun 2021. Scope of Convention is limited to industry or to economic activities in	04 Jun 1998 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs	07 Nov 2005 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs	11 May 2004 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs Convention only applicable to activities in Article 5(3)	24 Jun 2003 Minimum age specified: 15 yrs. Per Article 3, minimum age for admission to underground work is 18 yrs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter IV Human Rights, ICRPD', < <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=IV-15&chapter=4&clang=\_en></u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

Instrument	Brunei	Cambodia	Indonesia	Lao PDR	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Singapore	Thailand	Viet Nam
						Article 5(3) <sup>700</sup> Minimum age specified: 14 yrs				
Slavery Convention 1926 amended by Protocol 1953 <sup>701</sup>	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Signed on 29 Apr 1957 but not ratified	12 Jul 1955 (a) no reservation	Not signed	Not signed	14 Aug 1956 a no reservation
Supplementar y Convention on Abolition of Slavery <sup>702</sup>	Not signed	12 Jun 1957 (a) no reservation	Not signed	9 Sep 1957 (a) no reservation	18 Nov 1957 (a) no reservation	Not signed	17 Nov 1964 (a) no reservation	28 Mar 1972 (succession) no reservation	Not signed	Had been signed on behalf of Viet Nam on 7 Sept 1956 but Viet Nam is not party to this
Refugee Convention 1951	Not signed	15 Oct 1992 (a) no reservation s	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	22 Jul 1981 (a) no reservations	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed
Refugee Status Protocol 1967	Not signed	15 Oct 1992 (a) no reservation s	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	22 Jul 1981 (a) no reservations	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup> i.e. mining and quarrying; manufacturing; construction; electricity, gas and water; sanitary services; transport, storage and communication; and plantations and other agricultural undertakings mainly producing for commercial purposes, but excluding family and small-scale holdings producing for local consumption and not regularly employing hired workers. For more details, see ILO, 'Ratifications for Myanmar',<<a href="https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200">www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200</a> COUNTRY ID:103159>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>701</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter XVIII Penal Matters, Slavery Convention, signed at Geneva on 25 September 1926 and amended by the Protocol', <<u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=XVIII-2&chapter=18&clang=\_en</u>>, accessed 21 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup> UN Treaty Collection, 'Chapter XVIII Penal Matters, Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slave Trade, and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery', < <u>www.treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetailsIII.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg\_no=XVIII-4&chapter=18&Temp=mtdsg3&clang=\_en></u>, accessed 21 February 2021.

Instrument	Brunei	Cambodia	Indonesia	Lao PDR	Malaysia	Myanmar	Philippines	Singapore	Thailand	Viet Nam
Statelessness	Not signed	22 Sep 2011	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed					
Convention			Ē				with			
1954							reservations			
							<sup>xlviii</sup> upon			
							signature			
							U			
Convention	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed	Not signed						
on Reduction			Ē							
of										
Statelessness										
1961										

## Annex 4: Key Regional Instruments

ASEAN Declaration <sup>xlix</sup>	Adopted by the heads of the ASEAN Member States on 2 November 2019.
AHRD <sup>703</sup>	Adopted by the heads of the ASEAN Member States via the Phnom Penh Statement on the Adoption of the ASEAN Human Rights Declaration on 18 November
	2012.
ASEAN Consensus on	Adopted by the Governments of the ASEAN Member States on 14 November 2017.
Migrant Workers <sup>704</sup>	
ASEAN Declaration on	Adopted by heads of ASEAN Member States on 9 October 2013.
Elimination of VAW and	
VAC <sup>705</sup>	
ASEAN Convention against	Adopted by heads of ASEAN Member States on 21 November 2015.
Trafficking <sup>706</sup>	

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>703</sup> ASEAN, 'ASEAN Human Rights Declaration', 18<sup>th</sup> November 2012,< <u>www.asean.org/storage/images/ASEAN\_RTK\_2014/6\_AHRD\_Booklet.pdf></u>, accessed 17 February 2021.
 <sup>704</sup> ASEAN, 'ASEAN Consensus on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Migrant Workers' 14<sup>th</sup> November 2017,< <u>www.asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ASEAN-Consensus-on-the-Protection-and-Promotion-of-the-Rights-of-Migrant-Workers1.pdf>, accessed 17 February 2021.
</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>705</sup> ASEAN, 'The Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women and Elimination of Violence against Children in ASEAN', 9<sup>th</sup> October 2012< www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Women/WG/ASEANdeclarationVaW violenceagainstchildren.pdf>, accessed 17 February 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup> ASEAN, 'ASEAN Convention against Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children' 21<sup>st</sup> November 2015,< <u>www.asean.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2015/12/ACTIP.pdf></u>, accessed 17 February 2021.

v<sup>i</sup> "The application of articles 22 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child shall be subject to the national laws, regulations and prevailing practices in Thailand."

vii "The Lao People's Democratic Republic [...] does not consider itself bound by Article 5 (2) of the said Optional Protocol."

viii "1. The Government of Malaysia declares that the words 'any representation' in article 2 paragraph (c), shall be interpreted to mean 'any visual representation'. 2. The Government of Malaysia understands that article 3 paragraph (1)(a)(ii) of the said Optional Protocol is applicable only to States Parties to the Convention on Protection of Children and Co-operation in Respect of Intercountry Adoption, done at the Hague on 29 May 1993."

<sup>ix</sup> "With reference to Article 3 (2) of the Optional Protocol, the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar declares that citizens may freely present themselves for voluntary military service provided they have attained a minimum age of 18 years, whereas citizens above 16 and under 18 years of age may voluntarily join military

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> "The Government of Brunei Darussalam expresses its reservations on the provisions of the said Convention which may be contrary to the Constitution of Brunei Darussalam and to the beliefs and principles of Islam, the State religion, and without prejudice to the generality of the said reservations, in particular expresses its reservations on Article 14, Article 20 paragraph 3, and Article 21 subparagraphs b, c, d and e of the Convention."

<sup>&</sup>quot; "The Government of Malaysia accepts the provisions of the Convention on the Rights of the Child but expresses reservations with respect to articles 2, 7, 14, 28 paragraph 1 (a) and 37, of the Convention and declares that the said provisions shall be applicable only if they are in conformity with the Constitution, national laws and national policies of the Government of Malaysia."

<sup>&</sup>quot;" "With respect to article 28 paragraph 1 (a) of the Convention, the Government of Malaysia wishes to declare that with the amendment to the Education Act 1996 in the year 2002, primary education in Malaysia is made compulsory. In addition, the Government of Malaysia provides monetary aids and other forms of assistance to those who are eligible."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> "(1) The Republic of Singapore considers that a child's rights as defined in the Convention, in particular the rights defined in article 12 to 17, shall in accordance with articles 3 and 5 be exercised with respect for the authority of parents, schools and other persons who are entrusted with the care of the child and in the best interests of the child and in accordance with the customs, values and religions of Singapore's multi-racial and multi-religious society regarding the place of the child within and outside the family. (2) The Republic of Singapore considers that articles 19 and 37 of the Convention do not prohibit - (a) the application of any prevailing measures prescribed by law for maintaining law and order in the Republic of Singapore; (b) measures and restrictions which are prescribed by law and which are necessary in the interests of national security, public safety, public order, the protection of public health or the protection of the rights and freedoms of others; or (c) the judicious application of corporal punishment in the best interest of the child.

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;(3) The Constitution and the laws of the Republic of Singapore provide adequate protection and fundamental rights and liberties in the best interests of the child. The accession to the Convention by the Republic of Singapore does not imply the acceptance of obligations going beyond the limits prescribed by the Constitution of the Republic of Singapore nor the acceptance of any obligation to introduce any right beyond those prescribed under the Constitution. (4) Singapore is geographically one of the smallest independent countries in the world and one of the most densely populated. The Republic of Singapore accordingly reserves the right to apply such legislation and conditions concerning the entry into, stay in and departure from the Republic of Singapore of those who do not or who no longer have the right under the laws of the Republic of Singapore, to enter and remain in the Republic of Singapore, and to the acquisition and possession of citizenship, as it may deem necessary from time to time and in accordance with the laws of the Republic of Singapore. (5) The employment legislation of the Republic of Singapore prohibits the employment of children below 12 years old and gives special protection to working children between the ages of 12 years and below the age of 16 years. The Republic of Singapore reserves the right to apply article 32 subject to such employment legislation. (6) With respect to article 28.1(a), the Republic of Singapore- (a) does not consider itself bound by the requirement to make primary education compulsory because such a measure is unnecessary in our social context where in practice virtually all children attend primary school; and (b) reserves the right to provide primary education free only to children who are citizens of Singapore."

academies and military vocational training courses, if furnished with the proof of their age and the prior written consent of their parents or guardians." *Interpretative declaration:* "With reference to Article 4 of the Optional Protocol, the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar considers that any responsibility deriving from recruitment of children under 18 years of age or their use in hostilities by non-state armed groups lies solely with such groups. In the prevention of underage military recruitment, the Government would collaborate with the ethnic armed groups which have signed the NCA (Nationwide Ceasefire Agreement). The latter shall also have a duty to apply at all times the principles governing international humanitarian law."

\* "The Government of Brunei Darussalam expresses its reservations regarding those provisions of the said Convention that may be contrary to the Constitution of Brunei Darussalam and to the beliefs and principles of Islam, the official religion of Brunei Darussalam and, without prejudice to the generality of the said reservations, expresses its reservations regarding paragraph 2 of Article 9 and paragraph 1 of Article 29 of the Convention."

x<sup>i</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Indonesia does not consider itself bound by the provisions of article 29, paragraph 1 of this Convention and takes the position that any dispute relating to the interpretation or application of the Convention may only be submitted to arbitration or to the International Court of Justice with the agreement of all the parties to the dispute."

x<sup>ii</sup> "The Government of Malaysia declares that Malaysia's accession is subject to the understanding that the provisions of the Convention do not conflict with the provisions of the Islamic Sharia' law and the Federal Constitution of Malaysia. With regard thereto, further, the Government of Malaysia does not consider itself bound by the provisions of articles 9 (2), 16 (1) (a), 16 (1) (c), 16 (1) (g) of the aforesaid Convention. In relation to article 11 of the Convention, Malaysia interprets the provisions of this article as a reference to the prohibition of discrimination on the basis of equality between men and women only."

xiii "Article 29: [The Government of Myanmar] does not consider itself bound by the provision set forth in the said article."

xiv "(1) In the context of Singapore's multiracial and multi-religious society and the need to respect the freedom of minorities to practice their religious and personal laws, the Republic of Singapore reserves the right not to apply the provisions of articles 2, paragraphs (a) to (f), and article 16, paragraphs 1(a), 1(c), 1(h), and article 16, paragraph 2, where compliance with these provisions would be contrary to their religious or personal laws. (2) [...] (3) [...] Singapore considers that legislation in respect of article 11 is unnecessary for the minority of women who do not fall within the ambit of Singapore's employment legislation. (4) The Republic of Singapore declares, in pursuance of article 29, paragraph 2 of the Convention that it will not be bound by the provisions of article 29, paragraph 1."

<sup>xv</sup> "The Royal Thai Government wishes to express its understanding that the purposes of the Convention are to eliminate discrimination against women and to accord to every person, men and women alike, equality before the law, and are in accordance with the principles prescribed by the Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand."

<sup>xvi</sup> "The Royal Thai Government does not consider itself bound by the provisions of article 29, paragraph 1, of the Convention."

xvii "In implementing this Convention, the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam will not be bound by the provisions of paragraph 1 article 29."

<sup>xviii</sup> "The Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic declares that Article 1 of the Covenant concerning the right to self-determination shall be interpreted as being compatible with the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Cooperation Among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, adopted by the General Assembly on 24th October 1970, and the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights on 25th June 1993. The Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic declares that Article 18 of the Covenant shall not be construed as authorizing or encouraging any activities, including economic means, by anyone which directly or indirectly, coerce or compel an individual to believe or not to believe in a religion or to convert his or her religion or belief. The Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic considers that all acts creating division and discrimination among ethnic groups and among religions are incompatible with Article 18 of the Covenant."

xix "The Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic accepts Article 22 of the Covenant on the basis that Article 22 shall be interpreted in accordance with the right to self-determination in Article 1, and shall be so applied as to be in conformity with the Constitution and the relevant laws of the Lao People's Democratic Republic." \*\* "That the provisions of article 48, paragraph 1, of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and article 26, paragraph 1, of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, under which a number of States are deprived of the opportunity to become parties to the Covenants, are of a discriminatory nature. The Government of the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam considers that the Covenants, in accordance with the principle of sovereign equality of States, should be open for participation by all States without any discrimination or limitation." <sup>xxi</sup> "With reference to article 1 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Government of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar declares that, in consistence with the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action of 1993, the term "the right of self-determination" appearing in this article does not apply to any section of people within a sovereign independent state and cannot be construed as authorizing or encouraging any action which would dismember or impair, totally or in part, the territorial integrity or political unity of a sovereign and independent state. In addition, the term shall not be applied to undermine Section 10 of the Constitution of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar, 2008."

<sup>xxii</sup> " "The Government of the Kingdom of Thailand declares that the term "self-determination" as appears in Article 1 Paragraph 1 of the Covenant shall be interpreted as being compatible with that expressed in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights on 25 June 1993."
 <sup>xxiii</sup> "That the provisions of article 48, paragraph 1, of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and article 26, paragraph 1, of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, under which a number of States are deprived of the opportunity to become parties to the Covenants, are of a discriminatory nature.

The Government of the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam considers that the Covenants, in accordance with the principle of sovereign equality of States, should be open for participation by all States without any discrimination or limitation."

<sup>xxiv</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Indonesia does not consider itself bound by the provision of Article 22 and takes the position that disputes relating to the interpretation and application of the [Convention] which cannot be settled through the channel provided for in the said article, may be referred to the International Court of Justice only with the consent of all the parties to the dispute."

<sup>xwv</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Singapore makes the following reservations and declarations in relation to articles 2, 6 and 22 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (hereinafter referred to as the "Convention") adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations in New York on the 21st day of December 1965 and signed on behalf of the Republic of Singapore today: (1) The Republic of Singapore reserves the right to apply its policies concerning the admission and regulation of foreign work pass holders, with a view to promoting integration and maintaining cohesion within its racially diverse society. (2) The Republic of Singapore understands that the obligation imposed by Article 2, paragraph 1 (d) of the Convention may be implemented by means other than legislation if such means are appropriate, and if legislation is not required by circumstances. (3) The Republic of Singapore interprets the requirement in Article 6 of the Convention concerning "reparation or satisfaction" as being fulfilled if one or other of these forms of redress is made available and interprets "satisfaction" as including any form of redress effective to bring the discriminatory conduct to an end. (4) With reference to Article 22 of the Convention, the Republic of Singapore states that before any dispute to which the Republic of Singapore is a party may be submitted to the jurisdiction of the International Court of Justice under this Article, the specific consent of the Republic of Singapore is required in each case."

<sup>xxvi</sup> "General Interpretative Declaration: The Kingdom of Thailand does not interpret and apply the provisions of this Convention as imposing upon the Kingdom of Thailand any obligation beyond the confines of the Constitution and the laws of the Kingdom of Thailand. In addition, such interpretation and application shall be limited to or consistent with the obligations under other international human rights instruments to which the Kingdom of Thailand is party. Reservations: 1. The Kingdom of Thailand does not consider itself bound by the provisions of Article 22 of the Convention."

<sup>xxvii</sup> "(1) The Government of the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam declares that the provisions of article 17 (1) and of article 18 (1) of the Convention whereby a number of States are deprived of the opportunity of becoming Parties to the said Convention are of a discriminatory nature and it considers that, in accordance with the principle of the sovereign equality of States, the Convention should be open to participation by all States without discrimination or restriction of any kind."

xxviii "(2) The Government of the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam does not consider itself bound by the provisions of article 22 of the Convention and holds that, for any dispute with regard to the interpretation or application of the Convention to be brought before the International Court of Justice, the consent of all parties to the dispute is necessary."

<sup>xxix</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Indonesia declares that the provisions of paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 of article 20 of the Convention will have to be implemented in strict compliance with the principles of the sovereignty and territorial integrity of States."

<sup>xxx</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Indonesia does not consider itself bound by the provision of article 30, paragraph 1, and takes the position that disputes relating to the interpretation and application of the Convention which cannot be settled through the channel provided for in paragraph 1 of the said article, may be referred to the International Court of Justice only with the consent of all parties to the disputes."

<sup>xxxi</sup> "It is the understanding of the Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic that the term 'torture' in Article 1, paragraph 1, of the Convention means torture as defined in both national law and international law. The Government of the Lao People's Democratic Republic declares that, pursuant to Article 8, paragraph 2 of the Convention it makes extradition conditional on the existence of a treaty. Therefore, it does not consider the Convention as the legal basis for extradition in respect of the offences set forth therein. It further declares that bilateral agreements will be the basis for extradition as between the Lao People's Democratic Republic and other States Parties in respect of any offences."

<sup>xxxii</sup> "1. With respect to the term "torture" under Article 1 of the Convention, although there is neither a specific definition nor particular offence under the current Thai Penal Code corresponding to the term, there are comparable provisions under the aforesaid Thai Penal Code applicable to acts under Article 1 of the Convention. The term "torture" under Article 1 of the Convention shall accordingly be interpreted in conformity with the current Thai Penal Code. The Kingdom of Thailand shall revise its domestic law to be more consistent with Article 1 of the Convention at the earliest opportunity. 2. For the same reason as stipulated in the preceding paragraph, Article 4 of the Convention which stipulates: 'Each State Party shall ensure that all acts of torture are offences under its criminal law. The same shall apply to an attempt to commit torture and to an act by any person which constitutes complicity or participation in torture,' shall be interpreted in conformity with the current Thai Penal Code. The Kingdom of Thailand shall revise its domestic law to be more consistent with Article 4 of the Convention at the earliest opportunity. 3. Article 5 of the Convention which provides: 'Each State Party shall take such measures as may be necessary to establish its jurisdiction over the offences referred to in Article 4....." is interpreted by the Kingdom of Thailand to mean that the jurisdiction referred to in Article 5 shall be established in accordance with the current Thai Penal Code. The Kingdom of Thailand shall revise its domestic law to be more consistent with Article 5 of the Convention at the earliest opportunity."

xxxiii "The Kingdom of Thailand does not consider itself bound by Article 30, paragraph 1, of the Convention."

<sup>xxxiv</sup> "The Socialist Republic of Viet Nam declares, in accordance with article 28 paragraph 1, that it does not recognize the competence of the Committee provided for in article 20, and in accordance with article 30, paragraph 2, that it does not consider itself bound by article 30, paragraph 1. The Socialist Republic of Viet Nam does not consider the Convention as the direct legal basis for extradition in respect of the offences referred to in Article 4 of the Convention. Extradition shall be decided on the basis of extradition treaties to which Viet Nam is a party or the principle of reciprocity, and shall be in accordance with Vietnamese laws and regulations."

<sup>xxxv</sup> "The Government of Brunei Darussalam expresses its reservation regarding those provisions of the said Convention that may be contrary to the Constitution of Brunei Darussalam and to the beliefs and principles of Islam, the official religion of Brunei Darussalam."

<sup>xoxvi</sup> "Malaysia acknowledges that the principles of non-discrimination and equality of opportunity as provided in articles 3 (b), 3 (e) and 5 (2) of the said Convention are vital in ensuring full and equal enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms by all persons with disabilities, and to promote respect for their inherent dignity, which shall be applied and interpreted on the basis of disability and on equal basis with others. Malaysia declares that its application and interpretation of the Federal Constitution of Malaysia pertaining to the principles of non-discrimination and equality of opportunity shall not be treated as contravening articles 3 (b), 3 (e) and 5 (2) of the said Convention. Malaysia recognizes the participation of persons with disabilities in cultural life, recreation and leisure as provided in article 30 of the said Convention and interprets that the recognition is a matter for national legislation."

<sup>xxxvii</sup> "The Government of Malaysia ratifies the said Convention subject to the reservation that it does not consider itself bound by articles 15 and 18 of the said Convention."

xxxviii "1. The Republic of Singapore's current legislative framework provides, as an appropriate and effective safeguard, oversight and supervision by competent, independent and impartial authorities or judicial bodies of measures relating to the exercise of legal capacity, upon applications made before them or which they initiate themselves in appropriate cases. The Republic of Singapore reserves the right to continue to apply its current legislative framework in lieu of the regular review referred to in Article 12, paragraph 4 of the Convention. 2. The Republic of Singapore recognises that persons with disabilities have the right to enjoyment of the highest attainable standards of health without discrimination on the basis of disability, with a reservation on the provision by private insurers of health insurance, and life insurance, other than national health insurance regulated by the Ministry of Health, Singapore, in Article 25, paragraph (e) of the Convention. 3. The Republic of Singapore is fully

committed to ensuring the effective and full participation of persons with disabilities in political and public life, including through the protection of the exercise of their right to vote by secret ballot in elections and public referendums without intimidation. With respect to Article 29, subparagraph (a) (iii) of the Convention, the Republic of Singapore reserves the right to continue to apply its current electoral legislation which requires that assistance in voting procedures shall only be effected through a presiding officer who is appointed by the Returning Officer and has signed an oath to safeguard voting secrecy."

xxxix "..., the Government of the Republic of Indonesia declares that the provisions of Article 5 paragraph (2) Sub-paragraph c of the Protocol will have to be implemented in strict compliance with the principle of the sovereignty and territorial integrity of a state."

x<sup>1</sup> "....the Government of the Republic of Indonesia conveys her reservation not to be bound by the provision of Article 15 (2) and takes the position that dispute[s] relating to the interpretation and application on the Protocol which have not been settled through the channel provided for in Paragraph (1) of the said Article, may be referred to the International Court of Justice only with the concern of all Parties to the dispute."

x<sup>li</sup> "In accordance with paragraph 3, Article 15 of the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, the Lao People's Democratic Republic does not consider itself bound by paragraph 2, Article 15 of the present Protocol. The Lao People's Democratic Republic declares that to refer a dispute relating to interpretation and application of the present Protocol to arbitration or [the] International Court of Justice, the agreement of all parties concerned in the dispute is necessary."

x<sup>lii</sup> "1. (a) Pursuant to Article 15, paragraph 3 of the Protocol, the Government of Malaysia declares that it does not consider itself bound by Article 15, paragraph 2 of the Protocol; and (b) the Government of Malaysia reserves the right specifically to agree in a particular case to follow the arbitration procedure set forth in Article 15, paragraph 2 of the Protocol or any other procedure for arbitration."

x<sup>liii</sup> "The Government of the Union of Myanmar wishes to express reservation on Article 15 and does not consider itself bound by obligations to refer disputes relating to the interpretation or application of this Protocol to the International Court of Justice."

x<sup>liv</sup> "The Government of the Republic of Singapore declares that nothing in the Protocol shall impose obligations on Singapore to admit or retain within its territory, persons in respect of whom Singapore would not otherwise have an obligation to admit or retain within its territory."

x<sup>lv</sup> "Pursuant to Article 15, paragraph 3 of the above-mentioned Protocol, the Government of the Republic of Singapore does not consider itself bound by Article 15, paragraph 2 of the said Protocol."

xivi "[I]n accordance with paragraph 3 of Article 15 of the Protocol, the Kingdom of Thailand does not consider itself bound by paragraph 2 of the same Article."

xlvii 'The Socialist Republic of Viet Nam does not consider itself bound by paragraph 2 of Article 15 of this Protocol.'

x<sup>i</sup>viii</sup> (a) As regards Article 17, paragraph 1, granting stateless persons the right to engage in wage-earning employment, [the Government of the Philippines] finds that this provision conflicts with the Philippine Immigration Act of 1940, as amended, which classifies as excludable aliens under Section 29 those coming to the Philippines to perform unskilled labour, and permits the admission of pre-arranged employees under Section 9 (g) only when there are no persons in the Philippines willing and competent to perform the labour or service for which the admission of aliens is desired. (b) As regards Article 31, paragraph 1, to the effect that `the Contracting States shall not expel a stateless person lawfully in their territory, save on grounds of national security or public order', this provision would unduly restrict the power of the Philippine Government to deport undesirable aliens under Section 37 of the same Immigration Act which states the various grounds upon which aliens may be deported. Upon signing the Convention [the Philippine Government], therefore hereby [registers] its non-conformity to the provisions of Article 17, paragraph 1, and Article 31, paragraph 1, thereof, for the reasons stated in (a) and (b) above.

x<sup>lix</sup> ASEAN, ASEAN Declaration on the Rights of Children in the Context of Migration, 2 November 2019, <<u>www.asean.org/storage/2019/11/4-ASEAN-Declaration-on-the-</u> <u>Rights-of-Children-in-the-Context-of-Migration.pdf</u>>, accessed 17 February 2021.